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CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MEEE

Notes 2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
Mz Z—EZHEE C“EIQmE “E°= “E-"F T &
Revenue (Hk$ 000) W (FE7)
a. Construction aEE 13,721 77,648 (88,954) 395,521 1,133,711
b. Property leasing bYERE 281,976 276,531 243,072 200,687 164,674
¢. Property development CHEERE 850,058 178,512 4,850,442 221,659 194,000
1,145,755 532,691 5,004,560 817,867 1,492,385
(Loss)/profit from operations &% (F548) /%F
(HK$000) (F#71) (169,460) 435,798 1,634,272 85,579 249,466
Operating (l0ss)/profit excluding MEREEMERTER
change in fair value of BgE (58 /
investment properties bkl (48,763) 51,635 1,658,144 (7.135) 248,077
Change in fair value of investment B EBYE A TEEH
properties (120,697) 384,163 (23,872) 92,714 1,389
Underlying (loss)/profit (#k$000) EH#: (F38) /&% (FE7) () (171,358) (85713 1,299,332 (75,167) 147,646
Dividends (+k$000) BE (FE7T) - 56,809 653,105 397,472 113,564
Current ratio TRENEL 0.32 1.18 2.12 0.63 0.84
Gearing ratio BXaELER (i) 213.6% 199.0% 155.3% 230.9% 161.6%
Net gearing ratio FEXEGLEE (i 206.9% 179.8% 134.8% 198.1% 116.4%
Return on equity ek (10.7%) 10.1% 42.8% 0.8% 6.0%
Notes: izt -
(i)  Underlying (loss)/profit is arrived at by excluding the effect of changes in () &5 (B18) &#F R EREF MG LBy E
fair value of investment properties from profit for the year ZAFEEE
(i) ~ Gearing ratio represents total interest-bearing borrowings divided by (i) éfl'&%f*tti?b“ R EMBRUR R R Bk
10

shareholders’ equity and multiplied by 100%

(i) Net gearing ratio represents total interest-bearing borrowings less cash
and bank balances and restricted and pledged deposits divided by

shareholders’ equity and multiplied by 100%

(iif)

>\

0%

FEABRLERENRREERBTE

R R

REI R ERFER @ BERFURRE D
B FELL100%
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

B E

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
“ECRfF BN —BI=HF “BI-F BE-—F
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET
RESULTS EF
For the year ended 31 March HEZF=+—HILFE
Revenue Wi 1,145,755 532,691 5,004,560 817,867 1,492,385
(Loss)/profit before taxation B (8518 /aA (266,271) 313,131 1,529,180 26,733 187,904
(Loss)/profit for the year R (5H8) /5 (292,055) 298,450 1,275,460 17,547 149,035
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERERE
ASs at 31 March R=EA=+—H
Total assets BEE 9,096,335 9,386,245 8,150,242 10,673,730 9,840,259
Total liabilities memd 6,375,509 6433239 5168409 8548181 7,362,721
Total equity Bk m 2,720,826 2,953,006 2,981,833 2,125,549 2,477,538

EREEZERERAT 2024/255 8 5



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
FEHRS

Chan Hung Ming
R FLEA
\ / ' Chairman
M E

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Grand Ming Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am delighted
to present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2025 (“FY
2024/25").

RESULTS

For FY 2024/25, the Group recorded a net loss of HK$292.1 million, as
compared to a net profit of HK$298.5 million for the year ended 31
March 2024 (“FY 2023/24"). The turnaround from net profit to net loss
was attributable to recognition of (i) impairment loss on the property
under development, completed properties held for sale and properties
held for own use, due to current unfavourable property market in Hong
Kong, and (i) a net unrealised fair loss on the investment properties and
investment properties under development.

DIVIDENDS

A final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023 of 5.0 HK cents per
share and a special dividend of 15.0 HK cents per share were paid to the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) on 18 September
2023. An interim dividend for the six months ended 30 September 2023
of 4.0 HK cents per share was paid to Shareholders on 20 December
2023.

No dividend was paid during FY 2024/25.

In view of challenging market conditions, the Board does not
recommend payment of a final dividend for FY 2024/25.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)
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REVIEW OF OPERATION

Property Development — Hong Kong

The Grand Marine (100% owned)

This residential development project, located at No. 18 Sai Shan Road,
Tsing Yi, the New Territories, was completed in March 2022 and offered
776 units with a total gross floor area of approximately 400,000 square
feet. Market response to this project was overwhelming with all typical
units being sold and only a few special units remain available for sale.
During the year under review, around 6% (in terms of units) of the total
units were handed over to buyers, with the related revenue recognised
in FY 2024/25.

The Grands (100% owned)

This residential-cum-commercial project is located at No. 45 Pau Chung
Street, To Kwa Wan, Kowloon in close proximity to MTR To Kwa Wan
station. It provides 76 residential units with commercial shops on the
ground and first floor covering a total gross floor area of approximately
31,000 square feet. The development of this project was completed in
June 2023 and it was well received with all the residential units being
sold. During the year under review, around 30% (in terms of units) of the
residential units were handed over to the buyers with related revenue
recognised in FY 2024/25.

Fanling project (100% owned)

This site, situated at No. 1 Luen Fat Street, Fanling, the New Territories,
has a total gross floor area of approximately 36,000 square feet and is
developing into a 17-storey residential-cum-commercial tower with two-
level underground car park. The land exchange procedure for the site
was completed in December 2024 and the related land premium was
fully settled. Superstructure works had been completed and internal
fitting-out works are well underway with target completion in the third
quarter of 2025. Application for pre-sale consent had been made for this
project.

North Point project (100% owned)

This project comprises two sites located at No. 66 Fort Street and No.
57 Kin Wah Street, North Point, Hong Kong with an aggregate gross floor
area of approximately 30,000 square feet. The site at No. 57 Kin Wah
Street will be developed into a 27-storey residential tower, whilst the site
at No. 66 Fort Street will be developed into a single-storey commercial
shop. Foundation works are in progress and the project is expected to
be completed in or around the second half of 2027.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)

FEHS @

cristallo (100% owned)

This luxury residential project, at No. 279 Prince’s Road West, Kowloon,
was well received in the market. Cumulatively 15 units out of the total
18 units had been sold. During the year under review, sales of a car
parking space was recognised. Besides, one apartment was sold in
November 2024 and completion of the sales is scheduled to take place
in November 2025.

Property Development — Mainland China

The Group's wholly-owned development project in the Mainland China
is located at the southwest side of the intersection of Fubo Avenue
and Siyuan North Road, Guangxi-ASEAN Economic and Technological
Development Zone, Wuming District, Nanning City, Guangxi Province with
a site area and gross floor area of approximately 574,000 square feet
1,435,000 square feet respectively. It will develop into a luxury residential
project under the theme of leisure and healthy lifestyle, comprising high-
rise apartments and villas complemented by commercial facilities and a
wellness centre facility. Target customers will be the elderly and retirees
and their families. Superstructure works of the high-rise apartments and
basement construction works for the remaining part of the site are now
underway. The development is expected to be completed in or around
the second half of 2026.

Data Centre Premises Leasing

The Group currently owns two data centres, namely iTech Tower 1
and iTech Tower 2. Revenue from their leasing businesses recorded an
increase of 2.0% year-on-year to HK$274.3 million.

Construction works of the two new data centres in Fanling, the New
Territories, namely iTech Tower 3.1 and iTech Tower 3.2, are progressing
well. For iTech Tower 3.1, installation of the electrical and mechanical
equipment and internal fitting-out works are now underway. This data
centre is now scheduled for phased delivery starting from the third
quarter of 2025. For iTech Tower 3.2, superstructure works are now
underway. This development is scheduled to be completed in phases
starting from mid-2026.

Construction

The Group's construction business consists of the provision of building
services as a main contractor in property development projects, as well
as the provision of existing building alterations, renovation and fitting-
out works services for prominent local developers, public institutions
and the Group’s companies. As at 31 March 2025, the Group held
contracts (inclusive of external customers and the Group’s companies)
with an aggregate value of approximately HK$2.05 billion.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)
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OUTLOOK

The Group is navigating a challenging financial landscape, in the face of
heightened economic uncertainty stemming from ongoing U.S.-China
trade tensions and geopolitical instability in the Middle East region. In
response, we have pursued a highly cautious approach to safeguard
our financial stability. We strive to generate sufficient working capital
from our businesses to sustain our daily operation and reduce overall
indebtedness at the same time. As such, we keep on promoting sales of
the remaining units of The Grand Marine and Cristallo and progressing
with the delivery of The Grands. In addition, we are in the process of
obtaining the approval and preparing the necessary documents for the
pre-sale of the Fanling residential project, and have initiated the related
sales and marketing activities.

On the other hand, we are actively evaluating and pursuing all viable
strategies to deleverage the Group's balance sheet, enhance its working
capital and reinforce long term financial stability. On 19 June 2025,
the Group received a non-binding letter of interest from a potential
purchaser in relation to potential acquisition of the entire interests in the
holding companies of iTech Towers 3.1 and 3.2. The potential purchaser
had already initiated due diligence review on the two target companies.
While this transaction is subject to further negotiation, due diligence, and
execution of a definitive agreement, and therefore its completion cannot
be guaranteed, the Directors believe that its successful materialisation
would provide net proceeds that would enhance the Group’s financial
position while reducing its overall indebtedness.

Operationally, our commitment to our customers remains unwavering.
We are working closely with our customers to ensure fulfillment of
delivery commitments for iTech Tower 3.1. Simultaneously, discussions
with potential customers for iTech Tower 3.2 leasing continue. For
our established iTech Towers 1 and 2, we maintain our steadfast
commitment to providing dependable services and support to our
customers, including ongoing maintenance and upgrades of all critical
infrastructure to ensure our facilities continue to meet evolving
technological advancements.

Our construction segment continues to focus on self-delivery of
construction projects to directly support our data centre leasing and
property development operations.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)
FRBE #AE

APPRECIATION g

I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to the Board ~ Zx A :ZEE L% @ > RORGHE S SAYEBEEE
for its brilliant leadership, to the Shareholders for their strong support, MRREMENSZF HEHALENEEEETH
and to the community for their enthusiastic help, and last but not least,  N#%% 130

to our staff for their dedicated efforts.

Chan Hung Ming FE
Chairman FRFLEA
Hong Kong, 30 June 2025 &8 _E_HEAA=1+H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEwmRA

FINANCIAL REVIEW

In FY 2024/25, the Group’s consolidated revenue amounted to
HK$1,145.8 million (FY 2023/24: HK$532.7 million), representing an
increase of 115.1% as compared to FY 2023/24. The consolidated
gross profit increased 97.4% to HK$332.7 million (FY 2023/24: HK$168.6
million). Both the increase of revenue and gross profit were mainly
attributable to the increase in sales of units of The Grand Marine and
The Grands which were completed and handed over to buyers during
the year under review. Yet the gross profit margin decreased from 31.6%
for FY 2023/24 t0 29.0% for FY 2024/25, which was due to impairment
losses on the property under development and completed properties
held for sale of HK$189.8 million recognised as the direct costs during
the year under the current unfavourable property market in Hong Kong.

Included in the “Other income and gains/(losses), net” was an
impairment loss on the properties held for own use of HK$45.4 million,
reflecting the current adverse market conditions in the commercial
property market.

Operating expenses (inclusive of selling and general and administrative
expenses) for the year increased by 182.5% to HK$347.6 million (FY
2023/24: HK$123.1 million), largely because of the property agency
commission incurred in relation to the sales of The Grand Marine and
The Grands.

An unrealised fair value loss on investment properties and investment
properties under development of HK$120.7 million (FY 2023/24: gain of
HK$384.2 million) was recognised in FY 2024/25. The change in fair value
was affected by the future rental income projection derived from the
existing tenancies.

Finance costs for the year decreased by 21.1% to HK$96.8 million (FY
2023/24: HK$122.7 million), primarily due to the increased capitalisation
of interests to the property development projects during the year.

The Group recorded a net loss of HK$292.1 million for FY 2024/25,
as compared to a net profit of HK$298.5 million for FY 2023/24. The
turnaround from a net profit to a net loss was mainly attributable to
recognition of (i) impairment losses (net of deferred tax) on the property
under development and completed properties held for sale of HK$180.7
million; (ii) impairment loss on property held for own use of HK$45.4
million; and (iii) fair value loss on investment properties and investment
properties under development of HK$120.7 million. Excluding the
change in fair value of investment properties, the Group recorded an
underlying loss of HK$171.4 million in FY 2024/25 (FY 2023/24: HK$85.7
million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

BB wmRA R (B)

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group finances its operations and capital expenditure with internally
generated cash flows and through bank borrowings. A variety of
credit facilities are maintained which had contracted repayment terms
ranging from repayable on demand to about 16.5 years. As at 31 March
2025, the Group had outstanding bank borrowings of approximately
HK$5,229 million (31 March 2024: approximately HK$5,841 million), all
of which were denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The decrease in the
bank borrowings was attributed to repayment of bank loans using the
proceeds from sales of the properties during the year.

Apart from bank borrowings, there was a loan advanced by Chan HM
Company Limited (the Company’s ultimate holding company) of HK$36.8
million as of 31 March 2025. This loan is unsecured, bears interest at the
best lending rate for Hong Kong dollars per annum from time to time as
quoted by HSBC, and due to mature in late December 2026.

During the year under review, the Company further obtained loans
from Mr. Chan Hung Ming (the chairman and executive Director, and
controlling shareholder of the Company) in an aggregate amount of
approximately HK$607.5 million. These loans are unsecured, bear
interest at a rate of 3% per annum and due to mature in April to May
2028. Such loan transactions constituted connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules but are fully exempted from
the reporting, announcement, and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements pursuant to the Listing Rules, because they are conducted
on normal commercial terms or better and are not secured by the
assets of the Group.

The aforesaid loans from the Company’s ultimate holding company
and controlling shareholder were used for supplementing the Group's
working capital and settling expenditure incurred in the ordinary course
of business.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group's gearing ratio (defined as total interest-
bearing borrowings divided by shareholders’ equity) was approximately
213.6% (31 March 2024: approximately 199.0%). The current ratio
(defined as current assets divided by current liabilities) was 0.32 times
(31 March 2024: 1.18 times).

The Group had cash and bank balances of approximately HK$180.2
million (31 March 2024: approximately HK$567.4 million). The cash and
bank balances were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.
Taking into account the cash generated from operating activities and
the available credit facilities from banks and controlling shareholder, the
Directors considered that the Group has sufficient working capital for its
liquidity requirement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

BEESwmRAN (&

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from bank borrowings,
which bear interest at floating rates. The Group had in place a treasury
policy by which the exposure to floating interest rate risk was mitigated
by the use of interest rate swaps. As at 31 March 2025, the Group had
outstanding interest rate swaps with notional amount of approximately
HK$1,520 million. These swaps have fixed interest rates ranging from
2.70% to 3.67% per annum and will mature between April 2025 and
August 2028.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Directors consider that the Group’s foreign currency risk is
insignificant as substantially all of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The Group has not implemented
any foreign currency hedging policy at the moment. However, the
management monitors the Group's foreign exchange exposure closely
and may consider adopting foreign currency hedging policy in the future
depending on the circumstances and the trend of foreign currency.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, certain assets of the Group with an aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HK$8,106 million were pledged to
secure bank loans of approximately HK$5,177 million granted to the
Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements,
there were no other significant events after the reporting period up to
the date of this report.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Save as disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had no other capital commitments as at 31 March 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

BEEmRA N (&

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31 March
2025 and 2024.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and
associated companies by the Company during FY 2024/25.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group had a total of 157 employees as at 31 March 2025. Total
remuneration of employees for FY 2024/25 was approximately HK$117.8
million. The remuneration policy and packages of the Group's employees
are periodically reviewed by making reference to the prevailing market
conditions. The components of remuneration packages consist of basic
salary, benefits-in-kind, fringe benefits and contributions to mandatory
provident funds, discretionary bonuses which are determined according
to individual performance of employees. The Group also put in place
share option scheme and share award plan for the purpose of retaining,
motivating and rewarding the employees.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Except for investments in subsidiaries, the Group did not hold any
significant investment in equity interest in any other company during FY
2024/25.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

As at the date of this annual report, the Group did not enter into any
agreement in respect of any proposed acquisitions and did not have any
future plans relating to material investment or capital assets.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFTHRS

The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY 2024/25.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the business of building
construction, property leasing and property development. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set
out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities during
FY 2024/25.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for FY 2024/25 are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 56 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
FY 2024/25.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board is not aware of any
Shareholders who have waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

It is the Company’s policy to reward Shareholders in sharing the
Company’s profit whilst retaining adequate capital for business
development. The Board may declare or propose payment of dividends
after taking into account a number of factors, including the results of
operations, financial conditions, working capital, capital requirement and
other factors the Board may deem relevant.

The Company currently, subject to the factors and considerations above,
pays dividends twice a year in the form of interim and final dividends.
Cash dividends will be paid in Hong Kong dollars. Other distributions,
if any, will be paid to Shareholders by any means which the Directors
deem legal, fair and practicable.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

EFTHRE &

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from 18 August 2025 to 21 August 2025, both
days inclusive, during which period no share transfer will be effected.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, all share transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, on 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 15 August 2025.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and the outlook
of the Group's business are provided in the Chairman’s Statement
section from pages 6 to 10 of this annual report. Description of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group can be found in
the Chairman’s Statement, including the financial risks mentioned in
the Management Discussion and Analysis section and note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements. Particulars of the events that have
occurred since the end of the reporting period are provided in note
37 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the Group's
performance during the year using financial key performance indicators
is provided in the Financial Highlights and Management Discussion and
Analysis sections of this annual report. All the above sections form part
of this report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

EFTHRE @A

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business partners
are the keys to the sustainable development of the Group. The Group is
committed to building close and caring relationships with its employees
and business partners, and improving the quality of services and
products to the customers.

Employees are regarded as the most vital and valuable assets of the
Group. The Group ensures that all staff are reasonably remunerated,
regular seminars on safety for specific types of work and activities and
safety induction training are provided for all employees as well as the
subcontractors’ employees.

The Group stays connected with its customers and has ongoing
communication with them through various channels such as physical
meetings, telephone and electronic mail communication to obtain their
feedback and suggestions.

The Group establishes long-term business relationships with the
subcontractors. Through the past dealings with the subcontractors,
the Group has acquired sufficient appreciation of their expertise and
strengths so that it would enable us to maintain our quality standards.

The Group also pays efforts to build up and maintain good relationships
with various commercial banks as the Group’s businesses are capital
intensive and require on-going funding to maintain continuous growth.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Company endeavours to protect the environment in which it
operates its business. The Group's construction and data centre leasing
segments have established environmental management systems which
was certified by Certification Asia (HK) Limited to be in compliance with
the requirements of 1ISO14001:2015.

During FY 2024/25, there was no material non-compliance in relation
to air pollution, noise control, disposal and emission of construction
wastes. Green office practices are also encouraged in the operation
of the Group's businesses, such as double-sided printing and copying,
setting up recycling bins, sending and presenting corporate documents
or information to the members of the Board in electronic format, and
reducing energy consumption by switching off idle lighting and electrical
appliances.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

EFTHRE &

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of the Company
prepared in accordance with Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) has been published on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange at the same time as the
publication of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During FY 2024/25, no material non-compliance of the laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Company was noted. In
addition, a discussion on the Company's compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules is
included in the Corporate Governance Report.

DONATIONS
During the year, the Group did not make any donations to charitable
organisations.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group is set out on
page 4 of this annual report.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in fixed assets (including investment properties
and property, plant and equipment) during the year are set out in note
15 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK LOANS
Details of bank loans of the Group as at 31 March 2025 are set out in
note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED
The amount of interest capitalised by the Group during the year is set
out in note 8(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE ISSUED AND SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on page 65 of this annual report and in note 26(b) to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

EFTHRE @A

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer
and the five largest customers in aggregate was 1.4% and 3.9% of the
Group's total sales for the year respectively.

The percentage of purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier
and the five largest suppliers in aggregate was 11.1% and 35.2% of the
Group's total purchases for the year respectively.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors, their close
associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
own more than 5% of the Company's total number of issued shares) had
an interest in the five largest suppliers or customers of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association of the Company (the “Articles”) and there is no restriction
against such rights which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Hung Ming (Chairman)

Mr. Lau Chi Wah (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Kwan Wing Wo (Chief Financial Officer)

Ms. Tsang Ka Man

Ms. Chan Pui Yin Apple (appointed on 16 September 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Tsui Ka Wah

Mr. Kan Yau Wo

Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan

Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny

Pursuant to article 84 of the Articles, Ms. Tsang Ka Man, Mr. Ho Chiu
Yin Ivan and Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny will retire from office by rotation
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election as Directors at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

Ms. Chan Pui Yin Apple was appointed as an executive director of
the Company on 16 September 2024. Pursuant to article 83(3) of the
Articles, Ms. Chan shall retire from office and, being eligible, offer herself
for re-election as Director at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

EFTHRE &

DIRECTORS' AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 33 to 37 of this annual report.

Changes in Directors’ Information

Changes in information of Directors during FY 2024/25 and up to the
date of this annual report discloseable pursuant to Rule 13.51B are as
follows:

o Ms. Chan Pui Yin Apple has been appointed as an executive
director of the Company with effect from 16 September 2024. In
compliance with the Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules, Ms. Chan has
obtained the legal advice on 11 September 2024 and confirmed
she understood her obligations as a director of the Company.

Save for the information disclosed above, there is no other information
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial term of three years and will continue
thereafter unless terminated in accordance with the terms of the service
agreement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years, and such
appointment may be terminated in accordance with the terms of the
letter of appointment.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract that is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF THE INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that
all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, the Company
has in force indemnity provisions as permitted under the relevant
statutes for the benefit of the Directors of the Company. The permitted
indemnity provisions are provided for in the Articles and in the directors’
and officers’ liability insurance maintained for the Group in respect of
potential liability and costs associated with legal proceedings that may
be brought against such Directors.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

EFTHRE @A

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein; or () were required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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underlying
Number of ordinary Approximate
Name of Group member/ Capacity/ Nature of ordinary  shares held percentage of
Name of Director associated corporation  interest shares held (Note 1) Total shareholding
FEHEH
. KEEREAR/ FELER E%éﬂﬁﬁﬁ{ﬁ R REREA
et BB TE g/ #@E RHEE A8 1) ey B
Mr. Chan Hung Ming The Company Interest of a controlled 921,642,940 - 921,642,940 64.89%
__ corporation (Note 2)
BRALBAEE ARE SEEERER (22)
Chan HM Company Limited ~ Beneficial owner 1 - 1 100%
BEG#EBA
Mr. Lau Chi Wah The Company Interest of a controlled 106,293,660 = 106,293,660 7.48%
corporation (Note 3)
AFERE AR REEERER (23)
Lau CW Company Limited  Beneficial owner 1 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.07%
BGEEA
Mr. Kwan Wing Wo The Company Beneficial owner = 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.07%
RXMEE YN ERBEEA
Ms. Tsang Ka Man The Company Beneficial owner 1,586,000 1,000,000 2,586,000 0.18%
BESuL /NG| EmEEA
Mr. Tsui Ka Wah The Company Beneficial owner - 200,000 200,000 0.01%
BRELE ARE BEG#EBA
Mr. Kan Yau Wo The Company Beneficial owner = 200,000 200,000 0.01%
BRMEE PN BGEEA
Mr. Lee Chun Yiu Johnny  The Company Beneficial owner = 200,000 200,000 0.01%
FRIERE YN ERBEAEA
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Notes.

1. This represented the number of share options granted to the Directors
by the Company under the Old Share Option Scheme (as defined
hereinbelow). Details of the share options are disclosed in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” below.

2. Mr. Chan Hung Ming holds 100% of the issued share capital of Chan HM
Company Limited, which owns 921,642,940 shares out of the total number
of issued shares of the Company. Therefore, Mr. Chan Hung Ming is
deemed to have the same interest in the Company by virtue of SFO.

3. Mr. Lau Chi Wah holds 100% of the issued share capital of Lau CW
Company Limited, which owns 106,293,660 shares out of the total number
of issued shares of the Company. Therefore, Mr. Lau Chi Wah is deemed to
have the same interest in the Company by virtue of SFO.

All the interests disclosed above represent the long position in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company has or is deemed to have any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations as at 31 March 2025.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, so far as the Directors were aware, the following
persons/entity (not being the Directors or chief executives of the
Company) had, or were deemed to have interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations which were required to be notified to the
Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO:

i

RN

EAABREBERRESSE (EXR T KU
TEENEREHE - BREAINFBINT
XIEgRe st &) —Hde

2. BRELBALEALFRFAChan HM Company LimitedB2
BITIRABI100% & > MChan HM Company
LimitedBEBE AR B ZETRMLE R
921,642,9408% B 1% o Rt > FRFLBA S £ IR BE 5
R RS R BIHR 5 1 A A B AR e o

3. 2|EFEHREFBLau CW Company Limited B 217
B8 75 #9100%HE 3 » iLau CW company L|m|tediz&
BAERAE B BTN RER106,293,6608% B (5
Ak » %UE%%i*@%&%ﬁ%&,ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬂ%ﬁlﬁ&z%ﬁ%ﬁé
KABEBERER

EXRBENFRAER@mIES R B RN RE/HAR
PHER-

BrREXPIIREBEEI R B _AF=R=+—
B BEEENARFETEZTHABRERATHK
HAERAEBOEE Z R0~ BRERMD N EEE D%
BYRREREREAEDINE -

%Eﬂﬁiﬁéﬂﬁﬁ}&*ﬁﬁﬁﬂ&{ﬁﬂﬂ““ R3¢

R TEZRFE=ZRA=1+—H 'BRMEBEMAA T
AL /B (LEFESHARATNEETHAE) R
A B W EAAREEE R AR (O SRR 5
BEAURRREAREES RPEFRHEXVE
B2RIDBABANARBHERETABREZS
R HA G 1R B 8336 R A i I 7 B 2 B AV 1
mIKA

Number of
underlying
Number of ordinary Approximate
ordinary shares held percentage of
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest shares held (Note 1) Total  shareholding
FHEHER
EiER
RELZER RHER R EREAY
fRER 4 Bin/ #@mtE EeanE¢=| (z1) my BAk
Chan HM Company Limited  Beneficial owner 921,642,940 = 921,642,940 64.89%
BEmEEA
Lau CW Company Limited Beneficial owner 106,293,660 - 106,293,660 7.48%
BmlEAA
Ms. Cheung Shuk Fong Family (Note 2) 106,293,660 1,000,000 107,293,660 7.55%
RRAE R L Rk (3#2)
Banco Well Link, S.A. Security interest (Note 3) 1,027,936,600 = 1,027,936,600 72.37%

YBIRITRINARAT  EHkm (£3)

22

GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

EFEHRS @
Notes.

1. This represented the number of share options granted to Directors by the
Company under the Old Share Option Scheme (as defined hereinbelow).

2. Ms. Cheung Shuk Fong, the spouse of Mr. Lau Chi Wah, is deemed to be
interested in Mr. Lau’s interest in our Company by virtue of the SFO.

3. On 28 May 2024, Chan HM Company Limited pledged 921,642,940 shares
it held in the Company to Banco Well Link, S.A.

On 12 August 2024, Lau CW Company Limited pledged 106,293,660 shares
it held in the Company to Banco Well Link, S.A.

All the interests disclosed above represent the long position in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Company has not
been notified of any other relevant interests or short positions in the
total number of issued shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

As at 31 March 2025, Mr. Chan Hung Ming, an executive Director, is
a director of Chan HM Company Limited; and Mr. Lau Chi Wah, an
executive Director, is a director of Lau CW Company Limited. Save as
above, none of the Directors is a director or employee of a company
which has an interest in the Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Interests and Short
Positions of Directors and Chief Executives in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures of the Company and its Associated Corporations”,
“Share Option Scheme” and “Share Award Plan” in this report, at no time
during FY 2024/25 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any
holding company or any subsidiary of the Company’s holding company,
a party to any arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any
of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any right
to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any
other body corporate or had exercised any such right.

1. BERRABREEBERESE (EER T EY
TEENEREHE -

2. *E*XD-\L#&H\H UEE%EEE'J@ET%%%X%

ZEWRBINE SEEET_ZIK’&TB’H% iR R R
3. RIZEZWHFHAZ+/\B’Chan HM Company

Limitedi§ EFE 2 A B)921,642,9408% B 17 &
HAIIBIRITIRNDBIRAT -

AZZ2TMHENAB+IZH Lau CW Company
Limitedig 58 2 & A 5)106,293,6608% i 17 &
I BIRITIRBBER AR ©

EXHWENFBEERYIERAT RGN RkIERR
DG A °

bR EXFTEIN RS AFE=RA=+—8"
ARBUTEEBNAATDEEHTROBHEFTE
EREMBERERIN A ARERFRMER
BIEEXVER B 2530 BHMEX M A AT I EE » WE T
BN AABRBEB LSRG HRGIE33FETF
ENZMA-

N ZETRF=—A=1t—H BITEEMIBEL
4 %AChan HM Company LimitedBEE ; K#1T
BEIEELEALau CW Company LimitedsyE
ol LMEIN BEESTAS—BABZESE
HEEMZ AR ERATRDHAERERMG P
BIRIEE S AR E KB SEXVER 525357 B8 E XA
BARREIRENER ©

EFERERMEEENET

BARSEEREBITBRASRRN HERKR
DREEETHER KRR TRRESE &
TR SR Et 8 R ERFTIREE SN ZATHHEAE
AN B AR ZERATDHAETRTERATNE
RIFf B A B 722024/25F EH B M | L ER R
B BEESIRBEAATNEAEMEAR
BEHRDNEEEMED TEEFURSZA
BRTN\BRUTHFLERERERUDEAR
REHEMEMEAERRENEHESTN
BITREEAARERN -
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save

for their respective interests in the Group, none of the Directors

was interested in any business which competes or is likely to compete
with the businesses of the Group for FY 2024/25.

EXEMPTED CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1.

24

During FY 2024/25, Mr. Chan Hung Ming (the chairman and
executive Director, and controlling shareholder of the Company)
advanced loans in an aggregate of HK$607,498,000 to the
Company. These loans are unsecured, bear interest at a rate of
3% per annum and due to mature in April to May 2028. Such loan
transactions constituted connected transactions under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules but are fully exempted from reporting,
announcement, and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements, because they are conducted on normal commercial
terms or better and are not secured by the assets of the Group.

On 12 December 2024, Able Business Development Limited (an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and as vendor)
entered into a formal agreement to sell a car parking space
located in Cristallo to an associate (as purchaser) of an executive
Director, Mr. Chan Hung Ming, at a consideration of HK$4,000,000.
The vendor is the developer of Cristallo. The transaction was
completed on 24 January 2025. As Mr. Chan Hung Ming is an
executive Director of the Company, the sale of the car parking
space to his associate constituted a connected transaction of
the Company under the Listing Rules. Since all the applicable
percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) are less than 0.1%,
the transaction constitutes a de minimis transaction and is fully
exempt from reporting, announcement, circular and shareholders’
approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

On 27 and 30 December 2024, Dragon Mount Development
Limited (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and as vendor) entered into two formal agreements to sell two
car parking spaces located in The Grand Marine to an associate
(as purchaser) of an executive Director, Mr. Lau Chi Wah, at an
aggregate consideration of HK$3,340,000. The vendor is the
developer of The Grand Marine. These two transactions were
completed on 15 January 2025. As Mr. Lau Chi Wah is an executive
Director of the Company, the sales of the car parking spaces to
his associate constituted connected transactions of the Company
under the Listing Rules. Since all the applicable percentage
ratios (other than the profits ratio) of the two transactions on an
aggregated basis are less than 0.1%, the transactions constitute
de minimis transactions and are fully exempt from reporting,
announcement, circular and shareholders’ approval requirement
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EFENRFEGNER
BRERSEREEBBEmI > 122024/25F E 1R
FENEMNEFCEREBERRF N ER
P F I EF P A o

HEMERS

1.

112024/255F EHAR > BRFLER S (R A B £
[ERAITEEKRIERKR) QX ABRNE
A 5H607,498,0008 70 © ILE A EEKIF
FERE3I%FHAA ST - N\ENEER
BZEBERMXZIRE EHHRAE1UAZEN
FERS BiRE TR EZEARE
TFRF -RNERBIUKREMENRE A
ZEERR G —REERAABERR

7 BUEDAEEREEFRR

RIE_ONE+_BB+__H 5X&RE
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A summary of material related party transactions made during FY
2024/25 is disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
Save as disclosed above, these related party transactions do not
constitute a connected transaction or continuing connected transaction
as defined under the Listing Rules. In relation to those related party
transactions which constitute connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction as defined under the Listing Rules, the Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
Save as disclosed in this annual report, no Director or any entity
connected with a Director had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
the business of the Group to which the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or any of its fellow subsidiaries was a party
during the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'S INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

None of the Company or any of its subsidiaries had entered into any
contract of significance or contract of significance for provision of
services with the Company’s controlling shareholder (“Controlling
Shareholder”) or its subsidiaries during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS' AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
REMUNERATION

Details of the Directors’ remuneration during the year are set out in note
11 to the consolidated financial statements.

The senior management of the Group comprises the Directors. The
emoluments of the senior management of the Group other than the
Directors for the year ended 31 March 2025 falls within the following
band:

2024/25% Z HARE 1F H B B ARAME 77 32 57 B 2 10
iR MR S35 IR EE o PR _E PRI R Sh >
ZEME D RSB £ AR R PR R ERIRE
REBRIFERMERL S - Sk SR LEHRAFTR
EHNHEXSRFEBRERIZNBAM S ZZM
B ARBBET EHRRBIMAZHIRERTE

EENRB - RHAERGNFER

PRAFIRFTIEES BIEE SN HMEERINE
REXRB HERAGT - HEERAWBEBLAT K
BEMBABMILZENHEIEREHEE
ARZRHG RN ENTERABEREEEAE

ERRRNENFNED
FABDHEEANBLARDERLERERTE

RREg e (HERRMRR)) HEMBRBTULEMEKR
BHRRERBHNERSK -

EERAK
FERLEFMTIREEEARE AT 2HRALR
DEBBRNEBRIBEENEW-
EEREREEEHM
EEERFMOE BRI RS HBRRMEN
FEEBRERERESAN FEEBRER

BEEMINBE_S_RE=-A=+—HILE
ErMEER U THEE :

Number of Senior

Management
Emolument Band il < &5 = SREEEAY
$1,500,001 to $2,000,000 1,500,0017% 2 2,000,00075 1
$2,500,001 to $3,000,000 2,500,00175 2 3,000,0007T 1
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DIRECTORS' AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
REMUNERATION POLICY

The Directors’ remuneration policy comprises primarily a fixed
component (in the form of a base salary) and a variable component
(which includes discretionary bonus and other merit payments),
considering other factors such as their experience, level of responsibility,
individual performance, the profit performance of the Group and with
reference to market terms.

The remuneration committee of the Company (“Remuneration
Committee”) will meet at least once for each year to discuss
remuneration related matters (including the remuneration of Directors
and senior management) and review the Group’s remuneration policy.
It has been decided that Remuneration Committee would make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

The Controlling Shareholders had confirmed to the Company of each
of their compliance with the non-competition undertakings provided
to the Company under the Deed of Non-Competition (as defined in
the prospectus of the Company dated 30 July 2013). The independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the status of compliance and
confirmed that all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition
have been complied with by the Controlling Shareholders.

PENSION SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) for all its qualifying employees in Hong Kong. Under the
rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the scheme at rates specified in the
rules, and contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in trustee
administered funds independently. There are no forfeited contributions
for the MPF Scheme as the Group's employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in the PRC
are required to participate in a central pension scheme (the “PRC
Pension Scheme”) operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the PRC Pension Scheme. The contributions are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the PRC Pension Scheme. Under the PRC Pension Scheme, no forfeited
contributions will be used by the employers to reduce the existing level
of contributions.

During FY 2024/25, the aggregate amounts of employer’s contributions
made by the Group were approximately HK$2.6 million.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates share option schemes to provide incentives
or rewards to the Group's eligible participants for their contribution
to the Group and to attract, retain and motivate high-calibre eligible
participants for the benefit of the Group.

The Old Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 23 July 2013 (the “Old
Share Option Scheme”), which was valid and effective for a period
of ten (10) years from 23 July 2013. The Old Share Option Scheme has
expired on 23 July 2023. Upon its expiry, no further options could be
granted by the Company but the options granted before expiration of
the Old Share Option Scheme shall continue to be valid and exercisable
in accordance with the terms of the Old Share Option Scheme.

Details of the outstanding options granted under the Old Share Option
Scheme and their movements during FY 2024/25 are set out below:

FalgtEst &l

FATBHERES T SERBAREHF
& BEHERZAEMSRE  ROFEETR
5 BRHBAERNSERSRE.

ERRESE
ERBNR_BE-—ZFtA+=—HRMN—IERE
Rrgstd ((EmRERE) YBE_S—=Ft
B+ =HEST0)FHEARERKRENR &
BREASENR S =FtA-+=HEm"°
ZetElEmE  AAEBEBEE-—IRHOBRE
7 EE RE AR 1 51 B 2 BT IR U B9 BB AR AR R A A
B W RIRIBE R RS BB IRRITRE

RBFEBRES B R HMHERTENBRER
HR2024/ 25 ERVEFFIBNT ¢

Number of share options

BREHR
Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise as at Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled as at
Name or category price 1 April during the during the during the during the 31 March
of grantee Date of grant Exercise period (HK$) 2024 year year year year 2025
RIEZME RIEZHE
B 3 ﬁﬁ% mA—H B =B=+—-H
REAGRRER RHEAH 7188 (%) HERTE REARE  REATE  REARYR  REREH HRITE
Executive Directors
HITES
Lau Chi Wah 15/12/2022 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 1 395 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000
2FE
Kwan Wing Wo 15/12/2022 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 1 395 1,000,000 S S = = 1,000,000
kgl
Tsang Ka Man 15/12/2022 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 1 395 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000
B
Independent
Non-Executive
Directors
BIUFHITES
Tsui Ka Wah 15/12/2022 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 1 395 200,000 - - - - 200,000
RERE
Kan Yau Wo 15/12/2022 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 1 395 200,000 - - - - 200,000
R
Lee Chun Yiu Johnny 15/12/2022 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 1 395 200,000 - - - - 200,000
TRIE
Sub-total for Directors 3,600,000 - - - - 3,600,000
BEat
Management personnel and ~ 15/12/2022 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 ! 395 3,980,000 = = S = 3,980,000
core employees of the
Group 3
FEEBEABRZLEES® 11/1/2023 11/1/2024-10/1/2033 2 6.04 7,700,000 = = - - 7,700,000
Sub-total for other
employees 11,680,000 - - - - 11,680,000
Hitn8 T /st
Total 15,280,000 - - - - 15,280,000
&zt
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d Such share options have no vesting conditions

2 Such share options were vested to grantees on 11 January 2024

g Excluding Directors, chief executives or substantial Shareholders or any of
their respective associates

As at the date of this report, the total number of shares which may
fall to be issued upon exercise of all outstanding share options
granted under the Old Share Option Scheme was 15,280,000 shares,
representing approximately 1.08% of the issued shares of the Company
(excluding treasury shares) as at that date.

The New Share Option Scheme

Following the expiration of the Old Share Option Scheme, in order to
ensure the continuity of the share option scheme of the Company, the
Board adopted a new share option scheme (the “New Share Option
Scheme”). Eligible participants of the New Share Option Scheme
include any employees, executives or officers of the Group and any
directors (including nonexecutive and independent non-executive
directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

The New Share Option Scheme was approved for adoption by the
Shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 4 August 2023.
The New Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of ten
(10) years commencing on 4 August 2023 (the “Adoption Date"). As at
31 March 2025, the remaining life of the New Share Option Scheme is
approximately eight and a half years. The exercise period of any option
to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme must not exceed ten
years from the respective date of grant.

The maximum number of shares in respect of all share options to be
granted under the New Share Option Scheme and all share options
and share awards to be granted under any other schemes of the
Company were 142,012,234 shares, representing 10% and 10% of the
issued shares (excluding treasury shares) of the Company as at the
beginning and the end of FY 2024/25. The limit may be refreshed by
obtaining Shareholders’ approval at a general meeting from time to time
after three years from the Adoption Date or the date of Shareholders’
approval for the last refreshment (or any refreshment within any three
(3)-year period be approved by Shareholders with the Controlling
Shareholders and their associates abstained from voting in favour of the
relevant resolution at the general meeting), provided that the new limit
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued shares of the Company
as at the date of the relevant shareholders’ approval in general meeting.
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The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to any eligible participants or grantee (including
both exercised and outstanding options) under the New Share Option
Scheme in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued
shares at the date of grant of the option, unless separately approved
by Shareholders in general meeting with such eligible participant and
his/her close associates (or associates if the eligible participant is a
connected person) abstaining from voting.

The vesting period in respect of any share options granted to any
participant shall be determined by the Board at its discretion subject to
a minimum period of not less than 12 months. However, the Board or
the Remuneration Committee has the discretion in allowing a shorter
vesting period in certain circumstances as set out in the New Share
Option Scheme.

Details of the New Share Option Scheme are set out in the circular of
the Company dated 6 July 2023 and note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Since the adoption of the New Share Option Scheme until the date of
this report, no share options have been granted by the Company under
the New Share Option Scheme.

As at 31 March 2025, the total number of shares available for issue
under all share option schemes of the Company is 157,292,234 shares,
representing approximately 11.1% of the issued shares of the Company
(excluding treasury shares) as at that date.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options and
awards granted under all share schemes of the Company during FY
2024/25 divided by the weighted average number of issued shares
(excluding treasury shares) for the year is 0%, as no option or award was
granted under all schemes of the Company during that year.

SHARE AWARD PLAN

The Company operates a share award plan for the purpose to provide
incentives or rewards to the Group’s eligible participants for their
contribution to the Group and to attract suitable personnel for the future
development of the Group.

The Company's original share award plan had expired on 23 July 2023
and was replaced by a new share award plan (the “Share Award
Plan”), which was approved by Shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 4 August 2023.
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The Share Award Plan is valid and effective for a period of ten (10)
years commencing on the Adoption Date. Eligible participants of the
Share Award Plan include any employees, executives or officers of the
Group and any directors (including non-executive and independent non-
executive directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. As at 31
March 2025, the remaining life of the Share Award Plan is approximately
eight and a half years.

The maximum number of shares in respect of all share awards to be
granted under the Share Award Plan and all share options and share
awards to be granted under any other share schemes of the Company
were 142,012,234 shares, representing 10% and 10% of the issued
shares (excluding treasury shares) of the Company as at the beginning
and the end of FY 2024/25. The limit may be refreshed by obtaining
Shareholders’ approval at a general meeting from time to time after
three years from the Adoption Date or the date of Shareholders’
approval for the last refreshment (or any refreshment within any three
(3)-year period be approved by Shareholders with the Controlling
Shareholders and their associates abstained from voting in favour of
the relevant resolution at the general meeting), provided that the new
limit must not be in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued shares of
the Company as at the date of the relevant shareholders’ approval in
general meeting.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon share awards
being granted to any eligible participants or grantee under the New
Share Award Plan in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
issued shares at the date of grant of the award, unless separately
approved by Shareholders in general meeting with such eligible
participant and his/her close associates (or associates if the eligible
participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting.

The vesting period in respect of any share awards granted to any
participant shall be determined by the Board at its discretion subject
to a minimum period of not less than 12 months. However, the Board
has the sole discretion in allowing a shorter vesting period in certain
circumstances as set out in the Share Award Plan.

The Share Award Plan is subject to the administration of the Board. The

Board may engage trustee in the process of granting, administrating
and/or vesting any awards.
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The Board may from time to time transfer funds to the trustee for the
purposes of the New Share Award Plan. The Board may instruct the
trustee to purchase the number of shares underlying the award from
the open market (either on-market or off-market) and the trustee shall
hold such shares on trust for the participants until they are vested in
accordance with the rules of the New Share Award Plan.

The Board may grant awards to any participant at nil consideration. The
rules of the New Share Award Plan do not prescribe the amount payable
on application or acceptance of the award and the period within which
payments or calls must or may be made or loans for such purposes
must be repaid. The basis of determining the purchase price of shares
awarded is not applicable as there is no purchase price under the rules
of the New Share Award Plan.

Details of the New Share Award Plan are set out in the circular of the
Company dated 6 July 2023.

Since the adoption of the New Share Award Plan and up to the date of
this report, no shares have been awarded by the Company under the
New Share Award Plan.

As at 31 March 2025, the total number of shares available for issue
under all share schemes of the Company is 157,292,234 shares,
representing approximately 11.1% of the issued shares of the Company
(excluding treasury shares) as at that date.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options and
awards granted under all share schemes of the Company during FY
2024/25 divided by the weighted average number of issued shares
(excluding treasury shares) for the year is 0%, as no option or award was
granted under all share schemes of the Company during that year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during FY 2024/25.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all
the code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(“"CG Code”) as contained in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules throughout the FY 2024/25. Details are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 38 to 52.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION
The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed minimum public
float under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for FY 2024/25 have been audited
by BDO Limited. A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO Limited as
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Hung Ming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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Details of the biographies of Directors and senior management up to the
date of this annual report are set out below:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS/SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Hung Ming, aged 71, is our chairman and executive Director.
He is also our Controlling Shareholder and a director of all subsidiaries
of our Group. Mr. Chan is a co-founder of our Group and has participated
in the management of our Group since 1995. He is primarily responsible
for formulating the overall strategic development and direction of the
business development of our Group. He has accumulated over 51 years'
experience in construction and property development field and 17
years' experience in data centre leasing business. Mr. Chan is the father
of Ms. Chan Pui Yin Apple, an executive director of the Company.

Mr. Chan holds a Higher Certificate in Building Technology from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University).

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Chan is interested in 921,642,940
Shares, representing 64.89% of the total number of the issued shares of
the Company. Save as aforementioned, Mr. Chan has no other interests
in the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Lau Chi Wah, aged 60, is our executive Director and chief executive
officer. He is also a director of all subsidiaries of our Group. Mr. Lau is
a co-founder of our Group and has participated in the management of
our Group since 1995. He is primarily responsible for formulating the
overall strategic planning of our Group and overseeing the business
development, administrative and compliance matters of our Group. He
had over 36 years of audit, accounting and finance experience.

Mr. Lau holds an Honour Diploma in Accountancy from the Lingnan
College (now known as the Lingnan University) and Master's Degree
in Professional Accounting from Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He
is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA").

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Lau is interested in 106,293,660
Shares, representing 7.48% of the total number of the issued shares
of the Company, He also holds options entitling him to subscribe for
1,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company (the “Share(s)’). Save as
aforementioned, Mr. Lau has no other interests in the Company within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr. Kwan Wing Wo, aged 57, is our executive Director and chief
financial officer. He also holds directorship in certain subsidiaries of
our Group. Mr. Kwan joined the Group in 2008 and has participated in
the management of the Group since then. He is responsible for the
corporate finance, accounting, taxation, investment and administrative
matters of our Group. He has over 34 years' experience in auditing,
accounting and finance field. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Kwan held a
management position in a listed company in Hong Kong for 12 years and
was mainly responsible for its finance, financial reporting obligations,
accounting, taxation and administrative matters.

Mr. Kwan holds a Bachelor’'s degree in Accountancy from the City
University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants of United Kingdom and a member of the HKICPA.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Kwan holds options entitling him
to subscribe for 1,000,000 Shares. Save as aforementioned, Mr. Kwan
has no other interests in the Company within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO.

Ms. Tsang Ka Man, aged 34, is our executive Director since
December 2022 and is responsible for developing the Group’s property
development business in Hong Kong. Ms. Tsang joined the Group in 2016
and has over 8 years of experience in the management of construction
projects.

Ms. Tsang holds a Master of Science in Construction and Real Estate
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a Bachelor of Science
with Second Class Honours in Construction Management from the
University of Wolverhampton, United Kingdom.

As at the date of this annual report, Ms. Tsang is interested in 1,586,000
Shares, representing 0.11% of the total number of issued shares of the
Company. She also holds options entitling her to subscribe for 1,000,000
Shares. Save as aforementioned, Ms. Tsang has no other interests in the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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Ms. Chan Pui Yin Apple, aged 35, is our executive Director since 16
September 2024. She is also a member of the nomination committee
of the Company. Ms. Chan is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
property development business and assists in formulating and
implementing the Group’s overall corporate strategies.

Ms. Chan graduated from The University of Hong Kong with the degree
of Bachelor of Arts in Architectural Studies and Master of Architecture.
She is also a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Architects and
the Royal Institute of British Architects, and a registered architect with
the Architects Registration Board in Hong Kong under the Architects
Registration Ordinance (Chapter 408 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Prior
to joining the Group, Ms. Chan worked at Wong Tung & Partners Limited
from 2016 to 2022 with her last position as senior architect. She is the
daughter of Mr. Chan Hung Ming who is the chairman of the Board, an
executive Director and a controlling shareholder of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, Ms. Chan did not have any interests
in the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tsui Ka Wah, aged 72, is our independent non-executive Director
since July 2013. He is also the chairman of the remuneration committee
(‘"Remuneration Committee”) and a member of each of the audit
committee (“Audit Committee”) and the nomination committee
("Nomination Committee”) of the Company.

Mr. Tsui has 37 years of banking experience with United States and local
banks, and has held various management positions in corporate, retail
and private banking. Currently he holds the position of chief executive
officer of SME Credit Company Limited. He is also an independent
non-executive director of Oriental Explorer Holdings Limited (stock
code: 430), Multifield International Holdings Limited (stock code: 898)
and Southeast Asia Properties & Finance Limited (stock code: 252)
respectively, whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Tsui holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree and a Master's Degree of
Business Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Tsui holds options entitling him
to subscribe for 200,000 Shares. Save as aforementioned, Mr. Tsui has no
other interests in the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr. Kan Yau Wo, aged 72, is our independent non-executive Director
since July 2013. He is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee
and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee.

Mr. Kan has been working with Fujitsu’s group of companies for over 30
years and was appointed as the president in Fujitsu Hong Kong Ltd. in
2007 and then the chief executive officer of Fujitsu’s South China and
Hong Kong Region. Mr. Kan retired from his position in Fujitsu’s group of
companies in 2011.

Mr. Kan graduated from University of Hull in United Kingdom with
Bachelor of Science (First Class Honour) in Computer Studies and
Mathematics.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Kan holds options entitling him
to subscribe for 200,000 Shares. Save as aforementioned, Mr. Kan has no
other interests in the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan, aged 64, is our independent non-executive
Director since January 2023. He is also the chairman of the Audit
Committee, and a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Ho has over 30 years of experience in providing statutory audit,
group reporting, due diligence review and regulatory advisory
services for various clients with shares listed in Hong Kong and
businesses in manufacturing, retail, and property development in
Hong Kong and the Mainland China. He worked for Price Waterhouse
(now PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong) from 1985 to 1989. He
then worked for Hamiltons in Sydney, Australia, a firm specialised
in insolvency practice, from 1989 to 1992 with his last position as
manager. From 1993 to 1995, Mr. Ho rejoined PricewaterhouseCoopers
Hong Kong and worked as an audit manager. He then joined
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP. Guangzhou Branch and acted
as a manager and then senior manager from 1995 to 2002, and was
admitted as partner from 2002 to 2021. Mr. Ho retired from partnership
of the firm in June 2021.

Mr. Ho obtained a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of New
South Wales in 1984. He is a member of the HKICPA since 1993, a
member of the Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand
(previously the Institute of Chartered Accountant Australia) since 1991.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Ho did not have any interests in
the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

36

ERMEE 72 B E—=—FtBHELXR
AEUFHRITER - RTAREEETNERU
hBEBZZESGNHFMESENME -

BEERETEERARTIFa=1T5 E#_-F
T+ F T m AFujitsu Hong Kong Ltd. (E=&@&
BERAR) B At EEFREBEETT
BBEH BEER S ——FRETEERRT
Bk

BRERENEEMBASR  BRGFBHRBER

HEBBBL B (—RRE) -

RAF 3R B 55155 0] 8H8200,00082 A2 17
ZHBRE PR LMER BAENERAATE
85 MG RO EXVERFr R E 2 (E R H h#

==

Bt

MEBARLE oim BT =F—RAHEELR
BEIFPITER - RTABZREEGIRUK
HINEZEGNRLEEGHIME

AEEHROREE LT  UEREBNTERX
MRS SENEMERZEERNETLIRM
AEBT EERS BRBTNESTEARY
FEHEEBBAZTELR - FR—ANEEE
—HANNETBBEIRKBEGTAERR (R
MEBELORKE) - B— NN \AEE—HAAZ
5 WAERE MR EHamiltons (—RIEEPI R IE MY
EEFNAD) RENBUAKLE - [MEER
— QWA ZEE—AAEFEEHRMASTSBELR
KEBEAHA KB - FHREN—ANEEEZ
T OEIRETENEDPRG MBS %
BE )}i)ll’\’\Tﬁ“ﬁuﬂz%—?&mﬁ’itﬁ -

TETFEFE"TT—FEEREEIEBA-AKE
RIBZ—FBRABEGBABBURNK
RAEER—AN\MERESRAF DM E® L

AREBESLE(A -RE-NN=ZFEKEET
SHEIAEEE , B—AN—FERBRNKMEER
BErEstiiAg GIERNETEstmag) &
So

RAEFRA @RETERERDRMDTHES
a5 RERE IR B BEXVER SR E Z (E (Tt

GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25



BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EFREREEEBREE (&)

Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny, aged 81, is our independent non-
executive Director since July 2013. He is also a member of each of
the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee.

With over 30 years’ experience in the field of architecture, Mr. Lee
worked in several architect firms including as a director from 1995 to
2009. From 2009, Mr. Lee has been working for an architecture company
as a project director.

Mr. Lee graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Architecture. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Architects and a registered architect with Architects Registration Board
in Hong Kong. Mr. Lee is also an authorised person within the List of
Architects maintained by the Buildings Department.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Lee holds options entitling him
to subscribe for 200,000 Shares. Save as aforementioned, Mr. Lee has no
other interests in the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Wai Chuen, aged 59, is the company secretary of the
Company since July 2013. Mr. Leung has over 34 years' experience in
auditing, accounting, financial management and company secretarial
matters. Prior to joining our Group, he worked for and held senior
positions in various listed companies in Hong Kong and was responsible
for their finance, accounting and company secretarial functions.
Currently he is an independent non-executive director of E Lighting
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8222, a company listed on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange). He is also appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Fourace Industries Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1455, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange)
on August 2020.

Mr. Leung is a member of the HKICPA, a fellow of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom and an associate
of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Chartered
Governance Institute in England respectively. He holds a Bachelor's
Degree in Social Sciences from the University of Hong Kong, a Master’s
Degree in Business Administration jointly awarded by the University
of Wales and the University of Manchester and a Master’s Degree in
Business (Logistics Management) from the Royal Melbourne Institute of
Technology (now known as RMIT University).

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Leung holds options entitling him
to subscribe for 200,000 Shares.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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COMMITMENT TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company acknowledges the importance of good corporate
governance practices and procedures, and regards a pre-eminent
board of directors, sound internal controls and accountability to
all Shareholders as the core elements of its corporate governance
principles. The Company endeavours to ensure that its businesses are
conducted in accordance with rules and regulations, and applicable
codes and standards.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all the
code provisions as set out in the CG Code as contained in Part 2 of
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules throughout FY 2024/25.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1. Responsibilities of the Board
The Board is primarily responsible for management of the Group,
including the responsibilities of formulating business strategies,
directing and monitoring the Group's development. Apart from its
statutory responsibilities, the Board is also required to approve
the Group's strategic development plan and major investments;
review the Group's financial performance; identify principal risks
of the Group's business and ensure adequate systems of risk
management and internal control. The Board also delegates
certain responsibilities to various board committees which have
been established by the Board to deal with different aspects of the
Company'’s affairs.

The day-to-day operations and administration are delegated to the
management of the Group under the leadership of the executive
Directors.

2. Board Composition
The Board currently comprises nine members, as detailed below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Hung Ming (Chairman)

Mr. Lau Chi Wah (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Kwan Wing Wo (Chief Financial Officer)

Ms. Tsang Ka Man

Ms. Chan Pui Yin Apple (appointed on 16 September 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Tsui Ka Wah

Mr. Kan Yau Wo

Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan

Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny
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The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 33 to
37 of this annual report. There is no financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship among members of the Board.
A list of Directors and their roles and functions has been published
on the Company’s website.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy with the aim
of achieving diversity on the Board. The Company recognizes
the benefits of having a diverse Board, and sees diversity of
perspectives at the Board level as essential in achieving a
sustainable and balanced development. In designing the Board's
composition, board diversity has been considered from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge, industry
experience and expertise. All Board appointments are based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against a variety
of criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

When identifying suitable candidates for directorship, the
Nomination Committee will carry out the selection process by
making reference to the skills, experience, education background,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments
of the proposed candidates, and also the Company’s needs and
other relevant statutory requirements and regulations required for
the positions. All candidates must be able to meet the standards
as set forth in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing Rules. A candidate
who is to be appointed as an independent non-executive Director
should also meet the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. Qualified candidates will then be recommended
to the Board for approval.

The Board comprises Directors with diverse backgrounds and/or
extensive expertise in corporate management, with over 50% of
the Directors possessing professional qualifications.

Currently, the Board has two female Directors out of nine
Directors. The Board strives to enhancing gender diversity as and
when suitable candidates are identified. The Group advocates a
diversified and inclusive workplace, and adheres to the concept of
gender equality, and guarantees equal employment opportunities
for female employees. As at 31 March 2025, 74% of the Group's
employees (including Directors and senior management) were
male and 26% were female. The Company considers that gender
diversity in respect of the Board and the Group’'s workforce has
been achieved.
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All the independent non-executive Directors are appointed
for a specific term of three years and are required to retire by
rotation and eligible for re-election at the Company's annual
general meeting. The Company has received, from each of the
independent non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of
his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all independent non-executive Directors
are independent.

The Company has complied with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules
and met the requirement of Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules of at
least one-third of the members of the Board being independent
non-executive Directors. In addition, Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan, one of
the independent non-executive Directors, has the appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.

Mechanism ensuring sufficient independent views to
the Board

The Board recognises Board independence is critical to good
corporate governance. The Company has put in place the
mechanisms to ensure a strong independence element on the
Board, which are summarised below:

Board composition

The Board endeavours to ensure the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors and at least one-third of the
Board members being independent non-executive Directors (or
such higher threshold as may be required by the Listing Rules from
time to time)

Independence Assessment

The Nomination Committee shall strictly adhere to the nomination
policy and the independence assessment criteria as set out in the
Listing Rules with regard to the nomination and appointment of
independent non-executive Directors.

Each independent non-executive Director is also required to
inform the Company as soon as practicable if there is any change
in his own personal particulars that may materially affect his
independence.

The Nomination Committee is mandated to assess annually the
independence of all independent non-executive Directors by
reference to the independence criteria as set out in the Listing
Rules to ensure that they can continually exercise independent
judgement.
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Decision Making

All Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are
entitled to seek further information and documentation from the
management on the matters to be discussed at board meetings.
They can also seek assistance from the Company’'s company
secretary and, where necessary, independent advice from external
professional advisers at the Company’s expense.

All Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) shall
not vote or be counted in the quorum on any board resolution
approving any contract or arrangement in which such Director or
any of his close associates has a material interest.

The Board had made an annual review on the implementation
of the abovementioned mechanisms and was of the view
that the abovementioned mechanisms had been satisfactorily
implemented.

Board and Board Committee Meetings
The Board's attendance in the general meetings, board meetings
and board committee meetings during FY 2024/25 are as follows:
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Meetings Attended/Held

SHRHFERYEH
Annual
Audit Remuneration = Nomination General
Board  Committee =~ Committee  Committee Meeting
EEg BRZEY Hzag RLEZEE RREFEAE
Executive Directors WITES
Mr. Chan Hung Ming BRFLEAL & 5/5 - - - Al
Mr. Lau Chi Wah BEERE 5/5 - - - 11
Mr. Kwan Wing Wo REK M4 5/5 - - - Al
Ms. Tsang Ka Man BEHLL 5/5 - - - 11
Ms. Chan Pui Yin Apple RS\
(appointed on 16/9/2024) (R
NB T HEZR) 3/3 - - - -
Independent Non-Executive BiuIEHITES
Directors
Mr. Tsui Ka Wah BRERE 5/5 2/2 2/2 2/2 (Al
Mr. Kan Yau Wo ERMTE 5/5 2/2 2/2 2/2 11
Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan 8RR E 5/5 2/2 2/2 2/2 11
Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny FRIBRE 5/5 22 2/2 2/2 Al

In addition, the chairman of the Board held a meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
other executive Directors during FY 2024/25.
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Conflict of Interest

If a Director has a potential conflict of interest in a matter being
considered in the board meeting, he will abstain from voting.
Independent non-executive Directors with no conflict of interest
will be present at meetings dealing with such conflict of interest
issues.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

The Company has appropriate and sufficient insurance coverage
relating to directors’ and officers’ liability to indemnify the
Directors and senior management against any potential liabilities
arising from the Company's business activities for which such
Directors and senior management may be held liable.

Directors’ Time Commitments and Trainings

The Company has received confirmation from each Director that
he had sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company
for the year. The Directors have disclosed to the Company the
number and nature of offices they held in Hong Kong or overseas
listed public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments, with the identity of the public companies and
organisations and an indication of the time involved. They are
reminded to notify the Company in a timely manner of any
changes of such information. All Directors are encouraged to
attend the Board meeting and board committee meeting in
person. For the Directors and committee members who are
unable to attend the meeting, participation through electronic
means is arranged and available.

All Directors, namely, Mr. Chan Hung Ming, Mr. Lau Chi Wah, Mr.
Kwan Wing Wo, Ms. Tsang Ka Man, Ms. Chan Pui Yin Apple, Mr.
Tsui Ka Wah, Mr. Kan Yau Wo, Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan and Mr. Lee
Chung Yiu Johnny, had participated in continuous professional
development with respect to directors’ duties, relevant
programmes and seminars, in compliance with code provision
C.1.4 of the CG Code. A record of the Directors’ participation in
such programmes is kept by the Company. Reading materials on
the latest developments or updates in connection to the Group's
businesses, accounting, regulatory and corporate governance
aspects were provided to the Directors. They also received
monthly financial highlights provided by the management.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual.

The chairman and the chief executive officer are currently two separate
positions held by Mr. Chan Hung Ming and Mr. Lau Chi Wah respectively
with clear distinction in responsibilities.

Mr. Chan Hung Ming, being the chairman, is responsible for the
management and leadership of the Board to formulate overall strategies
and business development directions for the Group, to ensure that
adequate, complete and reliable information is provided to all Directors
in a timely manner, and to ensure that the issues raised at the Board
meetings are explained appropriately.

Mr. Lau Chi Wah, being the chief executive officer, is responsible for
the daily operations of the Group and the implementation of business
policies, objectives and plans as formulated and adopted by the Board,
and is accountable to the Board for the overall operation of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties. Given below are the main corporate governance duties of the
Board:

(i)  to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on
corporate governance,

(i) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the
Company;

(i) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group
and the Directors; and

(V) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

The Board had reviewed the corporate governance matters of the
Company for FY 2024/25. The Company had complied with the
principles and applicable code provisions of the CG Code.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established three committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Group's affairs and discharging its functions.
Sufficient resources are provided to enable the Board committees to
undertake their specific role.

1. Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 23 July
2013 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
The Remuneration Committee consists of all four independent
non-executive Directors. The current members are Mr. Tsui Ka Wah
(chairperson), Mr. Kan Yau Wo, Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan and Mr. Lee
Chung Yiu Johnny.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
among others, (i) making recommendation to the Board on
the remuneration policy and structure for Directors and senior
management; (ii) reviewing and approving the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate
goal and objective; (iii) making recommendation to the Board on
the remuneration packages of executive Directors and senior
management and remuneration of non-executive Directors;
and (iv) ensuring none of the Directors determine their own
remuneration.

During FY 2024/25, the Remuneration Committee held two
meetings. The work of the Remuneration Committee included:

(i) reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of Directors
and senior management;

(i) reviewed and recommended the annual emoluments of
Directors to the Board for approval; and

(i) assessed the performance of executive Directors, reviewed
and recommended the annual bonus for executive Directors
to the Board for approval.

Details of remuneration of Directors are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 23 July 2013
with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The
Audit Committee consists of all four independent non-executive
Directors. The current members are Mr. Ho Chiu Yin Ivan
(chairperson), Mr. Tsui Ka Wah, Mr. Kan Yau Wo and Mr. Lee Chung
Yiu Johnny. Mr. Ho holds the appropriate professional qualifications
as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among others,
() making recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditors; (i) reviewing
the financial statements, risk management and internal control
systems; and (iii) overseeing the financial reporting and the
effectiveness of the internal control procedures.

During FY 2024/25, the Audit Committee held two meetings. The
work of the Audit Committee included:

()  reviewed the audited financial statements and annual results
announcement for the year ended 31 March 2024;

(i) reviewed the unaudited financial statements and interim
results announcement for the six months ended 30
September 2024; and

(i) reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's
internal audit function, as well as the risk management and
internal controls system.

The Group's audited financial statements and annual results
announcement for FY 2024/25 were reviewed by the Audit
Committee on 30 June 2025.

The committee members also met in separate session with the
external auditor without the presence of executive Directors.
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3.  Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 23 July
2013 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
The Nomination Committee consists of all four independent
non-executive Directors and one executive Director. The current
members are Mr. Kan Yau Wo (chairperson), Mr. Tsui Ka Wah, Mr.
Ho Chiu Yin Ivan, Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny and Ms. Chan Pui Yin
Apple.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board on regular
basis; to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members; to assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; and to make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors. In assessing
the suitability of a proposed candidate for directorship, the Board
will take into account the candidate’s qualification (including
professional qualifications, skill and knowledge), experience in
relation to the Group’s businesses and potential contribution that
can bring to the Company.

During FY 2024/25, the Nomination Committee held two meetings.
The work of the Nomination Committee included:

(i) reviewed the size, composition and diversity of the Board;

(i) assessed the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors;

(i) made recommendation to the Board on the re-election of
Directors at the annual general meeting; and

(iv)  nominate suitable candidates and made recommendation to
the Board on the appointment of new Directors.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiries to all Directors by the
Company, all Directors confirmed their compliance with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout FY 2024/25.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare
the financial statements that give a true and fair view of the Group's
financial position and of its financial performance and cash flow
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the
applicable disclosures provisions of the Listing Rules. The management
provides information and explanation to the Board to enable it to
make an informed assessment of the financial and other decisions by
the Board. Accordingly, appropriate accounting policies are selected
and applied consistently, and judgements and estimates made by
the management for financial reporting purpose are prudent and
reasonable.

The responsibilities of the external auditor for the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report
on pages 53 to 60 of this annual report.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services provided
by the Company’'s external auditor to the Group for FY 2024/25 are
approximately HK$1,453,000 (FY 2023/24: HK$1,425,000) and HK$25,000
(FY 2023/24: HK$25,000) respectively. The non-audit services primarily
include review of the Company’s preliminary result announcement.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has the overall responsibility for maintaining a sound and
effective system of internal controls and risk management within
the Group, and reviewing its operational adequacy and effectiveness
through the Audit Committee.

The Board has identified the top risks of the Group and determined how
much risk the Board is willing to take to achieve the Group's strategic
objectives. The Group’s risk management structure matches with the
“Three Lines of Defense” model. Each business unit assumes risk
management responsibilities as the first line of defense. The middle and
back offices, including finance and accounting, company secretarial
and human resources departments, set up relevant internal control
and management procedures as the second line of defense. They also
perform financial, operational and compliance monitoring as well as risk
management functions. The internal auditor of the Group (the “Internal
Auditor”), as the third line of defense, provides independent and
objective assurance on the overall effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control system.
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Each business unit, as risk owners, identifies, evaluates, and monitors
its own risks, and reports such risk assessment on a monthly basis. The
results of the risk assessments and changes of the risk exposure faced
by the Group will be consolidated and presented to the Board at each
regularly scheduled meeting.

The Board has established an “ESG working group” which is managed
by senior management, and is responsible for implementing the
environmental, social and governance (“ESG")-related strategies and
targets. In addition, the group periodically reports the ESG-related
matters to Board.

The Internal Auditor conducted reviews on systems of risk management
and internal controls of the Group over financial, operational and
compliance control according to the internal audit plan endorsed by
the Audit Committee. During the process of review, the Internal Auditor
identified internal control deficiencies and weakness, and proposed
recommendations for improvements and remedial actions with
management. The results of internal control review and management’s
remedial actions have also been reported to the Audit Committee at
each regularly scheduled meeting.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal controls system. The
review, which cover all material control areas including financial,
compliance and risk management functions, has been carried out
annually. During the review, the Audit Committee also considered the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting function and their training
programmes and budgets.

The Board, through the review by the Audit Committee and the ESG
working group, considers that the Group’s internal control and risk
management system for FY 2024/25 is effective and adequate. No
significant areas of concern that may affect the financial, operational,
compliance controls, and risk management functions of the Group
have been identified. The systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or 10ss.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has adopted and implemented its own disclosure policy
aiming to provide a general guide to Directors and management of the
Company in handling of confidential information and/or monitoring of
information disclosure pursuant to applicable laws and regulations in
compliance with the Listing Rules and SFO.

The disclosure policy provides the procedures and internal controls
for the handling and dissemination of inside information by publication
of the announcement to the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange on a timely basis to enable the public, namely Shareholders,
institutional investors, potential investors and other stakeholders of the
Company to access the latest information of the Group, unless such
information fall within the safe harbours with the SFO.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Whistleblowing Policy was adopted by the Company on January
2023. It provides employees and the relevant third parties who deal
with the Group (e.g. customers, suppliers, creditors and debtors)
with guidance and reporting channels on reporting any suspected
improprieties in any matters related to the Group addressed to the Chief
Executive Officer. All reported matters will be investigated independently
and, all information received from a whistleblower and its identity will be
kept confidential.

The Board will regularly review the Whistleblowing Policy and
mechanism to improve its effectiveness.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Anti-Corruption Policy was adopted by the Company on January
2023 to ensure the Directors and employees within the Group comply
with the Hong Kong Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and other
applicable laws and regulations. The policy sets out the integrity and
conducts requirements which applies to all Directors and employees of
the Group at all levels, and external parties doing businesses with the
Group and those acting in an agency or fiduciary capacity on behalf of
the Group.

The Board will review the policy from time to time to ensure that it
remains appropriate.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communications with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The
Company also recognises the importance of transparency and timely
disclosure of corporate information, which will enable Shareholders and
investors to make informed investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company are expected to provide a forum
for communication between the Board and Shareholders. The chairman
of the Board as well as chairmen of the board committees and, in their
absence, other members of the respective committees are available
to answer questions at shareholder meetings. The Company’s external
auditor is also invited to attend the annual general meeting to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and
content of the Independent Auditor’s Report.
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To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.grandming.com.hk, where information and updates on the
Group's business developments and operations, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for
public access.

The Company has established a shareholders’ communication policy
which is posted on the Company's website and will review it on a regular
basis to ensure its effectiveness. The Company considers that the
shareholders’ communication policy was effectively implemented during
FY 2024/25 with the above measures in place.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

1. Convening Extraordinary General Meetings (“EGM")
The following procedures for Shareholders to convene an EGM of
the Company are prepared in accordance with the Articles:

()  One or more Shareholders (“Requisitionist(s)”) holding, at
the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of
voting at general meetings, shall have the right, by written
notice, to require an EGM to be called by the directors for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

(i) Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company by post to the
Company's headquarters in Hong Kong at 22/F, Railway
Plaza, No. 39 Chatham Road South, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong, or by email to info@grandming.com.hk.

(i) The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition.

(iv) If the Board fails to proceed to convene the EGM within
21 days of such deposit, the Requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
Requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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2.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meetings

(i)

Proposal for election of a person other than a Director as a
Director:

A shareholder may propose a person other than a retiring
Director (“Candidate”) for election as a Director at a
general meeting by lodging the following documents at
the headquarters of the Company in Hong Kong or the
Company'’s branch share registrar and transfer office in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services limited, on 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong:

(@) a written notice (“Proposal Notice") of the intention
to propose the Candidate for election as a Director,
which must (i) state the information of the Candidate
as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules,
which is available on the Stock Exchange's website
(www.hkex.com.hk) and (ii) must be signed by
Shareholder; and

(b)  a written notice (“Consent Notice") by the Candidate,
which must (i) indicate his/her willingness to be
elected as a Director and consent to the publication
of his/her personal information as required by Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, and (ii) must be signed by
the Candidate.

The Proposal Notice and the Consent Notice shall be lodged
for a period of at least 7 clear days commencing no earlier
than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting and ending no later than 7 clear days before the
date of such general meeting.

Other Proposals:

If a Shareholder wishes to make other proposals (the
“Proposal(s)”) at a general meeting, he/she may lodge
a written request, duly signed, at the head office of the
Company in Hong Kong.

The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the Shareholder
concerned at the general meeting varies according to the
nature of the Proposal as follows:

(@ Notice of not less than 21 clear days in writing if
the Proposal requires approval in an annual general
meeting of the Company.
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(b)  Notice of not less than 14 clear days in writing if the
Proposal requires approval in an extraordinary general
meeting of the Company.

3. Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to
the Board
Shareholders may send their enquiries in writing with their
detailed contact information to the company secretary of the
Company or the Board either by:

(i)  Post to the Company’'s headquarters in Hong Kong at 22/F,
Railway Plaza, No. 39 Chatham Road South, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong; or

(i Email to info@grandming.com.hk

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During FY 2024/25, the Company did not amend its constitutional
document.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary supports the chairman, the Board and the board
committees by ensuring good information flow and Board policy and
procedures are followed. The company secretary is an employee of
the Company and is appointed by the Board. The company secretary
reports to the chairman and chief executive officer. All directors may call
upon him for advice and assistance at any time in respect of his duties.
The company secretary has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training. The biographical details of the company secretary
are shown on page 37 of this annual report.
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B EEMER S

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

IBDO

E:F : +852 2218 8288
{HE : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

To the shareholders of Grand Ming Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Grand
Ming Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 61 to 159 which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash
flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 3(b) in the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of HK$292,055,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2025 and as at 31 March 2025, the Group had
net current liabilities of HK$3,771,071,000. These conditions, along with
other matters set forth in note 3(b), indicate that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described
in the "Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern” section, we have
determined that matters described below to be the key audit matters to
be communicated in our report.

Valuation of investment properties and investment
properties under development

Investment properties consist of a commercial shop and two data
centres whilst investment properties under development consist of two
other data centres under construction. As disclosed in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements, the carrying amount of the Group's
investment properties and investment properties under development
at fair value are amounted to HK$6,489,000,000 at 31 March 2025,
representing 71% of the Group's total assets.

As disclosed in note 15(a) to the consolidated financial statements, an
independent firm of qualified professional valuer (the “Valuer”) was
engaged to perform the valuation. Discounted cash flow method of the
income approach, market comparison method and residual method
were used to determine the fair value of the investment properties and
investment properties under development, respectively. Details of these
valuation approaches are disclosed in note 15(a) to the consolidated
financial statements. These methods involve the making of assumptions,
which involve significant judgments, and estimates applied, including
estimated market rental growth rate, occupancy rate, estimated costs of
completion, capitalisation rate as well as discount rate.

Related disclosures are included in notes 4(e)(i), 5(@) and 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Valuation of investment properties and investment
properties under development (continued)

Our responses:

Our audit procedures in relation to assessing the appropriateness of
valuation of investment properties and investment properties under
development included:

- evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
Valuer;

- assessing the appropriateness and consistency of the use of the
valuation methodology with relevant accounting requirements and
industry norms,

- using auditor's expert to assist in assessing the valuation
methodology and key assumptions used by the Valuer,

- evaluating the reasonableness of key assumptions adopted in the
valuation, in particular capitalisation rates, by comparing them
with historical rates and available market data;

- performing analysis on the reasonableness of the prospective
cash flows input to evaluate the results on the valuation; and

- checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and relevance of the
prospective cash flows input on existing leases by agreeing the
rental income and lease terms to the signed lease agreements.

Assessment of net realisable values of properties under
development and held for sale

The Group had properties under development and held for sale of
approximately HK$926,076,000 and HK$556,493,000, respectively, as at
31 March 2025.

The properties under development and held for sale are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. The determination of the net
realisable values of the properties under development and held for sale
of the Group is highly dependent on management’s judgments and
estimates, including the expected selling prices in the ordinary course of
business, the estimated selling expenses and the estimated costs to be
incurred to completion.

FREZEE (E
REMERERPREVMENGE (B

H B -
PN EREVERERTREYEMGEZ
BEMENEZEFEE !

—  FHEEEMNER ENMNEEML

— FMAERAEDZEBEREAERMITE
REABEMEN—2E S

— ERAZEEN 2 B R B 5T B B ER A
EHE S EMEERR ;

— HMEERREEZIERRMNEGEM L
HENEARCIER  BBRELLERNA
RSB RETLE ;

— HREARESRERANGEMETIN
DEHMEEESER s &

— BERRFESBANBERREECRENHE
EWZEM—B mER S NRERANR
ERANERESAENERENER
Mo

FE
RZE-_AF=-HB=+—H> EEE%EA
926,076,00078 7T = & J& *1 ) 2£ 52556,493,00078 7T
ZREBEHEYE-

ERDARTAFHEY RN AL T % E
MEPHREEIR RE EEEERP NG
BEHEMENA I FERREERRNE
ERRFENGE S EERFBRERNTEDR
EE TETHEBRAUKRTETE T -

55

EEAEEERBRAT 2024/25%



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

BIZHBEHRS (&

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Assessment of net realisable values of properties under
development and held for sale (continued)

The Group engaged independent firms of qualified professional valuer
(the “Valuers”) to assess the net realisable values of the properties
under development and held for sale based on prevailing market
conditions and information available at the reporting date, so as to assist
management in assessing whether any write-down of the properties
under development and held for sale to their net realisable values is
required.

We focused on this matter due to the magnitude of the balances
involved and the significant accounting judgments and estimates
required.

Related disclosures are included in notes 4(i), 5(b) and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

our responses:

Our audit procedures in relation to assessing the appropriateness of
assessment of net realisable values of properties under development
and held for sale included:

- evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
Valuers;

- assessing the appropriateness and consistency of the use of the
valuation methodology with relevant accounting requirements and
industry norms;

- using auditor's expert to assist in assessing the valuation
methodology and key assumptions used by the Valuers; and

- assessing certain key assumptions and estimates including,
among others, (i) the expected selling prices of the properties
under development and held for sale by comparing the expected
selling prices to, among others, the recent transaction prices for
similar properties or the prices of comparable properties; (i) the
estimated selling expenses by comparing the historical average
selling expenses to revenue ratio or to other relevant information;,
and (i) the estimated costs to be incurred to completion for
properties under development by checking the estimated costs
against budgets approved by management and examined, on a
sample basis, relevant construction contracts and other reliable
evidence available.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

BIZHBEHRS (&

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

BIZHBEHRS (&

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

BIZHBEHRS (&

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the group financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the work performed for the
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

%%ﬁﬁ%&ﬁé%ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%mﬁﬁ
=,
c REEERAUSECEAEROGHE
SEBE WREDERNBE RS QK
EEAY BEERBECENENBRE
KRR TE MR E 1R U e © 5 13 AR 45 23
AGEEATREN RMBRZBMR
SRRETIERAMBRERNAME
KB BEMKETE AETRANE
RoRMNERDENRBEERMHRE D
B LA S BB R R B4 IS
REAEEN BEETEAARAECEN
B

o FMERGUBRE (BEBENKRE NERE
FIHRA N RIBERAD  URGREMBRE
EEREFBERMRZREER-

o FERIITEERSFSSUREERNERIE
BEUNMBENENTEEENER
BOUAHERMBRERERERNE
H-RMEaERE EENBRMNERSE
BEMATH I - RMARBFTERKE

EHEE-

HPIREZZES ) (HPERE) FZITFEE
HE - FEZHREREZER (BERMANE
1232 B R ER B EE R R B K ERFG) #E1T
B

HZATOEZZESFHER EHRMERET
ERBIENERER UMMARSERSA
SERERMINBIIMERIG  EtEERERD
giEM NER) HEREZEGETER

tIEEERERAT 2024/2558 D9



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

BIZHBEHRS (&

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yau Shuk Yuen Amy
Practising Certificate Number P06095

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

FAEER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BHEE_AF=-A=+—HIFE GV

2025 2024
“E-HE =S 8= 5
Notes $’000 $°000
=3 FT FT
Revenue & /@) 1,145,755 532,691
Direct costs BEMA (813,037) (364,126)
Gross profit EF 332,718 168,565
Other income and gains/(losses), net HthR A KW a (B518) ‘P28 7() (33,841) 6,123
Selling expenses HEME (299,583) (50,387)
General and administrative expenses —MRRITE R (48,057) (72,666)
Changes in fair value of investment KREYEZ AT EES
properties 15 (120,697) 384,163
(Loss)/profit from operations B (5518 EA (169,460) 435,798
Finance costs E?J AL A 8(@a) (96,811) (122,667)
(Loss)/profit before taxation pRIAT (B518) EF) 8 (266,271) 313,131
Income tax expenses FriSti sz Aa) (25,784) (14,681)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (§518) 5F) (292,055) 298,450
HK cents HK cents
M B
(Loss)/earnings per share =ik (518 B 14(a)
- Basic - &R (20.56) 21.02
- Diluted -8 (20.56) 21.00

Details of the dividends are disclosed in note 13(a) to the consolidated BB B IEE N iZ A B IR EE13(@)

financial statements.

The notes on pages 68 to 159 form part of these consolidated financial ~ 5568ZE 1598 FR & s BN AN dr & B 75 = — 2P
statements. 7o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ek EMEETER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HEE_AF=A=1+—HIFE CU&TmD)

2025 2024
—TZRE =S ¢ 5
Notes $’000 $°000
g3 F FT
(Loss)/profit for the year F£R (§518) EF ~ (292,055) 298,450
Other comprehensive income FREMZEKES
for the year 10
Item that will not be reclassified FEEWM S EEEmES -
subsequently to profit or 10ss:
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAEMEERE
other comprehensive income TREE-ATEREN
- net movement in fair value reserve ey (192) 462
Items that may be reclassified BB gEE#T 7 E 18 B}
subsequently to profit or 0ss: =)=
Exchange differences on translation MEBINETERE B E 2R
of foreign operations (3,104) (6,142)
Cash flow hedges - net movement BeEnsfh—Hh@EEN
in hedging reserve FEE) (12,277) 5,986
o (5381 (156).
Other comprehensive income FRHEHMEEKE  NRRIE
for the year, net of tax ~ (15573) 306
Total comprehensive income FREZEKEEEE
for the year (307,628) 298,756

The notes on pages 68 to 159 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FAEMBIRRER

As at 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

N_E-RHEFEZB=+—H CUBAIm)

2025 2024
—E_RE BN
Notes $’000 $°000
Jiog=3 FiT FT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Fixed assets EEEE
- Investment properties — REYE 15 6,489,000 5,950,000
- Property, plant and equipment —ME -BENKE 15 749,884 816,284
7,238,884 6,766,284
Deferred tax assets IR IR E E 9(c) 87,883 81,013
Intangible assets BREE 500 500
Derivative financial instruments TTEEMTHE 22 355 12,103
Financial assets at fair value through BAFESAHEMEZEREZ
other comprehensive income THEE 9,935 10,127
Financial assets at fair value through BATEFABRZSHEE
profit or loss - 10,476
7,337,557 6,880,503
Current assets MENEE
Inventories of properties MEEE 16 1,482,569 1,773,757
Trade and other receivables B U AR 0 e ELAth P U R I8 18 93,249 161,196
Derivative financial instruments TEEMT A 22 397 923
Current tax assets FERIRIEE = 2,332 2,445
Restricted and pledged deposits ZRGI % BIRIREFER 79 146,607 504,859
Cash and bank balances RERIRTTARR 79 33,624 62,562
_ 1758778 2505742
Current liabilities REaE
Trade and other payables FEAT BR T R EL M FE (S FUIE 20 412,613 167,223
Contract liabilities HH8E 17 37,797 24,937
Bank loans RITER 21 5,066,492 1,657,064
Current tax liabilities FENIRIBEE 12,947 274,648
5529849 2123872
Net current (liabilities)/assets wEE (BB BE - @B771,071) 381,870
Total assets less current liabilities 4B ERGIEE 3,566,486 7,262,373
tRSEEZERERAT 2024/258% O3



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

FEMBURRR (@)

As at 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

A B RE=ZA=1+—H GBI

2025 2024
—ERE B O4E
Notes $’000 $°000
K&t FT FT
Non-current liabilities JEREIEE
Bank loans RITER 21 162,969 4,183,866
Deferred tax liabilities EIERRIEEE 9c) 98,798 88,701
Derivative financial instruments TTEEMITA 22 2,428 -
Loan from ultimate holding company REREERRBIZEMR 23 36,800 36,800
Loans from controlling shareholder FEERKREZER 24 544665 -
845,660 4,309,367
NET ASSETS BEFE 2,720,826 2,953,006
CAPITAL AND RESERVES R R E
Share capital f& s 25 14,202 14,202
Reserves E] 2,706,624 2,938,804
TOTAL EQUITY s 2,720,826 2,953,006
On behalf of the Board REREEE
Chan Hung Ming Lau Chi Wah
R FLBE BEE
Director Director
EE EF

The notes on pages 68 to 159 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

n‘7|' | ‘"-‘-’-&E‘Jﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z_AF=A=+—HLEFE UETIIT

Share Fair Capital
Share Share option value  Hedging contribution  Exchange  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits equity
FE AT
Rkt ROEE fhie fE  HAEE ERIAGE  NERE  REEN L 4
Notes S Somw S Sow St Sow Somw S Somw
i3 i i i i i i i 7 7
At 1 April 2023 RZEZ=£mA-A o 14,@87 o 7972,97337 o 13,77237 o (738775)7 o 748791 777777 - (78%3)7 - 72}@@67 - 727,9871,87337
Profit for the year A S S S - - - 298,450 298,450
Other comprehensive income B2 ElE 0 - - - 42 5986 - (6,142) - 306
Total comprehensive income  EAZENGEE
fortheyeer - - - b S8 - kM M0 BT
Dividends approved in respect  B#t 2 LEERS
of the previous year 130) - - - - - - - (284,004) (284,004)
Dividends approved in respect Bt 2 AEERS
of the current year 136 = = = = = S - (56,809) (56,809)
Transfer on lapse of share RERBELANER
options - - (1,334) S S - - 1,334 -
Share-hased payment expenses MR R L M 2B% - - 11631 - - - - - 11631
Shares issued upon exercise  TEBREG TR
0f share options 4 2112 (497 - - - - - 1619
At31March2024and  RZEZME=A=+-H
1 April 2024 k=E-MmERA-A w02 %505 2353 (3413) 10877 - (4985 2827757 2,953,006
Loss for the year EREE = = = = = = - (292085 (292,085)
Other comprehensive income ~ E 2 EE 100) = - - (192) (12,217) - (3,104) - (15,573)
Total comprehensive income A2 ENEAE
for the year - - - (192) (12,277) - (3104)  (292,055)  (307,628)
Deemed capital contribution  BAERRREEE
from controling shareholder ] - - - - - 75,448 - - 75,448
At 31 March 2025 R-%-55ZB=+- 8202 95045 2353 (3605 (1400 7548 (18089) 2535700 2720826
The notes on pages 68 to 159 form part of these consolidated financial ~ $F68FE159E &Mzt BN A ix S B F5 iR K — 20

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_ZE_AF=A=F+—HIFE GBI

2025 2024
—EZRE B O4E
Notes $’000 $°000
g3 FiT FT
Operating activities EiEEE
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRIG AT (B598) @A (266,271) 313,131
Adjustments for: MUTEZIBEHAE .
- Interest income —FI B A 7(d) (8,127) (9,919)
- Dividend income from unlisted fund —JFFLEMBREEENREWA
investments 7(a) (722) (722)
- Net foreign exchange loss —SMNERIFEIE 1,103 9,256
- Changes in fair value of financial assets —#2AFEFFABREZ
at fair value through profit or loss EHEEZ ATEEE 7(d) - (707)
— Gain on disposal of property, plantand ~ —HEYE KR K& E 2 WG
equipment /() - ©))
- Impairment losses on property, plant —E - -BERFZENRERIE
and equipment 7(a) 45,430 -
— Finance costs — PR A 8(@) 96,811 122,667
— Depreciation —iTE 8(c) 21,258 21,913
— Write-down of inventories of properties  —#)%%E 5 2 A 8(c) 189,817 20,296
- Impairment loss reversal on trade — FEURBR FR A R (& (o] 438
receivables 8(c) (50) (655)
— Changes in fair value of investment —RKEVMEQNTFEED
properties 15 120,697 (384,163)
— Share-based payment expenses — UMMz 34 - 11,631
Operating profit before working EEESEHANEELHET
capital changes 199,946 102,725
Changes in working capital: EEEEZE
— Decrease in inventories of properties —RYEEFES 204,215 35,642
- Decrease in contract assets — B LENEE - 46,317
- Decrease in trade and other receivables  —ipi/ FEURBR FUR
HihEWRIE 67,820 72,400
- Decrease/(increase) in restricted deposits —igt/L  (1&00) S EREITER 12,865 (10,993)
- Increase/(decrease) in trade and other ~ —3&810, 7 GRi/L) FEBR =R EAth
payables FE{S=RIE 245,390 (30,571)
— Increase in contract liabilities —ZBmEenas 12,860 23,932
Cash generated from operations EEEENRSE 743,096 239,452
Income tax paid 2 RIE (281,720) (1,049)
Net cash generated from operating  &3E;EEFIISIREFEE
activities 461,376 238,403
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BEZTAF=A=1+—HIFE CUETIIT)

2025 2024
—EZRE “ETpUE
Notes $’000 $°000
=3 FiT FT
Investing activities KREEH
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BBEY) R &% E (335) (1,267)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYZE F“%Ez%ﬁﬁ
plant and equipment R8T - 3
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets ﬁ‘iﬁ/zﬂiﬁzﬁ\}é“z
at fair value through profit or loss ERMEEMSMIA 10,476 -
Expenditure on investment properties KEVERS (482,531) (840,764)
Interest received BWFHIE 8,127 9,640
Dividends received from unlisted fund BRI ELHREESHRE
investments 722 722
Release of pledged deposits IRIBEFETER 370,871 7,103
Placement of pledged deposits GFECERETEX (25,484) (124,348)
Net cash used in investing activities &RZ;EEFIARSFEE ~ (118,154)  (948911)
Financing activities REES
Proceeds from bank loans RITEMPAEMIA 33 1,104,681 2,162,403
Proceeds from loan from ultimate KEREERABIER
holding company PSR 33 - 36,800
Proceeds from loans from controlling Y= P“Hxﬁy%éiﬂ
shareholder FrigsRT 33 607,498 -
Repayments of bank loans LaLfEhiéf?A 33 (1,716,150) (951,527)
Interest and other borrowing costs paid BENFEREMEERE 33 (368,156) (359,999)
Exercise of share options TEEBERE = 1,619
Dividends paid BARE 33 (1) (340,842)
Net cash (used in)/generated from RLEEE (FrA) PR
financing activities REFEE - (372128 548,454
Net decrease in cash and cash HERREEEWRLFEE
equivalents (28,906) (162,054)
Effect of foreign exchange rate SMNEEREHHIRERIRE
change on cash and cash EEMNTE
equivalents (32) (818)
cash and cash equivalents at the FYNRERINEEEY
beginning of the year 62,562 225,434
Cash and cash equivalents at the FRNRERREEEY
end of the year 79 33,624 62,562

The notes on pages 68 to 159 form part of these consolidated financial

Statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CRFRIFERRIN  LUBITEIT)

1.

68

GENERAL INFORMATION

Grand Ming Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the business of building construction, property leasing
and property development. The Company was incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands as an exempted company with limited liability
on 14 August 2012 under the Companies Law, Cap.22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman lIslands. The
Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 9
August 2013.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 28.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@) New standards, interpretations and amendments
adopted from 1 April 2024
The following amendments are effective for the annual
reporting period beginning 1 April 2024:

o Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7, Supplier Finance
Arrangements

o Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease Liability in Sale and
Leaseback

o Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-Current

° Amendments to HKAS 1, Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

o Amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised),
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

Adoption of these amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards had no material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

New standards, interpretations and amendments
not yet effective

There are a number of standards, amendments to standards,
and interpretations which have been issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”")
that are effective in future accounting periods that the Group
has decided not to adopt early.

The following amendments are effective for the annual
reporting period beginning 1 January 2025:

. Amendments to HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1, Lack of
Exchangeability

The following amendments are effective for the annual
reporting period beginning 1 January 2026:

° Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7, Amendments
to the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments

. Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7, Contracts
Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity
o Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards

—Volume 11

The following new standards are effective for the annual
reporting period beginning 1 January 2027:

. HKFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

o HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:
Disclosures

The Group is currently assessing the effect of these new
accounting standards and amendments.
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2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(b) New standards, interpretations and amendments
not yet effective (continueaq)

70 GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which was issued by the HKICPA in July
2024 supersedes HKAS 1 and will result in major
consequential amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards including HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation of
Financial Statements (renamed from Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors).
Even though HKFRS 18 will not have any effect on
the recognition and measurement of items in the
consolidated financial statements, it is expected to
have a significant effect on the presentation and
disclosure of certain items. These changes include
categorisation and sub-totals in the statement of profit
or loss, aggregation/disaggregation and labelling of
information, and disclosure of management-defined
performance measures.

The adoption of HKFRS 19 is optional. HKFRS 19
specifies the disclosure requirements that an entity
is permitted to apply to substitute the disclosure
requirements in other HKFRS Accounting Standards.
The Company's shares are listed and traded in The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Therefore, it has
public accountability according to HKFRS 19 and does
not qualify for electing to apply the standard to prepare
its financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION

3.

(@)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (‘HKASS") and
Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
"HKFRS Accounting Standards”) issued by the HKICPA.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) including the disclosure provisions of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis of measurement and going concern basis
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis except for certain properties
and financial instruments, which are measured at fair values
as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The Group incurred a net loss of $292,055,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2025 and as at 31 March 2025, the Group
had net current liabilities of $3,771,071,000. At 31 March
2025, the Group's bank loans that are repayable on demand
or within twelve months after the reporting date amounted
to $5,066,492,000 whilst the Group only had cash and bank
balances amounted to $33,624,000 as of the same date. In
assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and the appropriateness of the use of the going concern
basis of accounting to prepare the consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company (the “Directors”)
gave careful considerations to the future performance and
liquidity of the Group based on a cash flow forecast covering
18 months from the end of the reporting period that takes
account of the following:
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of measurement and going concern basis
(continued)

3.

72

(b)

(i)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group was not in compliance
with certain financial covenants of certain banking
facilities. The bank loans drawn down under the related
banking facilities amounted to an outstanding amount
of $4,686,925,000 as of 31 March 2025, of which bank
borrowings of $4,313,943,000 were scheduled for
repayment beyond 31 March 2026 in accordance with
the loan agreements. Under the relevant bank loan
agreements, such non-compliance of covenants may
result in the entire bank borrowings of $4,686,925,000
becoming immediately due and payable upon demand
by the banks. No waiver was obtained from the lenders
for the Group’s non-compliance with the relevant
financial covenants before the end of the reporting
period. Consequently, the non-current portion of the
bank borrowings amounting to $4,313,943,000, which
had original contractual repayment dates beyond 31
March 2026, was reclassified as current liabilities.

Management had proactively negotiated with the
relevant banks to obtain waivers for the Group’s non-
compliance with the relevant financial covenants as
at 31 March 2025. Up to the date of authorisation for
issuance of these consolidated financial statements,
the Group has successfully obtained waivers on the
non-compliance of the relevant financial covenant
from the relevant banks in respect of bank borrowings
amounting to $2,521,649,000.

Based on communications with the relevant banks,
they have not notified the Group to, and the Directors
are not aware of any intention of the relevant banks to
withdraw their banking facilities or demand immediate
repayment of the outstanding bank borrowings due to
non-compliance with the financial covenants, provided
that the Group continued to repay interests and loan
principal in accordance with the scheduled repayment
dates. Additionally, the Directors believe that these
banks would continue to renew the existing banking
facilities and make the respective uncommitted
banking facilities available to the Group;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of measurement and going concern basis
(continued)

3.

(b)

(if)

(iii)

The Group will continue to monitor its compliance
with the covenants of the bank borrowings. The Group
remains committed to stringent monitoring of financial
covenant adherence across all borrowings. In the event
of potential non-compliance, the management will
proactively engage lenders to re-negotiate terms or
seek waivers to mitigate the risks;

The Group is contemplating the potential disposal
of certain assets to enhance its liquidity and reduce
indebtedness. On 19 June 2025, the Group received
a letter of interest from a potential purchaser for
the acquisition of the entire equity interests of two
subsidiaries, namely Regal Development Limited
and Golden Ford Limited (collectively “Target
Companies”). The Target Companies are the sole
beneficial owners of their respective land parcels
situated in Fanling, the New Territories, upon where
two high-tier data centres are currently under
development. Further details are disclosed in the
Company's announcement dated 19 June 2025;

Should the divestments materialize, the net
proceeds will enable the Group to reduce its overall
indebtedness and enhance the Group's working
capital, thereby strengthening its financial position;

The Directors believe that the Group would generate
sustained operating cash flows through rental income
from the property leasing segment and sales proceeds
from the property development segment. The Group
will continue to implement plans and measures to
accelerate sales of the remaining completed properties
held for sales, and to speed up the collection of
rentals,

As at the date of authorisation for issuance of
these consolidated financial statements, the Group
has unutilised credit facilities of approximately
$272,000,000 available to support on-going
development of its various property development
projects. The Directors believe that these credit
facilities will remain available, based on the rationale
outlined in note 3(b)(i) above; and
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

3.

74

(b)

Basis of measurement and going concern basis

(continued)

(vij The Group had property development projects in
progress. The pre-sale of these projects are expected
to be launched during the forecast period. The Group
has already initiated sales and marketing activities
and begun with the preparation of the necessary
documents for the pre-sale. The Directors are therefore
of the view that the property development projects will
be able to generate operating cash flow to the Group in
the forecast period.

In the opinion of the Directors, taking into account the
above plans and measures, the Group will have sufficient
working capital to finance its operation and meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due. Accordingly,
the Directors consider that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, the use of the going concern
basis depends on successful implementation of the
aforementioned plans and measures. There are uncertainties
inherently associated with their future outcomes, including
(i) successful negotiation with the banks to obtain waivers,
ensuring that existing bank borrowings are repaid in
accordance with the agreed repayment schedules and the
unutilised credit facilities remain available to the Group; (ii)
successful divestment of part of the Group’s data centre
leasing business; (iii) sales of the Group’s completed
properties can be materialised; and (iv) successful launch
of the pre-sale of the property development projects. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, and therefore, that it may be
unable to realise its assets or discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write
down the carrying value of the Group's assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and
non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIEEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(€)

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Inter-company transactions and balances between group
companies together with unrealised profits are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in
which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able
to exercise control. The Company controls an investee if all
three of the following elements are present: (i) power over
the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
the investee, and (iii) the ability to use its power to affect
those variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts
and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in
any of these elements of control.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at
fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is
positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges,
which is recognised in other comprehensive income and
later reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item
affects profit or loss (see note 4(d)).
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4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

76

(d)

Hedging

Cash flow hedges

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as
a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised
asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction
or the foreign currency risk of a committed future
transaction, the effective portion of any gains or losses on
remeasurement of the derivative financial instrument to fair
value are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the hedging reserve.
The ineffective portion of any gain or loss is recognized
immediately in profit or loss.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results
in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-financial
liability, the associated gain or loss is reclassified from equity
to be included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of
the non-financial asset or liability.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in
the recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability, the
associated gain or loss is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss in the same period or periods during which the asset
acquired or liability assumed affects profit or loss (such as
when interest income or expense is recognised).

When a hedging instrument expires, or is sold or terminated,
or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge
accounting, hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively,
any cumulative gain or loss remains in equity at that time
is accounted for according to the nature of the underlying
transactions (as discussed above) once the hedged cash
flow occurs. When a forecast transaction is no longer
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that has been
reported in equity is reclassified to profit or loss immediately.

Fixed assets

(i)  Investment properties and investment
properties under development
Investment properties are land and/or buildings which
are owned or held under a leasehold interest (see
note 4(f)) to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. These include land held for a currently
undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment

property.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Fixed assets (continued)

(€)

(i)

(i)

Investment properties and investment
properties under development (continuea)
Investment properties and investment properties
under development are stated at fair value, unless they
are still in the course of construction or development
at the end of the reporting period and their fair value
cannot be reliably measured at that time. Any gain
or loss arising from a change in fair value or from
the retirement or disposal of an investment property
is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from
investment properties is accounted for as described in
note 4(my(iii).

Other property, plant and equipment

Other property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see note 4(g)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as
to write off their cost net of expected residual value, if
any, over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis. The useful lives, residual value and depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
each end of the reporting period. The useful lives are
as follows:

Buildings 50 years
Plant and machinery 3-5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
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4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4.

78

(f)

Leased assets (f)
Accounting as a lessee

All leases are capitalised in the statement of financial
position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, except
for (i) leases which are short-term leases and/or (i) leases
for which the underlying asset is of low-value. The lease
payments associated with those leases have been expensed
on straight-line basis over the lease term. The Group
accounts for leasehold land and buildings that are held for
rental or capital appreciation purpose under HKAS 40 and
are carried at fair value. The Group accounts for right-of-use
assets related to interests in leasehold land which is held as
inventories of properties are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value.

Accounting as a lessor

The Group has leased out its investment properties to a
number of tenants. Rental income from operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as
an expense on the straight-line basis over the lease term
(see note 4(m)(iii)).

Impairment of assets (other than financial assets) (8)
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at

the end of each reporting period to identify indications that

the following assets may be impaired:

- fixed assets (other than properties carried at fair value);
and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company's
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)
(8) Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)
(continued)

(i)

(i)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units, are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

(h) Financial instruments

(M)

Financial assets

Trade receivables are initially recognised when they
are originated. All regular way purchases and sales
of financial assets are recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. All other financial assets are initially
recognised when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is initially
measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade
receivable without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.
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Debt instruments that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at
amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method. Interest income,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or 10ss on
derecognition is recognised in profit or 0ss.

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is
not held for trading, the Group could irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI").
This election is made on an investment-by-investment
basis. Equity investments at FVOCI are measured at
fair value. Dividend income are recognised in profit
or loss unless the dividend income clearly represents
a recovery of part of the cost of the investments.
Other net gains and losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income and are not reclassified to
profit or loss. All other equity instruments are classified
as fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), whereby
changes in fair value, dividends and interest income
are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit loss (“ECL") on trade receivables and other
financial assets measured at amortised cost.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall
is then discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

(h)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)
The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and
has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLS. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, ECLS are based on
the 12-month ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLS.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group's historical
experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30
days past due.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit
impaired. A financial asset is “credit-impaired” when
one or more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit
impaired includes the following observable data:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract such as a default or being
more than 90 days past due;
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4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

82

(h)

(i)

(iir)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not
consider otherwise;

- it is probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties.

The Group considers that a default event occurs when:
(1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if any is held); or (2)
the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at
amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets through a loss allowance
account. The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is written off when the Group has no reasonable
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its
entirety or a portion thereof. However, financial
assets that are written off could still be subject to
enforcement activities in order to comply with the
Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially
measured at fair value, net of directly attributable costs
incurred.

These liabilities including trade and other payables,
bank loans and loans from ultimate holding company
and controlling shareholder, are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using effective interest
method. The related interest expense is recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy for borrowing
COsts (see note 4(q)).

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FREFRIEEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Financial instruments (continued)
(iv) Equity instruments

)

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
Costs.

Derecognition

The Group generally derecognises a financial asset
when the contractual rights to the future cash flows in
relation to the financial asset expires.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

(i) Inventories of properties
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value as follow:

(i)

(i)

Properties under development

The cost of properties under development comprises
specifically identified cost, including acquisition cost
of land, aggregate cost of development, materials
and supplies, wages and other direct expenses, an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing
costs capitalised. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price less estimated costs
of completion and costs to be incurred in selling
the properties. On completion, the properties are
transferred to properties held for sales.

Properties held for sales

The cost of completed properties for sale comprises
the costs of those completed units transferred from
properties under development and where applicable,
all costs of purchase and other costs incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price, based on prevailing market
conditions, less estimated costs to be incurred in
selling the properties.
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4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

84

()

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Share-based payment transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to share option
reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will
be transferred to share capital and share premium. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
retained profits.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

4.

FE

()

GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

BEHBUR (&

BERF

W FEA BERER REHRR
SR B IF S BRI A5 R
BIRHAMRB EE A R o IR
IRREELEREALE RS
SRR ERETIR

LRBEASZ 2Rz
S2ERKRHAHMRUBEREZ AT
EMEEMBRBZRTE TR
BEILIBRERERRS W #E (B
IRtE e ARG -

REEREHR AEEEMHANRE
R EEEREHBE ZE5-B
WML BRI EE s 28 WA) it
B FESY > M RE B I EAEESR

o

BREEITER SRR BREREE
B2 R BB ERE KRN E
B-MERENRREEBRERRRKRT
P& m B R B R 1T 8 0 Se Rl B AR
RERERIZCERBEEFRER
o

FRiG1R
FFISIR 1A B EATR IR LUR IR AE AR
EEERBENES BIHRIEANKR
BIERIBE ERBENEEHNEm N
S ERANAEMEEREESNE
EREDERNEEBRERN £
LE1BR T - BRIRIRRIR 2 B R HAth
EEWEEE SN E RN S -

BRI IA TS R E FESR IR IR A R TRHAFE
BRE BREHAREAMHEL £
EEMIMEETE) URNEEER
BRIBER AR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax
credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities and all deferred tax assets, to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised. Future
taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
include those that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same
period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the
deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination) and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, and
temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries
to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the
Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable
that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable
that they will reverse in the future.
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4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

86

(k)

Income tax (continued)

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 4(e)
(i), the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using
the tax rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their
carrying value at the end of the reporting period. In all other
cases, the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement
of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Group or the Company intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered, intend to realise the current tax
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a
net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.
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4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits is remote.

Revenue and other income

(i)  Revenue from building construction
Revenue is recognised overtime as the Group's
performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs and is
recognised by reference to the stage of completion
measured based on the construction works performed,
which are certified by an independent professional
architect, relative to the remaining construction works
promised under the contract. Invoices are issued
according to contractual terms and are usually payable
within 30 days.

Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the
period in which they are incurred.

The Group has elected to apply the practical expedient
not to adjust the transaction price for the existence of
any significant financing component given the period
between the transfer of control of construction service
and the payment date is one year or less, whilst
retention receivables serves as an assurance that the
construction services performed comply with agreed-
upon specifications.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4. FTEIGHEK &
(m) Revenue and other income (continued) (m) WEREMEA @)

(i)  Revenue from building construction (continuecd) (i) 1EFEEZKm (&

The Group's construction contracts usually give rise
to variable consideration, which arises from variation
orders or claims. The Group estimates the amount
of consideration to which it will be entitled using the
expected value method as the variable consideration
usually associated with a range of possible
consideration amount. The Group would include an
estimate of variable consideration in the transaction
price only to the extent that it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognise will not occur when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration
is subsequently resolved. At the end of each reporting
period, the Group updates the estimated transaction
price (including updating its assessment of whether
an estimate of variable consideration is constrained)
to represent faithfully the circumstances present
at the end of the reporting period and the changes
in circumstances during the reporting period and
recognise corresponding adjustments as revenue (or
reductions of revenue).

Revenue from sales of properties

Revenue arising from the sale of properties is
recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of
profit or loss on the basis that control of the property
has been passed to the customer during the current
accounting period, which is the point in time when
the customer has the ability to direct the use of the
property and obtain substantially all the benefits of
the property. Deposits and instalments received on
properties sold prior to the date of revenue recognition
are included in the consolidated statement of financial
position under contract liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRMEE &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIEEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Revenue and other income (continueq)

(i)

(iir)

(iv)

Revenue from sales of properties (continued)

To the extent that the deposits and instalment received
from customers are regarded as providing a significant
financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognized
under that contract includes the interest accreted
on the contract liability under the effective interest
method during the period between the payment
date and the transfer of control of the property. The
discount rate applied is reflective of the rate in a
separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. The interest
is expensed as accrued unless it is eligible to be
capitalised in accordance with note 4(q).

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments
over the periods covered by the lease term. Lease
incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as
an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as
income in the accounting period in which they are
earned.

Rental related income

For investment property held primarily to earn rental
income, the Group enters as a lessor into lease
agreements that fall within the scope of HKFRS 16.
These agreements include certain services offered
to tenants and the Group has determined that these
services constitute distinct non-lease components
(transferred separately from the right to use the
underlying asset) and are within the scope of HKFRS
15. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the separate lease and revenue (non-lease)
components on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis.

4.
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4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Revenue and other income (continueq)

90

(iv)

)

(vi)

Rental related income (continued)

The Group arranges for certain services provided to
tenants of investment property included in the contract
the Group enters into as a lessor, to be provided by
third parties. The Group has determined that it controls
the services before they are transferred to tenants,
because it has the ability to direct the use of these
services and obtain the benefits from them. In making
this determination, the Group has considered that it
is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to
provide these specified services because it directly
deals with tenants’ complaints and it is primarily
responsible for the quality of the services. In addition,
the Group has discretion in establishing the price that it
charges to the tenants for the specified services.

Therefore, the Group has concluded that it is the
principal in providing service. The Group has also
concluded that these services represent a series of
daily services that are individually satisfied over time
because the tenants simultaneously receive and
consume the benefits provided by the Group. The
Group applied a practical expedient in HKFRS 15 to
recognise revenue in an amount to which the Group
has the right to invoice since the Group has the right
to consideration from a customer in an amount that
corresponds directly with the value to the customer of
the Group's performance completed to date.

Dividend income

Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the Group's right to receive payment
is established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using effective interest
method. Interest income on credit-impaired financial
assets is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e.
the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset. For non credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount.

4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIEEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n)

Contract liabilities

Contract liability represents the Group'’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration
is due) from the customer. If the considerations received
(including advances received from customers) exceeds the
revenue recognised to date under the output method, then
the Group recognises a contract liability for the difference.

Contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract, e.g. sales
commissions, are capitalised if the costs relate to revenue
which will be recognised in a future reporting period and the
costs are expected to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining
a contract are expensed when incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is recognised in
profit or loss when the revenue to which the asset relates is
recognised.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the end of the reporting period.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

92

(p)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the rates
approximating to those ruling when the transactions took
place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign operations
are translated at the rate ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
as exchange reserve. Exchange differences recognised in
profit or loss of group entities’ separate financial statements
on the translation of long-term monetary items forming
part of the Group's net investment in the foreign operation
concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as exchange reserve.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for
its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of
that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceased
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or
completed.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, the directors
are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results differ from these
estimates.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

5.

(@)

Valuation of investment properties and
investment properties under development

As described in note 15, investment properties and
investment properties under development are stated at fair
value based on valuation performed by an independent firm
of professional valuer.

In determining the fair value of investment properties and
investment properties under development, the valuer has
used a method of valuation which involves, inter-alia, certain
estimates including appropriate discount rate, capitalization
rate and expected market rental growth rate. In relying
on the valuation reports, management has exercised its
judgement and is satisfied that the method of valuation is
reflective of the current market conditions.

Estimated net realisable values of properties
under development and held for sale

Management reviews the net realisable value of the Group's
properties under development and held for sales at each
reporting date. Appropriate write-down to estimated net
realisable value is recognised in profit or loss when the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds its net realisable
value.

In determining whether write-down of properties under
development and held for sales is required, the Group
takes into consideration the intended use of the properties,
the estimated costs of completion and estimated costs
necessary to make the sale, the current market environment,
the estimated market value of the properties and/or the
present value of future cash flows expected to receive. If
the market environment/circumstances or estimated costs
of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the
sale changes significantly, resulting in a decrease in the
net realisable value of these properties interest, additional
write-down may be required. As at 31 March 2025, the
carrying amounts of properties under development and
held for sales are $1,482,569,000 (2024: $1,773,757,000)
(net of accumulated write-down of $256,173,000 (2024
$74,267,000)).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

5.

94

(€)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group reviews its property, plant and equipment for
indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period
according to accounting policies set out in note 4(g). The
recoverable amount is estimated based on projections of
future cash flows from the assets based on management’s
assignment of a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for assets which management
considers are likely to be recoverable through continuing
use or recent transaction prices of similar assets when
they are available and depreciated replacement cost when
appropriate for assets which management considers
are likely to be recoverable through a sales transaction.
If the estimation of recoverable amount is different, any
impairment will impact the profit or loss of the Group.

Going concern

As disclosed in note 3(b), the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
The appropriateness of using going concern basis is
assessed by the management after taking into consideration
all relevant available information about the future liquidity
and performance of the Group, including the operating cash
flow of the Group, the grant of waivers by the banks and
availability of the banking facilities in the foreseeable future,
successful divestment of part of the data centre leasing
business. Such assessment involves uncertainties. Actual
outcome could differ significantly and hence render the
adoption of the going concern basis inappropriate.
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6.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that are
used to make strategic decisions.

The Group has three reportable segments. The segments are
managed separately as each business offers different products
and services and requires different business strategies. The
following summary describes the operations in each of the
Group's reportable segments:

— Construction: construction of residential buildings,
commercial buildings and data centres

—  Property leasing: leasing of data centres and commercial
shops

—  Property development: development and sale of properties

Inter-segment transactions are priced with reference to prices
charged to external parties for similar transactions. Central income
and expenses are not allocated to the operating segments as
they are not included in the measure of the segment’s result that
is used by the chief operating decision-makers for assessment
of segment performance. Finance costs are not allocated to
segments because financing activities are the responsibility of the
Group's central treasury function.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s most senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

- Segment assets include all tangible, non-current and current
assets with the exception of investments in financial assets,
current and deferred tax assets and other corporate assets.
Segment liabilities include trade payables, accruals and
other current and non-current liabilities attributable to the
business activities of the individual segments and bank
borrowings managed directly by the segment managers.

- Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to income generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortization
of assets attributable to those segments.
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6.

96

SEGMENT REPORTING (continueq)

Segment revenue and results

DEES (&
() DEPURE R

Year ended 31 March 2025
BE_E_RE-A=1+—HIEE

Inter-
Property Property segment
Construction leasing development  elimination Total
B MEHRE MEER  DEEIEH HH
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
F F F F ¥
Revenue from external customers  RENPZEUE 13,721 281,976 850,058 - 1,145,755
Inter-segment revenue B 666,081 13,144 - (679,225) -
Segment revenue warsi G 679,802 295,120 850,058 (679,225) 1,145,755
Segment results DEEE 18,803 35,951 (145,158) (36,458) (126,862)
Unallocated other income and RAEREMBAR
gains/(losses), net Wi/ (§518) 358 8,980
Unallocated expenses AAEEH (51,578)
Finance costs IR A (96,811)
Loss before taxation FRIRATE 1R (266,271)
Year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NEZR=+-QHLEE
Inter-
Property Property segment
Construction leasing  development elimination Total
BE MERE MEER DB 4ast
$000 Sooo Sooo Sooo $ooo
F Fr F F F
Revenue from external customers — REIMNEE B iz 77,648 276,531 178,512 - 532,691
Inter-segment revenue AU 426,916 26,242 - (453,158) -
Segment revenue DU 504,564 302,773 178,512 (453,158) 532,691
Segment results DEEE 35,557 559,538 (70,144) (42,433) 482,518
Unallocated other income and RAREMBAK
gains/(losses), net Wi/ (518) 34 (2,374)
Unallocated expenses ROETH (45,053)
Changes in fair value of financial AT EABRZ
assets at fair value through SREENATEEE
profit or 10ss 707
Finance costs PSR A (122,667)
Profit before taxation PRIATER] 313,131
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6.
(b) Segment assets and liabilities

DEEE (&
(b)) NHEERER

2025 2024
—E_RE B4
$000 $000
FiT Fr
Segment assets DEEE

Construction BE 29,457 34,510
Property leasing MEMRE 7,080,292 6,562,851
Property development MEZRE 1,530,543 1,917,056
Total segment assets MOHEE 8,640,292 8,514,417
Other financial assets Hith&pEE 9,935 20,603
Deferred tax assets IR TEE 87,883 81,013
Current tax assets ENIRIEE E 2,332 2,445
Unallocated office premises KOEMAEYE 339,300 366,031

Unallocated head office and ROBEBERABREEEE
corporate assets 2,148 398,013
Unallocated cash and bank balances k2B IR& & IEITLER 14,445 3,723
Consolidated total assets REMEE 9,096,335 9,386,245

Segment liabilities nEaRE

construction e 649,747 444,458
Property leasing MERE 2,121,348 1,789,180
Property development MEER 1,166,492 1,523,197
Total segment liabilities woHasd 3,937,587 3,756,835
Current tax liabilities ERIEEE 12,947 274,648
Deferred tax liabilities FIEIRIE B 1A 98,798 88,701

Unallocated head office and IR AR REFEER
corporate liabilities 674,187 133,531
Unallocated bank loans KDBCIRITTER 1,651,990 2,179,524
Consolidated total liabilities =N ==} 6,375,509 6,433,239
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

A MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(R¥55EERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6. DEIRE (B
(c) Other segment information () HfhpEER
Property Property
Construction leasing development Unallocated Total
BE NERE NERR AR &t
2025 0 2025 0 2025 0 2025 0 2025 0
ZECRE CBRCWFE CZECRE CECME ZECRE CECNE ZBCRE CECNE ZRCRE CECNA
000 $000 5000 s000 $000 S000 5000 000 5000 st
i i R i FR T Fn FA B TR
Additions to non-current  FREFEEH B
segment assets 13 335 74 659,697 971,880 - 51 - 779 660,032 972,884
Depreciation e 219 195 224 29 1183 1179 19,632 0280 21258 2913
Impairment of property, 1% ERRE
plantand equipment  JEfE - - - - 27,204 - 18,226 - 45,430 -
(d) Geographic information d) @&FE
All of the Group’s revenue from external customers KEBMARBINBE W ETLR
are generated from customers located in Hong Kong. BAUNRESBNEF - MALE B4 A
Substantially all of the Group’s non-current assets are also MIERBBEERUNRETE AL R
located in Hong Kong. Therefore, no further analysis of BHMEERETE—D Do
geographical information is presented.
(e) Information about major customers e) ARAXrEEZERMER

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total

revenue of the Group is as follows:

BEMTERBRDERI0%NERZ
WezEdn ™ :

2025 2024

“E"RHE =Sl ) o= 5

$°000 $000

FiT FT

Customer AT ERAA N/A? 90,696
Customer B' ZFAB N/A? 75,697

U The revenue was derived from property leasing segment.

2 N/A - represent less than 10% for the year.

98 GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

! WaR B FEBEDER
g N/AFEDES 2 10%



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SEMBERRMEE &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

CRFFRISERRSN  LUBTTHIT)
6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

6.

DEWS

(f)  Timing of revenue recognition (f) Uz b0 BRE
Construction Property leasing Property development Total
B MERE MEER by
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
ZECRE CZTCNF ZECRE O ZZCME ZECRE SR ZECREE CECOMAE
$000 S0 $000 S0 $000 S0 $000 S0
FT F FT FT FT FT FT F
At apoint in time RE—BRE - - - - 850,058 178,512 850,058 178,512
Transferred over time BEEER 13,721 77,648 65,521 59,157 - - 79,242 136,805
Revenue from other sources BB NE - - 216,455 217374 - - 216,455 217374
13721 77,608 281,976 276,531 850,058 178512 1,145,755 532,691
7. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS/ 7. WEREMBARKE (85518 F

(LOSSES), NET

Revenue which is derived from the Group's principal activities and
other income and gains/(losses), net during the year is analysed as

follows:

(@) Disaggregation of revenue

8
FARBAERETEEXZHHIWNm R EMUL
ARz, (8518 BEANWT !

(@ Wz

2025 2024
—ERE —E_OF
$°000 $000
FiT FiT
Revenue from contract with customers ZEFHEMFEREZEDE155%
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HERNEE &G
Sales of properties YIEHE 850,058 178,512
Revenue from building construction FEF S W m 13,721 77,648
Rental related income FHEMEREWA 65,521 59,157
Revenue from other sources Hfth 2k RE U =
Rental income HEUWA 216,455 217,374
1,145,755 532,691
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CRFRIFERRIN  LUBITEIT)

7. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS/ 7. BWEKREMBARKE  (8518) /3
(LOSSES), NET (continued) % (B
(b) Unsatisfied performance obligations (b) KETEHONEME
As at 31 March 2025, the aggregate amount of the A E_REZRZ=+—H &EH
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance PEERESNETHHRENEEN
obligations under the Group's existing contracts is as follows: RZEHEAOT .
2025 2024
“EZRHE “ETpHE
$’000 $°000
FiT FT
Amounts expected to be recognised as TEHARESR AW m 2 &8 -
revenue:
Within one year —FR 283,469 129,611
After one year but within two years —FRBREMFR - 233,966
283,469 363,577
This amount represents revenue expected to be recognised & ZBIER R TER AR P L 88
in the future from sales and purchase agreements for sales ESNETBHNRGE AERRIRYE
of properties entered into with customers. The Group will BEREINTERREDTARWE -

recognise the expected revenue in the future when or as the
control of the property has been passed to customer.

(c) Details of contract liabilities () BHBEHFS
The Group has recognised the following revenue-related AEFCEDUTREHERZEGOE
contract liabilities: (=
2025 2024
—EZRE =S 8=
$°000 $000
FiT FT
Contract liabilities related to sales RIRMEHEEDN
of properties (note) AREE GE) 37,797 24,937
Note: i
Contract liabilities related to sales of properties arise from deposits BHNBEKBHEME TS MBREY
from sale of properties made by the customers while the control *XBEARNEFEHEAETER ZES8
of properties are yet to be passed. Such liabilities increase as a BREBYMETHAR ZAREE THHRE
result of contracts entered into with customers under the sales BETAAIMIEM o

arrangement before the completion of the underlying properties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

g A
b7y [ = |

MEBHRRIME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(R45REERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS/
(LOSSES), NET (continued)

7.

(d

Other income and gains/(losses), net

7.

Hﬂl%ﬁ}zﬁﬁﬂﬂ&)&&ﬂ&i&/ (B548) 3
% (B
(d) HMEARWE~ (B518) FE8

2025 2024
—E-REF “EIEF
$°000 $000
FiT FT
Bank interest income FRITH B WA 8,127 9,919
Dividend income from unlisted JFLEHREEEHREWA
fund investments 722 722
Net foreign exchange loss HhEE R ETIR (3,674) (13,053)
Forfeited deposits BRWETE 787 1,391
Changes in fair value of financial assets at ~ ##AF{Ezt ABHE 2 £/
fair value through profit or loss BEEZNTFEED = 707
Gain on disposal of property, HEME BEKRKEZ
plant and equipment & - 3
Impairment loss on property, ME-BEREREN
plant and equipment HEEE (45,430) -
Others Hith 5,627 6,434
(33,841) 6,123
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(R¥55EERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

8.

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

BRIRAT (5518) EF
FRIRAT (538) ERIBINR GEAO UT
KIE .

2025 2024
—EREF “EINAF
$°000 $000
FT Fir
(a) Finance costs B A
Interest on bank loans and other BTERKEMEETR R
borrowing 380,771 359,999
Less: Amount capitalised* B BRI (283,960) (237,332)
96,811 122,667

e The borrowing costs have been capitalised at 8.31% (2024: 4.69%

t0 7.98%) per annum.

(b) Staff costs (including directors’
remuneration)
Salaries, wages and other benefits
Share-based payment expenses
Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Less: Amount capitalised

(c) Other items

Cost of inventories recognised as
expenses

Direct operating expenses arising
from investment properties that
generated income

Impairment loss reversal on trade
receivables (note 18)

Sales commission

Write-down of inventories of properties

Depreciation (note 15)

Auditors’ remuneration

—audit services

— other services

e BEMAREEXRS331% (ZFE_/MF .
4.69%ZE7.98%) BAAL o

BTRA (BIFEEHH)
e TERHEMEF 115,150 117,773
MRMEREZ N Z2RX - 11,631
REHRER ARG E 2 HR
2,617 2,387
117,767 131,791
B BR{EEEE (67,590) 61,913)
50,177 69,878
Higg
WRARZZEEMAER
489,599 168,153
BEEAS WA ZIREY 2
EEZBEERSERE
120,574 118,111
JFE LA AR TR B O R [ 428
(H15£18) (50) (655)
HEME 272,102 17,580
WEGFE R 189,817 20,296
ITEE (Hfa#15) 21,258 21,913
ZE M &
— BT ARFS 1,453 1,425
—H MRS 25 25
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

g A
b7y [ = |

MEBHRRIME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIEEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

9.

(@)

Income tax in the consolidated statement of
profit or l0ss represents:

FRTS
(a)

S
mERmARPHFRFRAR

2025 2024
—E-REF —Eg
$°000 $000
FiT FT
Current tax ENHATR1E
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax FRNEBHERERE
for the year 20,067 9,383
Under-provision in respect of prior years BEFEREBETIE 65 1,111
20,132 10,494
Deferred tax IRIETR IR
Charged to profit or loss MFAEEET
for the year (note 9(c)) (Kta£9(c)) 5,652 4,187
25,784 14,681

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at the rate 16.5% (2024:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong, except for the first $2,000,000 of qualified group
entity’s assessable profit which is calculated at 8.25% (2024:
8.25%) in accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI") and the Cayman Islands, the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the BVI and the Cayman Islands.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") on
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the statutory tax rate of the
Group’s PRC subsidiaries is 25% (2024: 25%). The Group had
not generated any taxable profits in the PRC during the year
(2024 Nil).

EBNNERILUNREBEEN MG
FEZBR B FI%16.5% (ZZ U :
16.5%) 2MEFE > [RIBIBEM R
FFERNE cERERAEREZE
2,000,0007c FE SRR E F19%8.25% (— &
T4 1 8.25%) 2 IREFTENo
RIEABERHENHSEENHRA
TR0 A5 B BB AN TR B BE B
ERHEEENTEMMER-

REEPEEARIEME (THRE)) B
Fﬁ%ﬁii (TEZEFRBRIE) REERR
SHEBMKG AEETENE A
75’]&&@%_{7%25% (ZE2ZHEF:
25%) e REBNRFEANL B PRESL
EAERREF (CETME H]) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 9. FREMRXZE @

(b) Reconciliation between income tax expenses (b) BRARXFENFASHRAZHE
and accounting (loss)/profit before taxation at prfEiE st (B518) EFIAE
applicable tax rate: iR :

2025 2024

“EHEF —ET 8

$°000 $°000

FT FT

(Loss)/profit before taxation brIRAT (B518) imF (266,271) 313,131

Notional tax on (loss)/profit before taxation, IZBEENREHEAEEE

calculated at the rate applicable to the (1B Az REFEZ

profits in the jurisdictions concerned RIE (42,113) 53,650
Effect of non-taxable income EEFRMANTE (211) (64,445)
Effect of non-deductible expenses AEHNERASTNEE 36,108 16,048
Effect of unused tax losses not recognised EEEE?S MIBEENEE 32,348 8,317
Effect on utilisation of tax loss previously not 3 RS RFESR 2

recognised MIEEIBN R (413) -
Under-provision in respect of prior years BEFEBELE 65 1,111
Income tax expenses Fri8 =t 25,784 14,681
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRMEE &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BFRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continueq) 9. FAfSMxH (&
(c) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (0 BHEIVELEREBEEERERE
The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities PR S B AR R R AR BV iR R 18
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial (BE) BAENERTD RAFEN
position and the movements during the year are as follows: BEIUT !

Depreciation  Depreciation
allowances in in excess of
excessof  therelated Write-down of

therelated  depreciation inventories of Hedging
Deferred tax arising from: depreciation  allowances properties Tax loss reserve Total
hERiE wEAR A
BEHEER. ARERAE  BRRRE ba V] HEsE HinthfE it
St St St Somw St Somw
i 7z 7z 7z 7z 7z
At 1 April 2023 KZE_=%MA-H 72838 29,049) (12,848) (29,589 966 2,318
Charged to other MBEt2ERE
comprehensive income = = = = 1183 1183
Charged/(credited) to the nk/ GtA) B4
profit or loss 15429 26503 (135 (36,393 = 4187
At 31 March 2024 and R-E_ME=A=+-AR
1 April 2024 ZE_mEMA-A 88,267 (2,546) (14,200 (65,982) 2,149 7,688
Credited to other HARMRENE
comprehensive income - - - - (2,425) (2,425)
Charged(credited) to the mis/ GtA) 85
profit or loss 12,010 (291) (9,166) 3,099 - 5,652
At 31 March 2025 R-$-1%=R=t+-A 100,277 (2837) (23,366) (62,883) (276) 10915
2025 2024
—E”HE =04
$°000 $°000
FiT FT
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the EEEM B RRNERN
consolidated statement of financial position — iRIEFRIEE & 5458 (87,883) (81,013
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the  fR 4z &R FE KL R N FEERAY
consolidated statement of financial position — iEIEFIEE &34 98,798 88,701
10,915 7,688
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

A MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 9. FrfgMzl @)
(d) At 31 March 2025, the Group has not recognised deferred (d RZB-ZRE=A=+—H > Ar:xk

tax assets in respect of unused tax losses of $763,513,000
(2024: $567,465,000) as it is not probable that sufficient
future taxable profits will be available against which the
unused tax losses can be utilised. The tax losses do not
expire under current tax legislation.

TR FE RIS F AR A BE R S0IE B R
BRIERE ~EELERRER
KR IER5$8763,513,000 75 (ZE =M
£ 1 567,465,0007T) HESRIERIBE
E-REBRITMBIEZR NEBER
gRiAEm-

10. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 10. HfthZmz=
(@) Tax effects relating to cash flow hedges included (a) BRFFAHMEEWENIRE
in other comprehensive income: MEHTNRBEE
2025 2024
“EZRHE —EWEF
$’000 $°000
FiT Fz
Pre-tax amount FRIR AT %A (14,702) 7,169
Tax charged MIBEZ N 2,425 (1,183)
Net-of-tax amount FRIRE % (12,277) 5,986
(b) Components of other comprehensive income, (b) HEmEUARMBRIMD (B
including reclassification adjustments B0 R
2025 2024
“EZRE =Sl ) = 5
$’000 $°000
FiT Fz
Cash flow hedges: BeREH
Effective portion of changes in FREEDNEFTA
fair value of hedging instruments N EEBNEREBD
recognised during the year (14,702) 7,169
Net deferred tax credited/(charged) to Hh2EWETA
other comprehensive income (0BR) IEEFRIE 2,425 (1,183)
Net movement in the hedging reserve REMEENEAERFERN
during the year recognised in the HohEEEE)FER
other comprehensive income (12,277) 5,986
Exchange difference on translation of BB ETBRER ERE
foreign operations (3,104) (6,142)
Changes in fair value of financial BATEF AEMEZERE
assets at FVOCI THMEEZ AT EEH (192) 462
(15,573) 306
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRMEE &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CRFFRIEERRSN  LUBTTE)T)

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 11. EEFHM
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors were as ENHENTERESTZHMOT
follows:
2025
—ECRE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits ~ Discretionary scheme
Fees in kind Bonuses  contributions Total
o2 BIREE
e RENER BB e H
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
F7 F7 F F7 F7
Executive Directors RATES
Chan Hung Ming 7L - 2,921 243 - 3,164
Lau Chi Wah ATE - 2,921 243 18 3,182
Kwan Wing Wo KA - 2,965 243 18 3,226
Tsang Ka Man BEH - 1,699 140 18 1,857
Chan Pui Yin Apple B (RS M
(appointed on 16 September 2024)  FLBTRBEEE) - 985 44 " 1,040
Independent BUFRTES
Non-Executive Directors
Tsui Ka Wah hxE 414 - 35 - 449
Kan Yau Wo bl 414 - 35 - 449
Ho Chiu Yin lvan fBA 414 - 35 - 449
Lee Chung Yiu Johnny ey 414 - 35 - 449
Total st 1,656 11,491 1,053 65 14,265
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

rEMBERRME B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CRFRIFERRIN  LUBITEIT)

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 1. EFHM &=
2024
T mE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and henefits Discretionary scheme
Fees inkind Bonuses contributions Total
e 2 BIREHE
we REMEF FIBTEAL =3 st
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
F Fr Frr Frr Fr
Executive Directors BTES
Chan Hung Ming 7L - 2,857 473 - 3,330
Lau Chi Wah AL S 2,857 473 18 3,348
Kwan Wing Wo Ebeil = 2779 448 18 3245
Tsang Ka Man ZEH - 1,524 240 18 1,782
Independent BUFRTES
Non-Executive Directors
Tsui Ka Wah fhxE 404 - 67 = 471
Kan Yau Wo R 404 - 67 - 471
Ho Chiu Yin lvan ABR 404 - 67 - 471
Lee Chung Yiu Johnny ey 404 - 67 - 471
Total a5t 1,616 10,017 1,902 54 13,589

No director received any emoluments from the Group as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office during the year. No director waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments during the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024,

Details of the share option scheme for the purchase of ordinary
shares in the Company operated during the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024 are disclosed in note 34.

FAMEEFWRAEBRETAME  FH
MBAREENINEAE BRI HF
REREABUBE- AE_2_H1FR"F
“HEZA=+—HLEE BEEEK
RNEERREFHE -

BE S HAERE_NE=ZB=+—
HIEEESHRARBEARAT S ERNE
PR T B RYEEIE HA MY 5E3A BE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRMEE &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CRFFRIEERRSN  LUBTTE)T)

12. EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

(@)

Emoluments of five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2025 include 3 (2024: 3) directors whose
emoluments are disclosed in note 11. The aggregate of the
emoluments in respect of the remaining individuals is as
follows:

12.

EaEEE AT RS R EEE MW

&
(a)

RS EHMALIME
HE_E_RE=A=1+—8H1%=E
ErAEEAURSHFMALTEIE=
L (CENE =R 2 Hille
P11 E - Hers A TS 4858
mr

2025 2024
—E_RE —E_OF
$°000 $000
FT Fir
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REYEF 4,209 4,072
Discretionary bonuses IETEAT 474 663
Retirement scheme contributions BN EI R 36 36
4,719 4,771

The above individual’'s emoluments are within the following it A2 EEEN T

band:

2025 2024
—E_RE —E_OF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A& A#
$1,500,001 to $2,000,000 1,500,0017% & 2,000,0007% 1 1
$2,500,001 to $3,000,000 2,500,001t & 3,000,0007% 1 1

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join, or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office for
the year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

Emoluments of senior management

Other than the emoluments of the directors and five
highest paid individuals disclosed in notes 11 and 12(a),
no other emoluments were paid by the Group to its senior
management for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of its senior
management as an inducement to join, or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office for the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

BE_Z_LAEKA-T_MEZ=A
=+—BLEE xERTEOEM
BfUERSHFMNA LI ERMEER
RSIMNARER LI AA K ERF B
RESIFAREREE

SREIBEEME

PRSI EE1 R 12Q@FTIFENEE LA
IS S A BB REBH
ERNHE S _AER_ZT_UE=
B=+—HLEFELZNHEMMNESTE
SHREEE-

BHE_T_HAFEKR_ZFT_OFE=A~
=+ —HIEFE AEBEWERTH
BREERZEAMESEARSIN
A E BRI A A B RV
VEABERFEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

A MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

13. DIVIDENDS
(@)

1 3- HQI%\

Dividends attributable to the year: (@) BREENKE :
2025 2024
—T-RHE =S 8=
$°000 $°000
FiT FiT

Interim dividend declared and paid of BEEREZANFHERE
Nil HK cents (2024: 4.0 HK cents) per share ’I%/ﬁﬂll

“Z2TAFE 408 - 56,809
- 56,809

The Board does not recommend payment of a final dividend

for the year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

EETMAEZNEE_S 1K
RZEZNF=ZBE=+—HILEEZ

RHARRE o
(b) Dividends attributable to the previous financial (b) MEFEHERZHEBIR E—
year, approved and paid during the year: B BEENKE :
2025 2024
—E-RE —EuE
$’000 $°000
FiT Fr
Final dividend in respect of the RS EHLE R Z T
previous financial year, approved and E—HBEERE
paid during the year of Nil HK cents RESRZEW
(2024: 5.0 HK cents) per share (ZE /04 5.058W) - 71,006
Special dividend in respect of the FAZS E FEHE A R S AT RS
previous financial year, approved and E—BFEER
paid during the year of Nil HK cents g B EREEW
(2024: 15.0 HK cents) per share (ZEZTPU4 15.081) - 213,018
= 284,024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRMEE &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CRFFRIEERRSN  LUBTTE)T)

14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. Sk (§518) &F)

(@) Reported (loss)/earnings per share (@) EREFImZER (B8 &BH
The calculation of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share AR REGEEE_S 1T
attributable to the equity holders of the Company for the —B=1+t—HIFENSREALE
year ended 31 March 2025 is based on the following data: (8 S BANLIRE T &S

(=1
2025 2024
—E-RE =Sl ) ¢f= 5
$°000 $°000
FiT FT
(Loss)/earnings: (&) B
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to KA DG ERELEE
equity shareholders of the Company (B518) mA (292,055) 298,450
2025 2024
—E_RE —ETpuE
‘000 ‘000
Fhg Fh
Number of shares: &8 :
Weighted average number of ordinary shares stESREX (B8 &~
in issue for the purpose of basic (10ss)/ BETEBERNETISH
earnings per share 1,420,222 1,420,176
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares E%Hﬂ%ﬁﬁ}f}i’zz Sl
on share options BIEEETE = 814

Weighted average number of ordinary shares st ESREE (BB &~
in issue for the purpose of diluted (loss)/ BETEBERNETISH
earnings per share 1,420,222 1,420,990
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CRFRIFERRIN  LUBITEIT)

14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

112

(@)

Reported (loss)/earnings per share (continued)

The diluted (loss)/earnings per share for the years ended 31
March 2025 and 2024 is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The
Company’s potentially dilutive ordinary shares comprised of
share options.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the adjusted exercise
price was above the average market price of the ordinary
shares. Accordingly, the share options of the Company
had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share and
therefore were not included in the calculation of diluted loss
per share.

Underlying loss per share

For the purpose of assessing the underlying performance of
the Group, basic and diluted underlying loss per share are
also presented based on the underlying loss attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company of $171,358,000 (2024
$85,713,000), which excludes the effects of changes in fair
value of investment properties. A reconciliation of underlying
loss is as follows:

14. 8 (&518) & &)

(@)

IREFfmZER (BB &BF
(&)
HE_T_HFEKR_FT_MF=A~
—t+—HIEEENESREE (5B
BRI EBABRETEINMNEBERDN
MEFEHHBERZRMEARBTE
R ”Lk#% KABIEBE
B E T ERBIEEKRE.

BE_T_AHF=-RA=+—HLHF
B RBRRNTEESNEBRNT
BAHE-AlL ARBENERENS
REABEARBEZE  HA KRG
ASREBEHENE-

BIREMREIE
EATEAERZERERRIE &
1% BL 7S e 18 5 EL R Es%aﬁ&ﬂ”ﬂsﬁi
IR EEERREE BRI
MENTFEES 2 ZE) 171,358, 00075
(ZZE P04 : 85,713,0007%) 5t & &
B2 c BREEZ HERNO T !

2025 2024
—EZRE “ETpUE
$’000 $000
FiT FT
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (BB EH) (292,055) 298,450
Changes in fair value of investment properties & & ¥ % A & & 120,697 (384,163)
Underlying loss for the year FEREREIE (171,358) (85,713)
HK Cents HK Cents
L BN

Underlying loss per share SREREIE
- Basic —HA& (12.07) (6.04)
- Diluted —#8 (12.07) (6.04)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
EMBERRIE @)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BFRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

15. FIXED ASSETS 15. BIEEE
Investment Furiture,
properties Buildings fixtures and
Investment under held for other fixed
properties  development Sub-total OWn use assets Sub-total Total
B frfRER
RENE RENE gt BRANE  EttEREE it L
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
¥z z z z z z z
Cost or valuation; FAMEE:
AR 1 April 2024 RZEZMERE-8 3,760,000 2,190,000 5,950,000 922,639 37,510 960,149 6,910,149
Additions HE 413 659,224 659,697 = 335 335 660,032
(Deficit/surplus on revaluation &t (518 /B4 (121,473) 776 (120,697) - - - (120,697)
Exchange adjustment ERHE - - - (149) [} (156) (156)
At 31 March 2025 RIEZREZE=1-H 3,639,000 2,850,000 6,489,000 922,490 37,838 960,328 7,449,328
Representing: Hin
Cost & - - - 922,490 37,838 960,328 960,328
Valuation fhiE 3,639,000 2,850,000 6,489,000 - - - 6,489,000
3,639,000 2,850,000 6,489,000 922,490 37,838 960,328 7,449,328
Accumulated depreciation and impairment; BEREE:
A1 April 2024 RZS-MERE-R - = - 116,889 26,976 143,865 143,865
Charge for the year (Mot (85) ERSH H280) - - - 18,585 2,673 21,258 21,258
Impairment losses HEEE - - - 45430 - 45,430 45,430
Exchange adjustment EfHET - - - (105) 4 (109) (109)
At 31 March 2025 RZEZRE=RA=1-H - - - 180,799 29,645 210,444 210,444
Net hook value: RESE:
At 31 March 2025 RZBZRE=A=1+-H 3,639,000 2,850,000 6,489,000 741,691 8,193 749,884 7,238,884
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

15. FIXED ASSETS (continued) 15. BEEE &)

Investment Fumniture,
properties Buildings fixtures and
Investment Under held for other fixed
properties  development Sub-total own use assets Sub-total Total
EBh R RER
REnE REnE 1t BAME  HtEREE gt 5
S $000 S S Sow S S0
T 7 T Fr z T fr
Cost or valuation: sy
At 1 April 203 RIEZ=£NA-A 3,761,000 833,20 4,594,220 922940 36,494 959,434 5,553,654
Additions HE 4014 967,603 971,617 S 1,267 1,267 972,884
Disposal HE - - - - 237 237 237
Surplus/(deficit) on revaluation RS/ (5B (5,014) ®9,177 34,163 = = = 384,163
Exchange adjustment ERBE = = = (301) (14 (315) (315)
At31 March 2024 RIB-ME=F=1-A 3,760,000 2,190,000 5,950,000 922639 37510 960,149 6,910,149
Representing: Hine
Cost A o - - 922,639 37510 960,149 960,149
Valuation fhiE 3,760,000 2,190,000 5,950,000 = = S 5,950,000
3,760,000 2,190,000 5,950,000 922,639 37510 960,149 6,910,149
Accumulated depreciation; itiE:
At 1 April 2023 RZ2-=EmA-H S = - 98,491 23900 12, 122
Charge for the year (note(c) EN (HH90) - - - 18,595 3318 21913 2913
Written back on disposal HE KD S S S S (237) (237) (237)
Exchange adjustment ERBE - - S (197) () (202 (202
At 31 March 2024 RIB-REZR=+-H S = S 116,889 26976 143,865 143865
Net book value: REFE:
At 31 March 2024 RZEZME=F=1-H 3,760,000 2,190,000 5,950,000 805,750 10,534 816,284 6,766,284
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15. FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(@)

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties and
investment properties under development is categorised
within Level 3 recurring fair value measurements. The
movement of these balances are as follows:

15. BIEEE @)

@)

FEENKREMERERTREYF
MATEBE=RKSEMEATEE
Bo b FERIVEEHNT ¢

2025 2024

ZE-RHE “ZT T4

$°000 $°000

Fz FrT

At 1 April ROEA—H 5,950,000 4,594,220
Additions nNE 659,697 971,617
Fair value adjustment NEEFE (120,697) 384,163
At 31 March R=B=+—H 6,489,000 5,950,000

The fair value adjustment of investment properties and
investment properties under development is recognised in
the line item “Changes in fair value of investment properties”
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or l0ss.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, there were
no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or
out of Level 3.

The Group's investment properties and investment
properties under development were revalued at the
reporting date by Knight Frank Petty Limited (2024: Colliers
International (Hong Kong) Limited), an independent firm of
qualified professional valuer, who have among their staff
Members of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent
experience in the location and category of property being
valued. The management of the Group has discussion with
the surveyors on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results when the valuation is performed at each interim and
annual reporting date.

EEAEEERBRAT 2024/25%

REMERERTREVENLFE
RENGGRERNREMEZL
TEEE BREE

ATERAER-ZENEZAR
=+—HIEFERR F—HRREZ
Rz BN EERE TRRA S RS
AT EH -

FEENKREMERERTREYF
R EMTRLAEMTAERA
8 (CE2IF s HERYERR
(B®) BERAR) (HETESRH#HA
ERAEMEBEES  BREEDF
Yt RE A £R B A T A (E E S B) %
TMEEENKREAHGEE ~EBE
BEERSETHRRFERS BRET
HERMEERRREEERRZS
fLEMETS
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15. FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(@)

116

15. BIREE (&

(continued) (@ @&
The following table shows the significant unobservable ToRARGLEG ENER TR
inputs used in the valuation model: BUE -
Properties Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Adopted rate/value
LS hERE BEATTHRHE RintEx
2025 2024
—ECIE —ZoME
Investment properties
REME
- Data centres Income approach - discounted  Risk-adjusted discount rate 7.75% 7.75%
cash flow method
—HERL BWAE-MRBEERENN  ERAEWERE
Expected market rental growth rate 3.5% 1.9%-2.4%
BHTAEESER
Expected occupancy rate 60%-100% 94%-100%
REHEE
Capitalisation rate 4.25% 4.25%
BAREX
- Commercial shop Market comparison method Market unit sale rate, and taking $34,991 per $35,140 per
into account of location square feet square feet
and size factors
— MIBLLBA MFEBI ME BEAR BFHR
KNRE 34,9917t 35,1407T

The fair value of investment properties — data centres is
determined on the basis of discounted cash flow method
by discounting projected cash flow associated with the
properties using risk-adjusted discount rate. The valuation
takes into account expected market rental growth and
occupancy rates of the properties. The discount rates
used have been adjusted for the quality and location of
the buildings and the tenant credit quality. The fair value
measurement of investment properties — data centres is
positively correlated to the expected market rental growth
and occupancy rate and negatively correlated to the risk-
adjusted discount rate and capitalisation rate.

REME-BHEPOZATFEDBRE
HMBERERBESECONEES AR
DT LUE R R R R IR R IREZ
FYERBN—RINTBRARERE -
HEZEIZSMENTRBTSES
gk HER EANERERERAE
BRAAERNERRMEUKRBRBE
ERBER -REVENAFEFE
SRS ES R RHARE R
BRI MEARBEERRERRER
{ERZEEMBRIE-
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIEEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

15. FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(@)

(continued)

The fair value of investment properties — commercial
shop is determined on the basis of assuming sale of the
property interest in its existing state by making reference
to comparable sale transactions as available in the relevant
market. The valuation is subject to suitable adjustments
between the subject property and the comparable
properties. The fair value measurement of investment
properties — commercial shop is positively correlated to the
market unit sale rate.

The fair value of investment properties under development
are determined using residual method. This method involves
firstly the assessment of gross development value, which is
determined using the same basis and adopted rates (except
for expected occupancy rate) in determining the fair value
of investment properties — data centres, on the assumption
that the property had already been completed in accordance
with the current development plan on the valuation date,
less the estimated costs of completion together with an
allowance for developer’s profit. The expected occupancy
rate adopted for determining the gross development value is
75%-100% (2024: 79%-100%) and the developer’s profit is 3%
— 8% (2024: 3% — 12%). The resultant residue figure is the fair
value.

Estimated costs of completion, including costs of
construction, land premium on lease modification,
professional fee and associated costs, plus an allowance for
developer’s risk and profit, are estimated by the valuer based
on market conditions at the reporting date.

The fair value measurement of investment properties
under development is positively correlated to the expected
monthly rental, market rental growth rate and occupancy
rate, and negatively correlated to the estimated costs of
completion of $0.585 billion (2024: $1.086 billion).

15. BIEEE &

@)

EEAEEERBRAT 2024/25%

()
REME-—BHIATFEDRKME
RBEAWRRTHE L2 RAMTE
PJLERIHER 7 - TRV EZ HEHR
ALEBYEZEIFHEERAE -RE
ME-—BRZATEFERTHER
ZIEAERAME -

BEMREYE L N FETVIRREE
BE UHEE T EEEREE (F
REBTRENE -SIEPLATE
—HHNEENRMER FEst AR
BRAN M BRYEELENCRER
MEREENR  NBREERRERE
CEREMAUKRERE AN BE KRR
BE AN GHEEREENTESTH
FAZEA75%-100% (ZZEZPULE : 79%-
100%) » BEEZFIEA3%—8% (ZZ
T U4 1 3%—12%) o FRILIE E AT R
HFANTEE

HEMERE BTSRRI EEYE
BT LAl A (BFEZ R BT 24
ZIMEE -EXER FEREM
MERAR ) MUK 3 R 2 MR e B B
B

ERPGEYEN AT Et= LB
SR MBHESEEREEAXE
EEAEREE MAGMEERTHMA
5.85fE 70 (ZE U4 : 10.86127T) 2
S AR M-
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15. FIXED ASSETS (continuea) 15. BEEE (&
() The Group leases out a number of building facilities under b FEBRBLSHESALBEETE

118

operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial term of
3.5 t0 20 years, with an option to renew the lease after that
date at which time terms are renegotiated.

All properties held under operating leases that would
otherwise meet the definition of investment property are
classified as investment properties.

The Group’s total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows:

FRifc ZFHE—RIT BHI35E
205 WHEBEER MR EBEY
Ry BT 10 P AR X o

FREMEUCERESAFAREEHR
A ENERENEZERTE N
mIREYE -

FEERBIAIRHEEAENR AR
YR RERAEREBENT

2025 2024
“EZRE =Sl )= 2
$’000 $°000
FiT FT
Within 1 year —FR 164,974 192,176
After 1 year but within 2 years —FBEIER 136,817 154,480
After 2 years but within 3 years “HFBE=FRN 128,413 136,626
After 3 years but within 4 years —FBREOFRN 106,263 128,135
After 4 years but within 5 years MEREBEBRFERN 68,059 106,067
After 5 years hF% 39,607 116,945
644,133 834,429

All the Group's investment properties are situated in Hong (0 HEEBZREVMEMNREEBRUFH

Kong and held under medium-term leases.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s building held for own (d)
use are under:

MAFA -

ETAM AU T ARISTE 2B BY
HIRMEE

2025 2024

—ERE —E_OFE

$000 $000

FT Fz

Medium-term leases in Hong Kong REAZFPHATEL 739,387 803,031
Medium-term leases of land use PR 2 A i F A

rights in the PRC 2,304 2,719

741,691 805,750

Certain of the Group’s building held for own use and (e)
investment properties were pledged against bank loans,
details of which are set out in note 21(a).

GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25
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15. FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(f)

As at 31 March 2025, included in the property, plant and
equipment is the Group’s buildings held for own use
under property leasing segment of $741,691,000 (2024
$805,750,000) of which the Group is the registered owner of
this property interest.

The Directors considered that there was an indication
of impairment for property, plant and equipment as the
market value of the Group's buildings held for own use
decreased during the year. AVISTA Valuation Advisory
Limited, an independent firm of qualified professional
valuer was appointed to assess the recoverable amount
of the buildings held for own use, which is based on the
fair values less costs of disposal, using direct capitalisation
method (level 3 fair value measurements) by reference to
recent monthly unit rent of similar properties, adjusted for
differences such as building age, floor level and size etc. The
significant unobservable input is adjusted market rent rate of
approximately $12,000 per square feet to $14,000 per square
feet. As a result, an impairment loss of $45,430,000 (2024:
Nil) was recognised in “Other income and gains/(losses), net”
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

15. BIEEE @)

(f)

EEAEEERBRAT 2024/25%

WZE_HT&E=B=+—H"8
EEVE - BERKREBERNELEER
B1E741,691,0007c (Z = /U4 .
805,750,00070) BB B - AEEA
I RTINS HEB A

EERR BARAEEERYEND
LEBEAMTH® ZEWE -BEX
REBEFERENR AEEBFEL
GEREXGEMYESNEEAE
RAB KAERERXLZE B=A2
TEFE) BERYE 2RELMWE
ITHRR KT (B8 8 1B R EE
FRZFE) - BLATEAFREERS
FERTREIEE HPERTITHE
HESERABTHEZ OREFH
R12,0007T E 14,0007T © It » A& &
RBE_Z_AF=RB=+—HLF
ERERABm R R THMUA R,
(B518) %8 A HES845,430,0007T (=
TNE ) BURERSE-

119



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

rEMBERRME B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(R¥55EERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)
16. INVENTORIES OF PROPERTIES

16. MEEFES

2025 2024
“E-RHE =S 8=
$’000 $000
FiT FT
Properties under development located in UREBRFENEZERF

Hong Kong and the PRC (note (a)) Y (3£@) 926,076 703,658

Properties held for sales located in R EERPENFEFHEZ
Hong Kong and the PRC S/ES 556,493 1,070,099
1,482,569 1,773,757

Notes: at:

(@  As at 31 March 2025, except for an amount of $569,096,000 which (a)
is expected to be recoverable after one year, all remaining balances
of properties under development are expected to be recovered
within one year. As at 31 March 2024, all properties under
development are expected to be recovered after one year.

(b) At 31 March 2025, leasehold land included in the properties under (b)
development amounted to $472,487,000 (2024: $474,687,000).

(c)  Certain of the Group's inventories of properties were pledged ()

against bank loans, detail of which are set out in note 21(a).
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RZE_HEF=ZB=+—HBKEKA%
569,096,0007c I & B P £ TEHRR —F1&
WEsh R R EBEBHN —FERUE - 7®
TECE=ZRA=+—HFEXETYE
TEBEAR — B U El -

R_E_RFE=B=+—H ' ZEDY
*xNBFZHAE L MEE%472,487,0007T
(ZZT P94 : 474,687,0007T) ©
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EMBERRIE @)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CRFFRIEERRSN  LUBTTE)T)

17. CONTRACT LIABILITIES . BEaE
2025 2024
—E_RE —EmE
$000 $000
FiT FT
Contract liabilities related to sales of BRYZEHEN

properties (note) B EaE (G 37,797 24,937

Note: &t

Deposits and instalments received in accordance to the payment term
as stipulated in the sales and purchase agreement for sales of properties
are classified as contract liabilities. These will remain as contract liabilities
until the control of these properties is transferred to the customers.

SERDHMARECHENERERN—1A
HERO WO ERANER ZNER —BERRE
RENER BEEZSYENEFERRGE
ﬁ o

Movements in contract liabilities BH B EEE
2025 2024
—EZRE =S 8= 5
$’000 $000
FiT FT
Balance as at 1 April KU B— B4 24,937 1,005
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of AFRHEB T < EHEA
recognising revenue during the year that was Nanasmmb
included in contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year (24,937) (1,005)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of EF R EHE M EWEE S/
receiving deposits and instalments during the DHRIBEBL AN BEEM
year from sales of properties 37,797 24,937
Balance as at 31 March R=BE=+—H 37,797 24,937
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CRFRIFERRIN  LUBITEIT)

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18. FEURERRI R E fth FEURFRIE
2025 2024
—_E_RE —EE
$000 $000
FT FT
Trade receivables JE U BR TR
— Receivables from rental income — R BHETW AN ERFIE 29,310 35,740
— Receivables from construction service — kK BB ERBEWEIE 1,045 923
30,355 36,663
Less: Loss allowance IR (81) (131
30,274 36,532
Utility and other deposits NAEERHMES 26,478 25,591
Prepaid sales commission FENHERE 405 8,071
Prepaid loan arrangement fee BNERTHE 19,871 29,958
Other prepayments HMfa =18 4,178 56,855
VAT recoverable AIIRHIIE(ER 11,111 3,314
Other receivables HhpEkIa 932 875
93,249 161,196
The aging analysis of the Group’s trade receivables (net of 10ss RiFERH A B EBEWARR GOFRE
allowance), based on invoice dates, is as follows: BEME) MR DT ¢
2025 2024
—ERE —E_OF
$°000 $000
FiT FiT
Less than 1 month DR —@ER 22,019 19,417
More than 1 month but less than 3 months  #BiB—@E BB/ D =@ A 8,182 16,992
More than é months BiENEs 73 123
30,274 36,532
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRMEE &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BFRAFRISERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continueq)
The movement of the loss allowance during the year is as follows:

18. FEURARTR B H it FEURRIE (2
ERERRBNERTT

2025 2024

—_E_RE —EmE

$°000 $°000

FiT FT

At 1 April rHEA—H 131 786
Impairment loss reversal (note 8(c)) [ElE R ER R (W5£8(C)) (50) (655)
At 31 March W=B=+—H 81 131

The aging analysis of the Group's trade receivables (net of loss

AERZ BWIRMIRZE L H B ERE DT

allowance), based on past due date is as follows: wr:
2025 2024
—EZRE =S 8= 5
$’000 $°000
FiT FT
Not yet past due i HA 22,018 19,417
Less than 1 month past due mEA VR —E R 6,672 11,421

Over 1 month but less than 3 months AHFEBE—EAELIR

past due =X ENE 1,510 5,571
Over 12 months past due BHAER+—EA 74 123
30,274 36,532

The Group generally grants trade customers with a credit term
of 30 days. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from

customers.

FrEB-RAEZEFRMIOKRERH-
FEBBRETGERELRMIEFR-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CRFRIFERRIN  LUBITEIT)

19. RESTRICTED AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS AND CASH 19. SRR EIRIFESFULIRERIR

AND BANK BALANCES iT4EER
2025 2024
—_E_RE —ENE
$000 $000
FiT FT
Cash and bank balance R& RIRTTAARR 180,231 213,469
Fixed deposits EHTERR - 353,952
,,,,, 180,231 = 567421
Less: W
Pledged deposits (note (i) BEIERER GEH0) (133,155) (478,542)
Restricted deposits (note (i) SRS (FE3) (13,452) (26,317)
___ (146,607) (504,859)
Cash and bank balances as stated in the FEMBRAETANRE &
consolidated statement of financial position $R17#5 ki Rir SRS RERAN
and cash and cash equivalents as stated in  IRE&KIRESZEY
the consolidated cash flows statement 33,624 62,562
Notes: 36
(i)  These balances represent bank deposits pledged to secure banks (i) WWEERIRRTEREEALRERIETE
loans of the Group (see note 21(a)). MR (RHIEE21@)) ©
(i)  These balances represent proceeds received from sales of iy I EERIEHEYEMESIEFEALEEN
properties which was deposited into a designated bank account. RITERF ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

EMBERRIE @)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CRFFRIEERRSN  LUBTTE)T)

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20. FETERFR B H AT FRIR
2025 2024
—_E_RE —EmE
$’000 $°000
FiT FT
Trade payables FE{TERTX 157,164 60,865
Payable for additions to investment REREYEENRIE
properties 74,750 2,813
Payable for additions to inventories of REVMEGFESERNRIE
properties 11,250 13,000
Other payables and accrued charges HtEIRIBRETER 24,676 38,912
Rental and other deposits (note (i) e kEAMZE GHI) 5,210 4,810
Rent receipts in advance FEUWHE & 86,980 8,159
Retentions payables (note (iii) FET R BB FRIE (F2(iil) 52,583 38,664
412,613 167,223
Notes: i
(i) Except as disclosed in notes (i) and (iii) below, all of the trade and (i) BT XBEE(D R (NPT EE SN Fr B BT

other payables are expected to be settled within one year.

(i) Except for an amount of $2,270,000 (2024: $4,270,000) as at 31
March 2025, which is expected to be settled after one year, all of
the remaining balances are expected to be settled within one year.

(i) Except for an amount of $25,596,000 (2024: $10,776,000) as at 31
March 2025, which is expected to be settled after one year, all of
the remaining balances are expected to be settled within one year.

The aging analysis of the Group's trade payables, based on invoice

(i)

(ifi)

R Bt (S ROIRTRET IR I —FERAE S

MZB - RE=H=+—H%2.270,0007T
Z T [U4E : 4,270,0007) FBEHEE—
EBREBIN BT SREEFBE—FERNLE

=
/B °

RIE-HF=H=+—HBk25596,0007
(ZE| U4 : 10,776,0007T) st —E 1%
ERIN BT SBEBEE—FRS B

FEBRZEMRRBEEZHHNRED

dates, is as follows: U
2025 2024
—_E_RE —ENE
$°000 $000
Fiz FT
Less than 1 month DR —EA 71,363 27,616
More than 1 month but less than 3 months  B#@E—ERB B/ DR =@E- 59,183 27,077
More than 3 months but less than 6 months  #83i@ =18 88/ i/~ E A 26,618 6,172
157,164 60,865
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A MBERRME &
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FRFFRIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

21. BANK LOANS 21. IRITEM
2025 2024
“E-RHE =S 8=
$’000 $000
FiT Fir
Bank loans RITE™M
- Secured —HigH 5,176,894 5,754,284
- Unsecured — g 52,567 86,646
5,229,461 5,840,930
The bank loans are repayable as follows: IRTTERERUTFHER
2025 2024
—_E_RE —ZEmE
$’000 $°000
FiT Frr
Within 1 year or on demand and included ~— —ERWIREREER
in current liabilities (note) FIATRBIEE HaE) 5,066,492 1,657,064
After 1 year and included in —FRBEINAFFRBEIR -
non-current liabilities:
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFERN - 227,046
After 2 years but within 5 years MEBRBHEFEN 162,969 3,804,179
After 5 years ETRASEE ) - 152,641
_____ 162,969 4183866
5,229,461 5,840,930
Note: Included bank loans of $4,313,943,000 with original contractual M BERAER 2 XF=A=+—H8Z
repayment dates beyond 31 March 2026. Details are set out in note B EIB 2 IR1TE4,313,943,0007T © 3£ 18
3(b). ENN X
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EMBERRIE @)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIEEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

21. BANK LOANS (continueq) 21.

(@ At 31 March 2025, the bank loans bear interest ranging from
3.55% t0 6.48% (2024: 3.55% to 7.55) per annum and are
secured by the following assets::

IRITER (&

@ NRIE_FHE=ZA=+—H8R1T7
BHNEFKA355%5E6.48% (ZF
ZH4F 1 3.55%%E7.55%) R TAE

EVEHR .

2025 2024
“EZHE —EIpUE
$°000 $°000
FiT FT
Investment properties KREY% 6,489,000 5,950,000
Property, plant and equipment LY E R =YL 688,713 751,512

Financial assets at fair value through BATESFAEMEE
other comprehensive income WHm 2 ERE E 9,935 10,127
Inventories of properties MEEE 740,175 1,478,601
Pledged deposits BIRFEER 133,155 478,542
Trade receivables FEUBR R 29,310 35,741
Sundry deposits Hithizs 15,603 15,809
8,105,891 8,720,332

In addition, at 31 March 2025, the banking facilities of the
Group were secured by the following:

- assignment of project proceeds, project insurance
and fire insurance policies for certain construction
contracts in relation to certain banking facilities
granted to the Group with maximum amount of $Nil
(2024 $297,000,000),

- assignment of all rentals and all other moneys,
sales proceeds and insurance over the investment
properties of the Group in relation to certain bank
loans granted to the Group with carrying amount of
$3,878,182,000 (2024: $3,363,641,000);

= assignment of sales proceeds and insurance over the
inventories of properties held for sales of the Group
in relation to certain bank loans granted to the Group
with carrying amount of $Nil (2024: $535,609,000); and

= share mortgages over the entire issued and paid-up
share capital of certain subsidiaries.

SR B RF=R=+—H>
REENRITHREDUTIIEEFE
=

- BRETRESHVNEEMRE
IR TH BB AR AR R B
REEEERETIRTRE
HESTBEAT (CTTHF:
297,000,0007T) ;

- HIZEAEEREMENMAEM
S RIBRIEHEFRERIEN
KRG @ REBERETIRTT
S HIREE %A3,878,182,000
7T (ZE P4 © 3,363,641,000
70) 5

- HEFHFEBNETRITEM
HENEHERTNEBRFA
BAREENMEFENRERN
R REEEAT (CEIO
£F 1 535,609,0007T) 5 &

- EHETHBRARANEZHWEHTK
R R AR R DT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
rEMBERRME B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CRFRIFERRIN  LUBITEIT)

21. BANK LOANS (continued)

(b)

Certain of the Group’s banking facilities are subject to the
fulfilment of covenants relating to certain ratios as are
commonly found in lending arrangements with financial
institutions. If the Group were to breach the covenants, the
drawn down facilities would become repayable on demand.
The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these
covenants. As long as the Group complies these covenants,
it is considered that the respective drawn down facilities will
not be repaid on demand.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group was unable to meet
certain financial ratios under certain bank loan agreements.
Such non-compliance of the covenants may cause the
relevant bank loans of approximately $4,686,925,000 (2024:
$192,914,000) to become immediately due and payable
should the lenders exercise their rights under the loan
agreements. On discovery of the breach of covenants, the
Directors informed the lenders and requested waiver for
the non-compliance of the relevant financial ratios. As at 31
March 2025, no waiver was obtained by the Group from the
lenders. Since the lender has not agreed to waive its right to
demand immediate payment as at the end of the reporting
period, these loans had been classified as a current liability
as at 31 March 2025.

Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk
are set out in note 30(b).

21. SR1TER (&

(0)
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R_E_RAF=B=+—H &~%£H
FEFEETRITERBZEANREN
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HERITEEER BN ETHEER
] SE B EERA IR 1T B 7R4,686,925,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRMEE &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIEEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 22. fTEERITA
2025 2024
—_E_RE —EmE
$’000 $°000
FiT FT
Cash flow hedges: REREHP
interest rate swaps MEBHEHN (1,676) 13,026
Represented by: Fm -
Current assets BB E 397 923
Non-current assets JERENEE 355 12,103
Non-current liabilities JERBAaE (2,428) -
(1,676) 13,026
(@ The notional principal amounts of derivative financial @ RHREEFREEENTESRTIAN
instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period HEATEEUT

are as follows:

2025 2024

—E-REF —ZO4E

$°000 $000

FiT FiT

Interest rate swaps (note 30(c)(})) MEEPEHN (WE30(0)0) 1,520,000 1,048,000

(b)  Derivative financial assets/liabilities represent the amounts ) TTEEMEE SFEEAERMNNER
the Group would receive/pay if the positions were closed SHRFERBWE S IHHIE
at the end of the reporting period respectively. Derivative TREERETEHAEE077
financial instruments that did not qualify for hedge TERMTAEREAFENHEEZEE
accounting and their corresponding changes in fair values RIBm D o
have been recognised in the profit or l0ss.

(©)  All derivative financial instruments qualified for hedge € FBReBERETREREHPIE
accounting were deemed effective for cash flow hedge ENTTEEMTAENABREHPRE
purposes and no ineffective portion was recognised in profit e AL 2EENSEsREEZ
or loss for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024. ETRER_E_NE=F=1+—H

LIE I8 REE o
23. LOAN FROM ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY 23. RERBERABTZER

The amount is unsecured, bears interest at a rate of HSBC's Hong ZHEABRER UEA LBEZIRITE

Kong Dollar Best Lending Rate per annum, and repayable on or TREBFAEFE BBAR T RE

before December 2026. +ZHAEzAiERE.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(R¥55EERRSN ) LUBTTHIT)

25.

24. LOANS FROM CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER 24. REERKRRZEMR
The amounts are unsecured, bears interest at the rate of 3% per ZAIEA IR N EA3%E > B A
annum, and are repayable on or before April to May 2028. A B NFUBERBAZAMBE -
The loans are initially recognised at fair value, which are calculated ERVBEURTFERER HIZRIBTMIE
using the cash flows discounted at the prevailing market rate, and MEMBFENIRESARAE  EREHEM A
subsequently stated at amortised cost. The aggregate principal TR e B A& & 51607,498,0007T e B
amount of the loans were $607,498,000. The aggregate fair value ZBEREHBZ AFESFT43532,050,000
of the loans at their respective grant dates were approximately TToERAERYBEABNAFEZ 5
$532,050,000. The difference of $75,448,000 between the principal 75,448,000 R EIERKREEE 5T ALRS
amount and the fair value initially recognised of the loans was B lRRZEmA -
accounted for as deemed capital contribution from controlling
shareholder and was included in the equity of the consolidated
financial statements.
SHARE CAPITAL 25. @&
2025 2024
—ECHE —DOME
No. of No. of
shares Amount shares Amount
BabEE E ] Rin#E e
‘000 $000 oo $000
FiE F7 FE F
Ordinary shares of $0.01 each SREBVITHEER
Authorised: AE
At 1 April and 31 March REB—HKRK=ZA=+—H 10,000,000 100,000 10,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BEIRER
At 1 April REE—A 1,420,222 14,202 1,419.812 14,198
Shares issued upon exercise of TFERRERZTN
share options (note 34) Rin (234 - - 410 4
At 31 March R=A=+—H 1,420,222 14,202 1,420,222 14,202

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share
at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with

regard to the Company’s assets.

EERFTEAEBRBERTRERNRE
TEREAERADRRAE LER—FHKR
ER-MOERERABDFTEEMEAAEE
BREAREMAAL
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26. RESERVES

The Group

Details of the movements in the Group's reserves are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
The natures and purposes of reserves within equity are as
follows:

(@)

(i)

(i)

(iir)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Share premium

The share premium account is governed by the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and may be
applied by the Company subject to the provisions, if
any, of its memorandum and articles of association
in paying distributions or dividends to equity
shareholders.

No distribution or dividend may be paid to the equity
shareholders out of the share premium account
unless immediately following the date on which the
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the
Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due
in the ordinary course of business.

Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion
of the cumulative net change in the fair value of the
hedging instruments used in cash flow hedges pending
subsequent recognition of the hedged cash flow in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note
A(d).

Share option reserve
The share option reserve represents the cumulative
expenses recognised on the outstanding share options.

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative
net change in the fair value of equity investments
designated at FVOCI that are held at the end of the
reporting period (see note 4(h)(i)).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies set out
in note 4(p).

Capital contribution reserve

The capital contribution reserve represents the
deemed capital contribution from the controlling
shareholder during the period.

26. (#fE
(a)

EEAEEERBRAT 2024/25%

AEH
FEREFEEHFBERN G RDE

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

BEN-EmPREBINEE KRB
T

R17EE
BRiraBRERESHFS QA
RE AR ERERERS N
DK REFARBEREERE
BAERMABE WAE) 8
R EER

PRIEEMBREZZNDRIKRE
ERREARTARAUXXNNRBEE
EHPRRANES SRIAAH
BRMDEERNDEDRREX
DI E RS

I
HArRBEERERENAMH
BEHPTAAFENRGES
FENANE D UFHRIRE
BYsEAd P& & 5t EURIESE O B
HRIRERE

FBREHE
BRREHEABEERERITEN
RN R

QT EFHE
ATERBEERRATESA
Hth2EWRENRARERR
SRRV RFATELEFER
(RFFsEAN)D) °

SERFRE
SNEREBBEIERREBINETR
W BRREENERER &%
R IR M SEA(D)PR 8 & 5T LR
FRIEo

B IAHE
EREARBEERRRIS
RRIEEER AL

131
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A MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CRFRIFERRIN  LUBITEIT)

26. RESERVES (continued) 26. f#f&E (B
(b) The Company (b) &AF
Capital
Share  Share option Hedging  contribution Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
RVEE — BRERE REEN  BEXEARE REERN i
St St S0 S0 oo S0
F F Fr Fr Fr Fr
At 1 April 2023 R-B-_=EMA-A 92,933 13,723 = = 351,868 458,524
Loss and total comprehensive FREERZARS
income for the year - - - - (9,032) (9,032)
Dividend approved in respect BiEZLFERE
of the previous year - - - - (284,024) (284,024)
Dividend approved in respect BHEZAEERE
of the current year - - - - (56,809) (56,809)
Transfer on lapse of share options ~ (REERR Bk Sy & - (1,334) - - 1,334 =
Share-based payment expenses DRAFAZ A zEE = 11,631 = = = 11,631
Shares issied Upon exercise of TRBERERZTNERG
share options 2112 (497) - - - 1,615
At 31 March 2024 and RZZ_ME=R=+-H
1 April 2024 kRZE-_mEMA—-A 95,045 23,523 - - 3,337 121,905
Profit for the year ERER - - - - 1,135 1,135
Other comprehensive income for ~— EREMZERE
the year - - (145) - - (145)
Deemed capital contribution from  BIFERIRREEE
controlling shareholder - - - 75,448 - 75,448
At 31 March 2025 2 R 95,045 23,523 (145) 75,448 4472 198,343

At 31 March 2025, the aggregate amount of the Company’s
reserves reached $198,343,000 (2024: $121,905,000),
whereas the reserves available for distribution to equity
shareholders of the Company, as calculated in accordance
with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the
Company's memorandum and articles of association, was
$99,517,000 (2024: $98,382,000).
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27. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL  27. ZERRATIBMIER AR

POSITION
2025 2024
—E_RE —E_OF
Notes $°000 $000
Kzt FT FT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BEREE 32,551 42,775
Investment in subsidiaries RERB AT -1 =
Loan to subsidiaries ERFHRB AR 1,688,557 1,498,190
Deferred tax assets FRIEIRIEE 9,739 9,630
Derivative financial instruments TEEmTA 355 =
Financial assets at FVTPL BN EFF AR
THEE - 10,476
4731202 1,561,071
Current assets RBEE
Loan to a subsidiary BRFHE AT 2,500 2,500
Prepayment and other receivables BT R H A FE U =R IB 741,505 736,8792
Pledged deposits BIRFEER - 357,737
Cash and bank balances B KMIRTT4E R 14,205 3,378
. 758,210 1,100,494
Current liabilities Bt =N
Other payables Hh g g 7,797 8,257
Bank loans RITER 209,136 979,778
Loan from a subsidiary M BB A B fER 2,500 2,500
Lease liabilities HESE 6,256° 6,0473
. 225689 996,982
Net current assets hEgEE®EE 532,521 103912
Total assets less current liabilities EBE R ABIAE 2,263,723 1,664,983
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27. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION (continued)

27. ERATBRBFRRR (&

2025 2024
—E_RF B4
Notes $’000 $000
K&t FT Fr
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Bank loans IRITER 86,856 90,992
Derivative financial instruments TESMITA 529 -
Loans from subsidiaries B ABEmR 1,354,600 1,367,100
Loan from ultimate holding company RERKER AT ZER 36,800 36,800
Loans from controlling shareholder REERKREZER 544,665 -
Lease liabilities HEasE 27,7283 33,9843
2051178 1,528,876
NET ASSETS BEEEE 212,545 136,107
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B 2s R et 4
Share capital (&N 25 14,202 14,202
Reserves (=46 26(b) 198,343 121,905
TOTAL EQUITY mRERS 212,545 136,107
1 Less than $1,000 L /N2 1,0007T
2 Included in prepayments and other receivables are balances with g B REMERRIBCIERE B ARG

its subsidiaries of $740,715,000 (2024: $735,882,000).

& Lease liabilities are balances with its subsidiaries of $33,984,000

£3£740,715,0007T (ZZ Z Y4 : 735,882,000

7T)

s THE SR 558 A B 2 #58733,984,0007C

(2024: $40,031,000).

On behalf of the Board

Chan Hung Ming
FRFLEA
Director

EE
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CRFFRISERRSN  LUBTTHIT)

28. SUBSIDIARIES

28. ftBAE]

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the
Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise

BRFERR

BREATE

REBESE

BEEREBEBZNEBABNFB RABM
B FAERNDEREEER-

stated.
Proportion of ownership interest
BEERELLH
Issued and
Place of fully paid
incorporation share capital/ Group's
or registration/ registered effective Held by the Held by a
Name of subsidiary operation capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activity
B&17k
AMEIRER BERE
WEAR%IE UL AftEr FEEEEME HFRFARE GAMBRAARE IEEH
Able Business Development Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property development
BEERARAR Y 17 MELR
Dormax Limited Hong Kong $1 100% = 100%  Property development
SBERAR B 17T MEER
Dragon Mount Development Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property development
EEERERAT &% 17T MELE
Easton Development Limited Hong Kong $100 100% - 100%  Property holding
REERARAR &% 1007¢ MERE
Eson Development Limited Hong Kong $100 100% = 100%  Property holding
ERERERAT B 1007¢ MERE
Golden Ford Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property development
SEEERAT i 17T MELE
Grand Build Development Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property development
ERNEERBRAF Y 17 MELR
Grand Tech Construction Hong Kong $5,000,000 100% = 100%  Construction
Company Limited
EREEERAR B 5,000,0007% BE
Tech Towers Data Centre Service Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Provision of data
centre premises and
facilities
ERERSEROERAT &% 17t REHERLGHA
R
Marvellous Investments Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property holding
KERERRAH &% 17T MERE
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28. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 28. MBATE (&

Proportion of ownership interest

BHEERELLH
Issued and
Place of fully paid
incorporation share capital/ Group's
or registration/ registered effective Held by the Held by a
Name of subsidiary operation capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activity
BETk
AR EL RS/
WEAR%E UL AfEr FEEEE#E HFREARE BAMBRAIRE IEREH
Regal Development Limited Hong Kong $1 100% = 100%  Property development
REERERAD e 17t MEER
Swift Millions Limited Hong Kong $5,000 100% = 100%  Property development
ERERAH &% 5,0007T MWEER
Top Regent Investments Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property holding
RRERERRAH &% 17T MERE
Wellford Properties Limited Hong Kong $100 100% = 100%  Property investment
REBEEERAD e 1007¢ MERE
Winning Tech Limited Hong Kong $1 100% = 100%  Property investment
BEIERAH &% 17T MERE
Guangxi Jiaming Property Development — The PRC RMB32,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Co,, Ltd.**
ERERRMEREERETAE* HE A 32,000,000 MEER
Guangxi Jiagiaohui Investment The PRC RMB 150,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Development Co,, Ltd.*#
BAGAEREREEREEAT* +E AR #150,000,000 MWEER
i wholly-foreign-owned enterprise e BB
# the English name is direct translation of the Chinese name u BNLBAERUERIXEE
29. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 29. EXEIERME

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in
order to fund its construction business and property development
and investment projects, provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes
in economic conditions.

AEREEEANETZEARARELER
RESENRET UAEEENERER
URMESRMEERBRHTEES BK
B e HA ) 1 18 BE B 12 o] 3R e A A K
MR RENEARBLURBRE R Z -

AEBFPIRERRAKREEHAEELR
B LIERSRREIR FIEHBERS G
ROKT) BIRRE AR RN B R RE
Z RS T TR E R R EE
BEARB-
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29. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Under the extract terms of the major bank facilities, the Group is
required to comply with the following financial covenants:

- consolidated tangible net worth shall not be less than
$1,200,000,000 to $2,500,000,000;

- the ratio of consolidated net borrowings to consolidated
tangible net worth shall not exceed 180% to 220%,

- consolidated EBITDA to consolidated finance charges shall
not be less than 2.0 times,

= net gearing ratio shall maintain at or below 1.5 times;
- current ratio shall maintain at or above 0.5 to 1.0 times;

- tangible net worth of certain subsidiaries shall not less than
$700,000,000 to $800,000,000; and

- EBITDA to finance charges of certain subsidiaries shall not
less than 1.8.

The compliance of the financial covenants are disclosed in note
21(b).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s current ratio (defined as
current assets divided by current liabilities) was 0.32 times
(2024: 1.18 times). The Group's net gearing ratio (defined as total
interestbearing borrowings less cash and bank balances and
restricted and pledged deposits and divided by shareholders’
equity) was approximately 186.6% (2024: approximately 179.8%).

29.

BEXxEREE (&
RETBROTVEGRDE FEEAE
ST

- &RAAEEES/NE1,200,000,0007T
%2,500,000,0007T ;

mEPEERRSATLEEREZL
TR HBIE180%ZE220%;

- RABRREA B ITE R
HMREES ﬁﬂ“%ﬁﬁztkﬂ“?ﬂj\ﬁwo
&

- FEARBEEEREFISEIUT;
= RBNEEERMEFFOSE1.0EZ T L

- EATHBRARNEREBEERETNR
700,000,0007¢ %800,000,0007T ; K

S %?I‘ﬁ?’&?ﬂ’][ﬁﬂﬂlﬁ %'J ?ﬁ‘%

ﬁM.ST*:.‘O

MR GRIERIEM 210K EE

RIEZAF=ZRB=+—H > X&EEHR®
X CRBEERATER) 2032 (=
T UE I 1.18ME) c AEBENIEFEAAGLE
X (EHxATTEREBREERIRESRIBITARR
MR Z BRI BIR IR s bR UG SR ) 49
186.6% (ZZ Z 4 : £9179.8%) ©
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risks arises in the
normal course of the Group's business. The Group’s exposure
to these risks and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these risks are described
below.

(@)

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and
bank deposits, financial assets at FVOCI, financial assets at
FVTPL, derivative financial instruments and trade and other
receivables. The Group maintains a defined credit policy
and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

Cash, including restricted and pledged deposit, are
deposited with financial institutions with sound credit
ratings and the Group has exposure limit for any single
financial institution. Transactions involving derivative
financial instruments and debt investments are with
counterparties of sound credit standing. Given their high
credit ratings, management does not expect any of these
financial institutions and counterparties will fail to meet their
obligations.

Before entering into construction contracts, assessment
of the potential customers is carried out as part of the
acceptance procedures for the new contracts.

Regular review and follow-up actions are carried out on
overdue amounts of trade receivables from customers which
enable management to assess their recoverability and to
minimise the exposure to credit risk. Trade receivables are
due within 30 days from the date of billing. Normally, the
Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

In respect of rental income from leasing properties, rental
deposits are held to cover potential exposure to credit
risk. An ageing analysis of the receivables is prepared on a
regular basis and is closely monitored to minimise any credit
risk associated with these receivables. Adequate impairment
losses have been made for estimated irrecoverable
amounts.

30. HFHABREEREMIAATE

AEBBRNEE ABESRANXAR
DEASEBESEBBRETEE -AEE
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(a)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRMEE &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

(@)

Credit risk (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has significant
concentration of credit risk in a few customers. In view
of their credit standing, good payment record and long
established relationships with the Group, management does
not consider the Group's credit risk to be significant. At
the end of the reporting period, 42% and 44% (2024 43%
and 93%) of the total trade receivables were due from the
Group's largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.

The Group does not provide any other guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk as at 31 March 2025
and 2024.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the customers as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customers operate. The Group generally requires customers
to settle progress billings and retentions receivable in
accordance with contracted terms and other debts in
accordance with agreements.

30. HHEAREEREMIAATE
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(@) Credit risk (continued)
The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLSs, which is calculated
using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.

The following table provides information about the Group's
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables:

30. UHEEKMEREREMTAAFE

(#

(@ EERK #&)
AEBZESHRERREERTES
GEPBREEEENS B EREK
BEECERESE BRAEEZBE
EEERCRTERTRAETEDDE
RBEAGEERZR  REBARKAE
HEEEBEETERAERTRAE
EERIEE—SEHo

TR AMAIERRBERRHNEE
Rk KRIEREEBRZER |

2025
—ECEHE
Expected Gross carrying Expected
loss rate amount credit losses
TEHARSIER BEREEEE FEHREE k518
% $000 $000
B Fz F
Trade receivables FEUL R TR
Not yet past due REHR 0.22% 22,066 (48)
Less than 1 month past due B DR —ER 0.37% 6,697 (25)
Over 1 month but less than 3 mi —@EAaELr
months past due =@AR 0.46% 1,517 (7)
Over 3 months but less than 6 mEA=EAELIR
months past due ~NMEA 0.00% - -
Over 6 months but less than 12 mEAEAELR
months past due +=@A 0.00% - -
Over 12 months past due mEg+—EA 1.35% 75 (1)
30,355 (81)
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 30. MiBRABEEREMITAATE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) #E
(@) Credit risk (continueq) (@ =Rk #&)
2024
—EFE
Expected Gross carrying Expected
loss rate amount credit losses
BHBEX lBERESEE BAEAEER1E
% $000 $000
BT FT FrT
Trade receivables FE U BR =R
Not yet past due R 0.12% 19,441 (24)
Less than 1 month past due BE VR —EA 0.57% 11,487 (66)
Over 1 month but less than mEA—EAELR
3 months past due =ER 0.71% 5,611 (40)
Over 3 months but less than mEA=EAELR
6 months past due NMEA 0.00% - -
Over 6 months but less than mEgREAELR
12 months past due +ZEA 0.00% - -
Over 12 months past due B+ _ER 0.81% 124 ™
36,663 (131)
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience BB EXRBE BT —FNEREE
over the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect REBIEH ZELEXD FHABUKRM
differences between economic conditions during the period B ERFEIRAB AN 2 &R
over which the historic data has been collected, current BRI RN EEREWR ZFBIAF
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions HARZRERIZERZENER

over the expected lives of the receivables.

Trade receivables that were not yet past due and contract B # 380 HR 78 OB A Y B UWGER IB S K iR
assets within retention terms relates to customers for whom R B &R A B FE UK R B8 AR IB AN 3L HA I
there was no recent history of default. EENGCRNER -
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

(@)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables that were past due relate to a number of
customers that have a good track record with the Group.
These receivables mainly relate to tenants of property
leasing. Based on past experience, management believes
that there has not been a significant change in credit quality
and the balances are not credit impaired. Except for rental
deposits for Data Centres, the Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade
receivables during the year is as follows:

30. UHEEKMEREREMTAAFE

(=
@)

EERE #)
BEHERBENERRESE TR
EEERFEACHNERER &
ERUREEZMNYEEEZRR
BEBETERE BEEIRBEAMZ
EHEBRFHAERE REREEE
XU EEREE BRFEHDRSE
AR BRE - FRBIET ONE SR
I AEBUERZFERTAE
e $E R ah o

FREBBUERRARENEENBE
BEREHNT -

2025 2024

—E-REF —Z2”Hg

$°000 $000

FiT Fir

At 1 April ROEA—H 131 786

Impairment loss reversal during the year FERELEZREEREE (50) (655)
At 31 March R=ZB=+—H 81 131

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and other
receivables are set out in note 18.

Liquidity risk

Individual subsidiaries within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the raising of
loans to cover the expected cash demands, subject to
approval by the Company’s board of directors. The Group's
policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants,
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed funding lines from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 30. MiBRABEEREMITAATE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) #E

(b) Liquidity risk (continuea) (b) REEZREMRE (&)
The following table details the remaining contractual UFFRFHFNAER 2 ERBENR
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the FHRBFTEARNEE R LT IRE
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual HHXRBIRIERE (BEZREOF=E
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments (W BF B BiREsR S HRMIRTT
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on M=) SHEIF BN RAEE A
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the ERNHRNRFEBHEMEL :

earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BHNRERAER

More than  More than

Within 1 year but 2 years but
1yearor lessthan lessthan More than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount

—-FR® —ENE  mENE
BER (EmEMR ERENR  EENE st REfE
$000 $too $000 $ooo So0o St
FT FT FT Fz F T

At 31 March 2025 RZEZEF=A=1+-H
Bank loans RTER 5,714,665 9,969 174,722 - 589935 5,229,461

Trade payable, other payablesand  FEfTIRS HAMEAUER
accrued charges EtER 270,780 400 1,060 810 273,050 273,050
Retentions payables B REZE 26,987 6,641 18,955 - 52,583 52,583
Loans from controling shareholder ~ REERERZEX 36,728 37996 653,121 - 727845 544,665
Loan from ultimate holding company  RERKZRATZEH 1,932 38,192 - - 40,124 36,800
Derivative financial instruments TEEMIA - - 2,428 - 2,428 2,428
6,051,092 93,198 850,286 810 6,995,386 6,138,987

At 31 March 2024 RZE_NFE=A=1+-H
Bank loans BTEM 1,926,255 397,040 4,165,029 199,956 6,688,280 5,840,930

Trade payable, other payablesand  FETIRS HAMEMAZUER
accrued charges fEs &R 116,130 2,100 1,460 710 120,400 120,400
Retentions payables EARETE 27,388 1,355 6,774 2,647 38,664 38,664
Loan from ultimate holding company  RERKZRATZEH 2,162 2,162 38,358 - 42682 36,800

2,072,435 402,657 4,211,621 203313 689002 6,036,794
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the
impact of rates changes on interest-bearing borrowings
which predominantly bear floating interest rates. The Group
monitors closely its interest rate exposure and the level of
fixed rate and floating rate borrowing and considers hedging
interest rate exposure should the need arise. The Group's
interest rate profile as monitored by management is set out
in note (i) below.

(€)

The interest rates and terms of repayment of interest bearing
borrowings of the Group are disclosed in notes 21, 23 and 24
to the consolidated financial statements.

(M)

Hedging

Interest rate swaps, denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
have been entered into to achieve an appropriate mix
of fixed and floating rate (mainly Hong Kong Interbank
Offer Rate) exposure which was consistent with the
Group's policy. At 31 March 2025, the Group had
interest rate swaps with a notional principal amount
of $1,520,000,000 (2024: $1,048,000,000), which it has
designated as cash flow hedges of the interest rate
risk inherent in its variable rate bank borrowings. At
31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group did not have any
interest rate swaps which were not designated as cash
flow hedging instruments.

The swaps will mature over the next one to four years
and have fixed swap rates ranging from 2.70% to
3.67% (2024: 1.3% t0 3.4%). The net fair value of swaps
contracts entered into by the Group at 31 March 2025
was $1,676,000 (2024: $13,026,000). These amounts
are recognised as derivative financial instruments (see
note 22).

30. HFFAREEREMIAATE

&
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AREBEFT LB T EF
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)

(€)

(i)

(iii)

Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of
the Group's net borrowings (as defined above) at the
end of the reporting period, after taking into account

MBEARERREMTAATE
<c"$§ FRER (&)
(i) FEHES

TREFVFAREEABRERE
HATANMKBEHGONE
B AEEARNBSHARNE

the effect of interest rate swaps designated as cash FFB(EERLONEXER
flow hedging instruments (see note (i) above). (B X)) -
2025 2024
—ECERE ZEImE
Weighted Weighted
average average
effective effective
interest rate Amount interest rate Amount
BRAE Bl IES gl
% $000 % $000
B4 F7 B F
Fixed rate borrowings: EEBHFE:
Bank loans BITER 5.39% 1,520,000 541% 1,048,000
Loans from controlling REZEREREZER
shareholder 6.74% 544,665 N/A
2,064,665 1,048,000
Variable rate borrowings:  FZEME:
Bank loans RITED 6.28% 3,709,461 6.830% 4,790,930
Loan from ultimate holding RERRERRFZER
company 5.25% 36,800 5.88% 36,800
3,746,261 4,827,730
Total net borrowings BERFE 5,810,926 5,875,730
Fixed rate borrowings as EEERFRERET
a percentage of total net FENAAL
borrowings 35.53% 17.84%
Sensitivity analysis (iii) BREDHT

At 31 March 2025, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would have
increased/decreased the Group's loss for the year and
decreased/increased total equity by approximately
$31,281,000 (2024: decreased the Group's profit and
total equity by approximately $40,312,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk
for borrowings made by the Group which were not
hedged by interest rate swap contracts. The analysis
has been performed on the same basis as for the year
2024.

N _E_RFE=A=+—H 14
EJr%IJ?WEEtﬂ/}DZMOO@%

z&%@iméﬂat*m/ﬂz"\%ﬂ
warE IR, 04931,281,000
T(CE_NE  EREMN KRS
REZE R/ 4940,312,0007T) ©

R E DR R BRA R
BE ORISR TR
i 5 A R A B R R i
HENE R BRNFEER
Fo B -MESRRIEFRE
7o
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 30. UHEAMEEREMTAAFE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (#)
(d) Foreign currency risk d) SMEER S

The Group’s presentation currency is the Hong Kong dollars.
The Group's cash at bank and on hand were denominated in
Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi.

The Group has not hedged the foreign currency exposure
in relation to financial statement items denominated in
Renminbi.

(i)  Exposure to currency risk
The following table details the Group’s exposure at
the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising
from recognised assets denominated in a currency
other than the function currency of the entity to which

AEENZINEBRBE AEEH
RITREFREUBEHARES
Ee

A GBI SR A RIS 3 EER TS
HRAENIME AR -

(i) EEEE@LE
TREFMITTRERNRS
HARE R EARR B RERITAE
BRI EBSENE RS
EEMERNERERERR-

they relate.
Exposure to
foreign currencies — Renminbi

SNERE—-ARE
2025 2024
“TZRE =S ¢
$’000 $°000
FT Fr
Pledged deposits BIRER - 345,719

(ii)  Sensitivity analysis
The following table indicates the approximate change
in the Group'’s (loss)/profit for the year (and retained
profits) and other components of consolidated equity
in response to reasonably possible changes in the
foreign exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting period.

146 GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

(i)  SBEDHT
TR TRERREERE
BREAEXABNSERESZ
BERAEREF (BB /FH
(RADEHME) REHiEDE
AR ER DB R E 1N
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(d)

30. HHEAREEREMIAATE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) #)
Foreign currency risk (continuea) (d) SMEE=EpE (&)
(i)  Sensitivity analysis (continuec) (i) HREZ E)
2025 2024
ZECRE “ECNE
Effect on Effect on
Increase/ loss for Increase/ profit for
decrease the year decrease the year
in foreign in foreign and
exchange retained exchange retained
rates rates profits
ﬂﬁrﬁﬁﬁﬁ& HEE R
i,/ wH ﬁ i,/ w REB &
SEEZR SMEREE Mg g
% % $000
B Bt FT
Renminbi AR +/-5% +-5% +/-14,434
Results of the analysis as presented in the above table ERAATDMERBUZINGE

represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on the group entities” profit for the year measured in
the respective functional currencies, translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rate ruling at the
end of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change
in foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by the Group
which expose the Group to foreign currency risk at
the end of the reporting period. The analysis excludes
differences that would result from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations into
the Group's presentation currency. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2024.

ERSIENHEEERFE D
FIRVBNE &2 ERVEEAR > WIRIRE
HAARNERBE R BITHRS
aN=1:ok

FREDMBRAEEERRS
AR A4S E RN E
RENEMTAERRAEXRSZ
ETEMSE - WD TR
HRBINEBNMBRRHE

PEEBIREBEMELENE
R R NENHTEERR
E’\J%b’”‘ EITR
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 30. MEAMEEREMTIAATE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (#)
(e) Fair value measurement e A~AFEF=ZE
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair () BAFEAENETHEERE

value &
Fair value hierarchy W EER
The following table presents the fair value of the THRENAEEBESHTAERNK
Group’s financial instruments measured at the end of SHRFREREHEEFENR
the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorized TE MR EBMBRELER
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined F135 A EFENEERD S
in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level —EAAFEER LNFEEFESE
into which a fair value measurement is classified L 2RBREERMATBEEN
is determined with reference to the observability AERMEMEESDHEWNT -

and significance of the inputs used in the valuation

technigue as follows:
Level 1 valuations

BE—ARfhE

Level 2 valuations

B MREE

Level 3 valuations
B REE

Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.
EERE—REEFENATE IR EHHTEEMBEHEREEXNEER
AR HRE

Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available.

FREZRHBBHNENAFE AT EE RN EREERAEBRATIE
ENEZHIE - A RREBIENIEREANEMIHERMNEER -

Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs.
FERATARENEEFIBRTEN AT E-
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 30. HEAKREEREMTAATE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)
(e) Fair value measurement (continued)
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

=t

(#)

€) AFEE @)
(i) BAFEFENEHEERE
& (&)
RFEFR (B

Fair value measurement categorised into

ATEHENES
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ATE F—4 ER F=4
$'000 $000 $000 $000
F F I F
As at 31 March 2025 RZBZRF=A=1+-H
Assets BE
Derivative financial instruments #7428 T &
- Interest rate swaps —FIXEHEY 752 - 752 -
Financial assets at FVOCI BAFEFAHMZEAREZ
tREE 9,935 - 9,935 -
Liabilities &BfR
Derivative financial instruments #7428 T &
- Interest rate swaps —FIXEHEY 2,428 - 2,428 -
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZZ-mE=A=+-H
Assets BE
Derivative financial instruments T4 &80T &
- Interest rate swaps —HEEREN 13,026 - 13,026 -
Financial assets at FVOCI BATEFAHMZAREZ
tHEE 10,127 - 10,127 =
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEST AN EG  eREE 10476 - 10,476 -

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2,
or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group's policy
is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which
they occurred.

BE"TZAERTETTME
—A=+—HLEE KKk
BMRORBALmERE TRR
BEZMNEBATEL - AEH
HRAEBERSHRLFE
FMB M BB EREE-
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value measurement

(€)

(i)

(ii)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair
value measurements

The fair value of financial assets at FVOCI is based
on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period without any deduction for transaction costs.

The fair value of assets at FVTPL is based on the cash
value priced by external and independent parties at
the end of the reporting period.

The fair value of interest rate swaps are determined
by applying the discounted cash flow method. It is
calculated as the present value of the estimated
future cash flow that the Group would receive or pay
of each swap at the each payment date based on the
observable yield curves.

Fair values of financial instruments measured at
other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's and the
Company's financial instruments measured at
amortised cost are not materially different from their
fair values as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

30. HEAREEREMIAATE

=

€) AFEEE (BE)

(i)

(ii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

g A
b7y [ = |

MR RIE B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

CRFFRISERRSN  LUBTTHIT)
31. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

32.

33.

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March 2025 and 2024 not
provided for in the Group’s consolidated financial statements were

31. BAKIE
R_E_AFER-_E_NME=ZB=+—H
FAEEGEEVBRREBEZEAREENT

as follows:
2025 2024
“E-HEF —ETAF
$°000 $000
FiT Fr
Development of investment properties BELEYE 514,291 1,086,364

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Company did not have any

material contingent liabilities.

NOTES SUPPORTING CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW

(@)

32. FREE
NI E_RER_E_NME=Z/F=+—
H>&AASITEEARREME

33. ZFHREHEMNERME

STATEMENT
Cash and cash equivalents comprise: () RERREEEYMEIE:
2025 2024
“T-RHE =S 0= 5
$°000 $000
FiT FT
Cash available on demand BERAEFARE 33,624 62,562
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

g A
Ty [ = |

MEHRRIE (B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CRFRIFERRIN  LUBITEIT)

33. NOTES SUPPORTING CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 33. #5458 HE
STATEMENT (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) MEFBELENEEHRNOT :
activities:
Loan from
ultimate  Loans from
holding controlling Dividend
Bank loan company  shareholder payable
 RERRER REZR
RITER  REZER  KRERZEX FERRE
(note 21) (note 23) (note 24) (note)
(#5221 (Ha223) (Hizt24) (i)
$00o $000 $000 $000
F F F F
At 1 April 2023 RZE_=FMNA—H 4,630,054 = = 37
Changes from financing cash flows: MERERE 2T .
Proceeds from bank loans RITERPTEFIE 2,162,403 - - -
Proceeds from loan from ultimate holding kB &&ER AT ERFER
company - 36,800 - -
Repayments of bank loans ERIBITEM (951,527) - - -
Interest paid BERFE (359,494) (505) = =
Dividend paid BREKRE - = = (340,842)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ BER&ME 2 E5418% 851,382 36,295 - (340,842)
Other changes: Hihzs)
Interest expenses FEZH 359,494 505 - -
Dividend declared BEREE - - - 340,833
359,494 505 = 340,833
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZE-m&E=A=+—H
kRZF-_MEMBE—H 5,840,930 36,800 - 28
Changes from financing cash flows: MEREREZEH)
Proceeds from bank loans RITERPIERIE 1,104,681 - - -
Proceeds from loans from controlling REERKEERFENE
shareholder - - 607,498 -
Repayments of bank loans BERITEN (1,716,150) - - -
Interest paid BEFE (352,316) (2,072) (13,768) -
Dividend paid BENRE - = = (1)
Total changes from financing cash flows  BERES RS2 EE1ELE (963,785) (2,072) 593,730 (1)
Other changes: Hith2s)
Deemed capital contribution from RIEERKRFIE
controlling shareholder - - (75,443) -
Interest expenses BERFE 352,316 2,072 26,383 -
352,316 2,072 (49,065) =
At 31 March 2025 RZEZRE=B=+—H 5,229,461 36,800 544,665 27
Note: i

MEBRNMEE (E

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, dividend payable was included
in other payables and accrued charges (note 20) amounting to
$27,000 and $28,000 respectively.

FEER S _RERZF_ME=R
—+—HIHEMEMREBERESER (I
%EZO)@W 73 5l 814E27,0007T 5228,0007T K9 &
T8 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

EMBERRIE @)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIEEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

34.

In order to provide incentives or rewards to eligible participants to
contribute to the long term success of the business of the Group,
the Company adopted a share option scheme on 23 July 2013
(the “Old Scheme”). The Old Scheme was valid and effective for
a period of 10 years from 23 July 2013 and had expired on 23 July
2023. Upon its expiry, no further options were granted.

As at 31 March 2025, 15,280,000 options are outstanding under

the Old Scheme.

Details of movements of the options granted under the Old
Scheme during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 are

RERRtESTE

SO ERCERATIHEAERER
RENAMFHER  ZRFR_F—=
FtAZ+=AXMBRESS (TE5
) ESfHAMMEE T —=FtA
“tHZHEABRTE UER-TZ=F
tRZ+=BEm- mBRESEERE
BEE—TREBRE-

N TETRAF=ZR=+—H BEE:E
A15,280,00017 BB A& 1 I AR AT (E

BE_ T RAER-FME=ZR=+—
AIEFERBRESEIRHNBREZ E5

shown below: EIENTE
Number of share options
BiRiEHE

Balance Granted Lapsed  Exercised Balance
Name or category o . . asat  duringthe  duringthe  during the as at
of grantees Date of grant  Exercise price Exercise period 1A£r 202é1 year year year H3A1_M§ar_ zggé
ERABAER il }T%ﬁ i mA-H FRRL ERGH EhiE ZA=T-H

(#7)

Executive directors:
HiTE=
éiu ChiWah 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 1,000,000 = = - 1,000,000
e
Ié%/van*gv\ngWO 15112/2022 39 15112/2022-14/12/2032 1,000,000 = = = 1,000,000
X
Tsan% Ka Man 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
gz
Independent
non-executive directors:
BILENES
T%suw Ka Wah 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 200,000 - - - 200,000
RRE
Egg& quu Wo 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 200,000 - - = 200,000
]
LegH Chung Yiu Johnny 1512/2022 39 15112/2022-14/12/2032 200,000 = = = 200,000
IRE
Sub-total 3,600,000 - - - 3,600,000
I\5
EmJ)onees:
m aggregate 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 3,980,000 - - - 3,980,000
a3 1/1/2023 6.04 11/1/2024-10/1/2033 7,700,000 - - - 1,700,000
Sub-total 11,680,000 - - - 11,680,000
I\5
Total 15,280,000 - - - 15,280,000

EI/\
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
rEMBERRME B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continueqd) 34. HERHEEE (&)
Number of share options
fltEsa
Balance Granted Lapsed Exercised Balance

Name or category asat  duringthe  duringthe  during the as at
of grantees Date of grant  Exercise price Exercise period 1 April 2023 year year year 31 March 2024

BZEZ= g 13
REASRTER it =) i i mA-A EREH EREEH ERfTE =B=+-H

(HKS)
(#7)
Executive directors:
UES!
Lau ChiWah 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
e
Kwan Wing Wo 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 1,000,000 = = = 1,000,000
Bk
Tsang Ka Man 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
R
Independent
non-executive directors:

BUFHITES:
Tsui Ka Wah 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 200,000 - - - 200,000
HRE
Kan YauWo 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 200,000 - - - 200,000
BRAl
Lee Chung Yiu Johnny 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 200,000 - = = 200,000
FRIE
Sub-total 3,600,000 - - - 3,600,000
G
Employees:
&
In aggregate 15/12/2022 395 15/12/2022-14/12/2032 5,030,000 - (640,000) (410,000) 3,980,000
= 11/1/2023 6.04 11/1/2024-10/1/2033 8,000,000 = (300,000) = 7,700,000
Sub-total 13,030,000 = (940,000) (410,0000 11,680,000
st
Total 16,630,000 - (940,000) (410,000 15,280,000
af
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRMEE &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIEEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 34. FERRHESTE &)

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 4 August 2023, the Company’s
new share option scheme (the “New Scheme”) was adopted.
The New Scheme is valid and effective for a term of 10 years
commencing on 4 August 2023. Under the New Scheme, the
Board may, at its own discretion, grant options to any full-time or
part-time employees, executive, officers and directors (including
non-executive and independent non-executive directors) of the
Company and any of its subsidiaries.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the New Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the total number of shares in issue on the date of approval
for adoption of the New Scheme, being 142,012,234 shares (the
“Scheme Limit"). Subject to Shareholders’ approval in general
meeting, the Board may (i) renew this limit at any time to 10%
of the shares in issue as at the date of the approval by the
Shareholders in general meeting; and/or (i) grant options beyond
the Scheme Limit to eligible participants specifically identified by
the Board.

The total number of shares issuable upon exercise of the options
granted under the New Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company to each eligible participant in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Any
further grant of options is subject to Shareholders’ approval in
general meeting with such eligible participant and his associates
abstaining from voting.

Options granted under the New Scheme may be exercised in
whole or in part at any time during the period commencing on
the date of acceptance of the options granted and expiring at the
close of business on such day as the Board may determine when
granting the option but in any event not exceeding ten (10) years
from date of grant of such options subject to the provisions of
early termination thereof.

BREZEZ=ZF\ANERTHNERTR
REBFRGBBNEBREZR  XQEH
fERR ST B (THREHED) EERM - FEtEI8
TEC-F) N\REUBESAMTE -RE
WEtE > EFERETREREAEBN
FHES SHREE - THRABUREAF
KRB ARES (BEIFRITRBILIFNIT
B%) -

RIBH 5T 8 R AR A B A E M BE R i 51 2
AFRENBRERTRERD aHRS
BB ERMN = EE B EETRD
“EEAY10% > B1142,012,2340% 8319 (T&+21BR
) WEERFNREASG LA BS
SO()EREMILIREEZREAG LE
PREEHLE S H E TR ANI10%; KT
RE@BAtERENERETESIIET
HNEBERBHEE

REA+ZEARHE BRaBERKRSEE
IR 5T Bl R AR BME R E BB IR ST 2
ERNBREETERMAY T HTHRND
B TRBBEETRMN % - EAE—
TREBREAGTRINKRRAG LitE
BEZGER2AEREMBABERER
FEIEE -

st BMR R ZRR T BREPINES
FHENREE kBN AFE A Z B AN E
REHREOITE EEBBEBISESR
BEBRERDASES 105 WAR
T8 2 IR BRI IR PR RRR ©

s EEERERAR 2024/2558% 1D5



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CRFRIFERRIN  LUBITEIT)
34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

34. FBRRHEStE (B

A consideration of $1.0 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an
option. Offers to grant an option shall be open for acceptance for
a period of up to 30 days from the date of grant (the “Acceptance
Period”) provided that no such offer shall be open for acceptance
after the expiry of the period of the New Share Option Scheme or
after the New Share Option Scheme has been terminated. An offer
of the grant of options not accepted within the Acceptance Period
shall lapse. Pursuant to the New Scheme, the participants may
subscribe for the shares of the Company on exercise of an option
at the price determined by the Board provided that it shall be at
least the highest of: () the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of grant,
which must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing prices
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Share.

Since the adoption of the New Scheme and up to the reporting
date, no share options have been granted by the Company under
the New Scheme.

The fair value of share options granted to eligible participants
is recognised as staff costs with a corresponding increase in
share option reserve within equity. The fair value is measured
at grant date using the Binomial model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.
Where the eligible participants have to meet vesting conditions
before becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread over the vesting
period, taking into account the probability that the options will
vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited
to the statement of profit or loss for the year of the review, unless
the original staff costs qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve. On vesting
date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the share option reserve) except where forfeiture
is only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the
market price of the Company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the share option reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is included in the amount recognised in share
capital for the shares issued) or the option expires (when it is
released directly to retained profits).

PR MNP % B9 BB AR B ZR S (9 1.07T AL
B-HEBREZEZOABRGHBES
%300 A3 (THR4HA) MRl i A
R A DL H 51 8 HAPR & ST 5T BUAR AR L
BT EEM - REMAPRRERMR
BB BAIR SR - REMTE 2
HEIRTEBRERNRESIEEHE
BRBBEAT RN EZEBRAR/ERT
JRBE (RONRELAH WAREE
H) P BB R ROIUHE (i)
ROKEBRHBPN A EZEXHEBR
PR BIRERPIROVTHWTHE ; Kk
MPREE-

BRWHMETEIBERS B AR BAHE
IR 5T 8% L BB AR 0 1A

RTAERSEENBEREATERSDS
B4 BmAZ EREFEERIEM-
ZATFETHFRAZRIVER IR H B HK
Z 8 1R B IR P AR 3R BY A R e AR £ 5t
EB-GERSEERALMERBIRMG 5
BRGTEERE ABREZGS AT
ERETEBHEANDE Lt kERE
B BRI BENE ©

REBHEREEERABENERER
Bo-RIFRAEEIMASERBEIREE
BARBEEEERINEMRS R FER
ERORE /SIASREENBDR I
REREERERE -INEEH I BEE
sO Ay Sz B 2R 0 LU PR BB R R & A BB AR
REE MEBREFEBTSHEBRAR R
HRBEREARRBRM T ERRME
BARATIRUL - AN R ERHERE
B EEBRBESTE BIStABHTRG
RERAMESR 2 S 58E) JERERR B1E
BEERERBENE) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRMEE &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIEEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)
34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

34. MBSt (@

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted on 15 December 2022 and 11 January 2023 is measured
by reference to the fair value of share options granted. The fair
value of the share options is measured using a binomial model
as at the date of grant. Such fair values are subject to a number
of limitations, due to the subjective nature of and uncertainty
relating to a number of assumptions under the binomial model.
The assumptions used in the valuation of the share options have
been disclosed below. The contractual life of the share option is
used as an input into this model. Expectations of early exercise are
incorporated into the model.

R T _F+_RBtAANZ=F==
F-A+-—BREBREMESRBNA
FE H2RERUERENAFESE-
ERUBRENATEDRERHBINTE
NBREAE-HNEA—BABE I RS
BRR FETHEMRIAEEERE BT
ZNFEREZIRRS - BREGEDE
BHRRENR TXRE -BRESHFH
FUR B R BF—1REm A BIE - RHRR A
TEMAZIRE -

Share options granted on

FERR IR
15 December 11 January
2022 2023
—E_C _EBEC=4F
+=ZB+xHH —B+—H
Share price at date of grant (HK3$) % H HERRE CEr) 3.95 6.00
Expected volatility TEHRR I8 31.91% 32.81%
Dividend vield A% B UL = 2.53% 1.67%
Risk-free interest rate # B f F) =1 3.22% 3.35%
Fair value at date of grant (HK$) R BN ATE (Br) 1.212 1.862
Exercise price (HKS) 1T16& C&) 3.95 6.04

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility, which is
calculated based on the weighted average remaining life of the
share option and adjusted for any expected changes to future
volatility based on publicly available information. The expected
dividend yield is based on the dividend payout in the previous year
and the average share price in the preceding year.

The fair value of share options granted during the year ended
31 March 2023 was approximately $25,681,000, in which the fair
values of share options granted to Directors and employees were
$4,362,000 and $21,319,000 respectively.

No share-based payments is charged to profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2025 (2024: $11,631,000).

TR R8T AR R E S IR08 » B AR A D
BT GERHE CARATEEN Y
S5 5882 08 £ 7] FLA9 22 B0 1 L 22 T
REEER E—F B (FHRER E—FH
TR

REE_SE_=F=ZB=+—HILFEH
% H A BB IR HE 2 A B 4925,681,0007T
HPRFTEEREEZEREQATFED
#94,362,00070 K& #921,319,0007T °

BE_ZE_RAF=-"A=+—BLEENIE

o WEMNKRMEALZGZESZ (T2
£ 1 11,631,0007T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
A MBERRME &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
CRFRIFERRIN  LUBITEIT)

35. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35. EXRBARS
(@ In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed (@) ﬁ%ztx,i?é.\ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁlﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ}&?aﬂ’ﬂ
elsewhere in this consolidated financial statement, the % EERIN K%@E@fﬁﬂqﬂ%ﬁﬂ
Group entered into the following transactions with related iﬁﬁiﬂ(%ﬁﬂﬁi“
parties:
2025 2024
—_ERE —ZETmF
Related party relationship Type of transaction $’000 $°000
RA B 75 R RR R RBER FiT FT
Controlling shareholder Interest expenses 26,383 -
R R ER MEZH
Ultimate holding company Interest expenses 2,072 505
REER AT MEZH
An associate of controlling shareholder Sales of properties 4,000* -
RIS RAVER A THEYZE
An associate of executive director Sales of properties 3,340 * -
WITESHBEA THEYZE
e Details of these transactions had been disclosed in this L RBFBENR R FERAIME -

annual report.

(b) Remuneration of key management personnel, including b FEEEASNFHFM (BEMFE11R
amounts paid to the directors as disclosed in note 11 and BEENEENESHE KHNF12ER
the highest paid individuals as disclosed in note 12, is as BEMAD W
follows:

2025 2024

—EREF “EITOF

$’000 $000

FiT FT

Short-term employee benefits RHREREF 18,883 18,270
Post-employment benefits RIRTER] 101 90
18,984 18,360
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SEMBERRMEE &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FREFRIEEERIN ) LUBTTHIT)

35.

36.

37.

38.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b) Remuneration of key management personnel, including
amounts paid to the directors as disclosed in note 11 and
the highest paid individuals as disclosed in note 12, is as
follows: (continued)

The related party transactions in respect of the remuneration
of directors and chief executives of the Company constitute
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. However, these transactions are exempt from
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The related party transactions in respect of the remuneration
of key management personnel (other than directors and
chief executives) of the Company did not fall under the
definition of connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

IMMEDIATE PARENT AND ULTIMATE HOLDING
COMPANY

At 31 March 2025, the directors consider the immediate parent
and ultimate holding company of the Group to be Chan HM
Company Limited, which is incorporated in the BVI. This entity
does not produce financial statements available for public use.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 19 June 2025, the Group received the executed copy of a
letter of interest dated 16 June 2025 from a potential purchaser in
negotiation for a potential acquisition of the entire equity interests
of each of Regal Development Limited and Golden Ford Limited
(collectively “Target Companies”). The Target Companies are the
sole beneficial owners of their respective land parcels situated in
Fanling, the New Territories, upon where two high-tier data centres
are under development (namely iTech Tower 3.1 and 3.2). Further
details have been disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 19 June 2025.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2025.

35.

36.

37.

38.

EXMBAERS (&

(b) SEBRASHFHM (BEME1HR
BEENEFNERH KNF1R2KRER
SEEALD T &

FABTEFMEZITHA B FHENAIREE
MRS EEN LEHRABIAERR
R Z - AMRE EHRAE
VUAS IWERFRHRRHRE Ak
T3 R ERHL AR E o

ARARBETEEEAER (EFNE
SITHABRIN AR 3 5 I
KRB _E TR RSB 14AEFR 7 E IR
25 o

ERSAGRREERAT

BEETA WN_BE_RE=A=+—HXK
EENERSRARRREERAT AN
BRE LA BsEMAILAChan HM Company
Limited o b B B Y0 AR MM A RE AR
BiR& o

HREHIEREIE
RIE_AENB+HALH AEEKE—
LBEEFELHBAZE A5 XA
T+AENERSZ U EWEBIREERE
BRABARSEEERAE HEATERE
NENZSEEIREETER BIZARS
URMANENES IRV — SRk
BN IR F B W S i B L (B
iTech Tower 3.1%3.2) - #E—FFBEERZ
NBHBEA_ZE_AABT+HLBENAS
WEE o

HizEaMEBRR

RrEHBREN _E_AF/A=+H
KEFIHERTETIE-
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP
TEBFIFAMEER

The particular of the Group's investment properties and buildings held HEBNEEYERERYEZFBUT !
for own use are as follows:

Location Use Tenure

g R& FAHA

Investment properties

iTech Tower 1 Data centre Medium-term lease
No. 28 Pak Tin Par Street S A0, R HAFEAY

Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong

BSEMAZEE

B R E283%

iTech Tower 2 Data centre Medium-term lease
No. 56 Ta Chuen Ping Street SR FREAFRAY

Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong

ERAMRER

FT RS HT565R

Shop B, Ground Floor, Ccommercial shops Medium-term lease
No. 39 Chatham Road South 72 2 FRHATRAY

Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BHENFER IV IER B8 R 3995 M EBE

Buildings held for own use

1=):k7/ES
18/F, No. 39 Chatham Road South Office premises Medium-term lease
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong I /NE FREAFRAY

BARNREERIDVIEZRRER351812

19/F, No. 39 Chatham Road South Office premises Medium-term lease
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong WMAZE FRERTEAY
HAENBERIDIBRRIEMI191E

22/F, No. 39 Chatham Road South Office premises Medium-term lease
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong b R/NES FREAFRAY
EHAETLBER VB R B IE M39952218

Shop in the Basement Floor, Shop A and Sales office Medium-term lease
Shop C on the Ground Floor, and Shop A HEWER FREAFEAY

on the 1/F of No. 39 Chatham Road South

Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

EBNBER I IR BIE R39S HIE

] A f S C#l B 112 AT
Rooms 5-805-806, 5/F, N0.9 Zhongjian Road Office premises Medium-term lease
Qingxiu District, Nanning, Guangxi Province PNE hEAFA A

the People’s Republic of China
FREE S T 5 7 & SR BR95R5185-805 2806 =
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